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@ Piped gas EEMR Cylinder gas BEEH#AR FMCG and food ingredients supply B HLERIE S
3 piped gas projects, including Tongnan.
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1 cylinder gas and 4 FMCG and food ingredients supply projects in Chongging.
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@ Piped gas EEMR
40 piped gas projects, which covers 8 regions (total 9 regions) in
Fujian Province including Zhangzhou; Longyan; Sanming; Nanping;
Ningde and Fuzhou etc.
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@ Cylinder gas RR
1 cylinder gas project in Baise.
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Guizhou Province

BEMNE

®Piped gas EEMRM  Cylinder gas HEEMRT

13 gylinder gas projects, including Guizhou; Changshun; Southwest Panva and Zunyi Panva.
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1 piped gas project in Zhenfeng county.
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Hebei Province
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@ Culinder gas EHMR
1 cylinder gas project in Rengjiu. BRE
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Henan Province
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@ Cylinder gas EHEMR
1 cylinder gas project in Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou.
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The provinces/cities in which
the Group operates
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FMCG and food ingredients
supply project

@ Cylinder gas  HEEMRR
1 cylinder gas project in Jingzhou.
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@ Cylinder gas TR
8 cylinder gas projects including Hunan and Xupu.
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© Gas AR
1 gas project in Yanbian.
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Shaanxi Province

©® Piped gas EiEMRN
5 piped gas projects, including Yanliang and Fuping.
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Sichuan Province

® Piped gas EIEMRR / Cylinder gas MR

5 piped gas projects, including Mianzhu; Yanting; Hanwang and Beichuan.
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2 cylinder gas projects located in Chengdu.
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@ Cyliander gas f##EMR  FMCG and food ingredients supply BATHFERIET5
5 cylinder gas projects in Tianjin.
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1 FMCG and food ingredients supply project in Tianjin.
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@ Cylinder gas EE R
16 cylinder gas projects, including Yunnan; Yunnan Panva;
Baoshan Panva and Yunnan Jiehua.
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ovince

@ Cylinder gas ERMET
1 cylinder gas project in Dongguan.
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we”), | am pleased to
present the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 March 2019
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”).

In 2018, the domestic GDP reached RMB90,030 billion, representing
an increase of 6.6%, in addition to the total economic size, many
indicators had met or even exceeded expectations. The Chinese
economy had shown a positive trend of quality improvement and
structure optimisation. Under the combined effect of traditional
kinetic energy and new economy and new kinetic energy, the
inherent stability of economic operation had been continuously
consolidated.

According to the public information of the National Development
and Reform Commission (“NDRC"): In 2018, natural gas production
was 158.7 billion m?, representing a year-on-year increase of 7.5%;
natural gas imports were 125.1 billion m3, representing a year-on-
year increase of 32%; natural gas consumption was 280 billion m?,
representing a year-on-year increase of 17.2%. In 2018, the apparent
consumption of liquefied petroleum gas in China continued to grow,
but the growth rate was relatively slow. The accumulated apparent
consumption for the year was 47,487,200 tons, a year-on-year
increase of 2.61%.

With the joint efforts of the management and all employees, the
Group's revenue for the year increased by 62.91% to approximately
RMB1,955 million, and the profit for the year was approximately
RMB216 million, the total sales volume of our piped gas for the year
was 943.67 m?, representing a year-on-year increase of 20.85%; the
sales volume of cylinder gas was 548,725 tons, representing a year-
on-year increase of 16.65%.
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During the year, the Group continued to expand and develop new
projects based on existing business, and involved in new business
through mergers and acquisitions and business cooperation. We
invested in/acquired 3 piped gas projects, 2 cylinder gas projects
and 4 fast-moving consumer goods (“FMCG") and food ingredient
supply projects, and has increased our business scope and business
volume of the Group through the expansion and development of
new projects and optimised the existing resources of the Group.

On 22 March 2019, we also acquired a total of 73.50% equity
interests in Beijing Guangdian Interactive Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Guangdian Interactive”), a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability. Its issued shares are quoted on the over-the-
counter trading platform operated by the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations System Co., Ltd. (NEEQ, commonly known as the
New Third Board) (stock code: 871892.NEEQ). Guangdian Interactive
is principally engaged in software development and information
technology consultation filed in China. The acquisition completed on
23 April 2019.

During the year, the Group also disposed or closed a number of
unsatisfactory projects and the funds recovered are conducive to
centralising investment in more economically efficient projects and
increasing the rate of return on capital.

As at 31 March 2019, by ensuring the stability of the financial
position, the Group carefully utilises fund for reasonable investment
and seizes the opportunity of business development. The debt-to-
capitalisation ratio of the Group, representing the ratio of total
borrowings to total borrowings and equity attributable to owners of
the Company was 7.28% (2018: 5.98%).
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The gas that the Group transmits and distributes through pipelines
is mainly natural gas. With the gradual improvement of natural
gas pipeline network facilities, the energy consumption structure
of residents in China’s urbanisation process has also undergone
major changes, and the demand for natural gas consumption of
residents has been continuously improved; In April and May 2018,
the NDRC and other departments successively issued two policies on
price reforms, being “Notice on Straightening the Gas Station Price
of Natural Gas for Residential Purpose” and “Notice on Doing a
Good Job in Reducing Costs in 2018", to straighten the natural gas
price. mechanism. At the same time, in the context of increasingly
strict environmental protection supervision, in June 2018, the State
Council issued the “Three-Year Action Plan to Win the Blue Sky
Defence War"”, and continued to promote the “coal to gas” policy,
while emphasising “changing with gas”. The demand for natural
gas consumption in downstream utilisation sectors such as power
generation for heating and industrial fuels has grown rapidly. In order
to ensure the long-term sustainable development of the natural gas
market, the NDRC has made corresponding guidance for domestic
natural gas production, import methods and import channels. In
August 2018, the “Opinions on Promoting Coordinated and Stable
Development of Natural Gas” was issued. Driven by national policies
and economic growth, natural gas demand in 2018 showed a
phenomenon of “not weak in the off season and more prosperous in
the peak season”.

Looking ahead, in the process of actively promoting the reform
of natural gas market, the growth rate of consumption in China’s
piped gas market may show a steady growth trend. The Group will
continue to strengthen the development of residential household
customer connection, deepen the potential of industrial and
commercial customers, and further enhance urban fuel gas business.
The Group is confident that we will become a strong integrated
energy supplier with a strong brand through enhancing our
operational excellence, constantly increase the value of the Group,
and create a better return for the Shareholders.
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The cylinder gas operated by the Group is mainly liquefied gas
including liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), liquefied natural gas (LNG)
and liquefied dimethyl ether (DME). All three liquefied gases are
clean energy, generally used for fields including civil and commercial
gas, petrochemical raw materials, vehicle fuel and factory fuel.
The difference between cylinder gas and piped gas is that the
transmission and distribution methods are different and the physical
form of the gas itself is different. The target market is mainly the
area where the piped gas is not connected or the connection cost is
too high. Cylinder gas is an effective supplement to piped gas, and
its convenient and flexible supply method will make it exist in the
market for a long time.

With the continuous growth of China’s industrial and commercial
market, the demand for cylinder gas market continues to increase.
Taking LPG as an example, the apparent consumption of China’s LPG
increased in 2018 compared with the previous year. The accumulated
apparent consumption for the year was approximately 47,487,200
tons, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.61%; the apparent
consumption of LNG in 2018 was approximately 23.3 million tons,
representing an increase of 28.5% compared with 2017. The
total output of DME in 2018 was approximately 2.84 million tons,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 1.4%.

Looking ahead, we will make full use of national policies, seize
market opportunities, expand the influence of the Group, accelerate
and optimise the business model of cylinder gas, enlarge and
strengthen our cylinder gas business, and further optimise our
revenue structure and improve the value of the Company and create
considerable profits for investors.
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During the reporting period, the Group acquired 80% equity
interests in Chongqging Yubaijia Supermarket Chain Co., Ltd.
("Chongqing Yubaijia”), officially launched FMCG and food
ingredients supply business. Chongging Yubaijia provides daily needs
for individual consumers as end consumers by means of hypermarket,
community supermarket and convenience store chain operations
model. The merchandise are mainly pre-packaged foods, daily use
products and fresh ingredients for daily life.

The Group also acquired Chongging Qiaojiali Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (“Chongqing Qiaojiali”), a project
company engaged in the management of food ingredients
supply management. Its business scope mainly supplies fruits
and vegetables, fresh produce, seasoning, dry foods and oil to
commercial users. In terms of business development, Chongging
Qiaojiali can make full use of the customer resources accumulated
by the gas business to provide customers with one-stop composite
products and services. In the future, the Group will also make full
use of existing resources to gradually develop FMCG and food
ingredients supply business in other gas project companies.

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the staunch
support of all Shareholders and the community over the year.

Dr. Mo Shikang
Chairman

Beijing, 28 June 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year"”), under the
leadership of the directors (“Director(s)”) and management of the

HE2019F3A3IBILFE ([REE]) - &2
BETHEARAEER([EE)NEEEMSEASE

Company, all of our staff executed the development strategies of the T REEHEMITAEED B REEE  BWTK
Group seriously, thus successfully achieving the business goals for the TEF2IERR
Year.
Changes in
25
Amount
2018 ¢H
RMB'000 RMB’000 %
[tems BE ARETT  AR¥TR Btk
Revenue of business: ST N
Piped gas business EEMRER 571,693 367,275 64.24
Cylinder gas business BEMAES 628,232 282,271 44.93
Fast-moving consumer goods ("FMCG") and food AMEENESER
ingredients supply business 434 105,581 24,327
Total At 1,200,359 755,127 62.91
Segment results: DEEE:
Piped gas business EEMAEH 82,357 (5,391) (6.55)
Cylinder gas business BRMREHR 22,869 25,038 109.48
FMCG and food ingredients supply business RV HRENEGER (218) (8,711) 3,996
Total At 105,008 10,936 10.41
Share of results of associates YN e+ 34,148 (6,200) (18.16)
Share of results of joint ventures ElEeErERE 148,343 (30,098) (20.29)
Finance costs BB A (12,648) 3318 (26.23)
Others iy (18,234) 4,358 (23.90)
Income tax expense KT (26,706) 3,479 (13.03)
Profit for the Year FEERET 229,911 (14,207) (6.18)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company NG DN T 201,456 (27,131) (13.47)
Earnings per share BRER
Basic (RMB cents) AR (ARES) 2.82 (0.87) (30.85)
Diluted (RMB cents) B8 (ARE7) 278  NATER  NATEA



Analysis of results

Profit for the Year
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Income tax expense
Impairment loss recognised for goodwill
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss recognised for available-for-sale
("AFS") investments
Share-based payments

Adjusted profit

Breakdown as follows:
The Group
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
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2018
RMB'000
ARBTT

229,911

12,648
38,940
26,706
4,868
3,344

2,177
13,223

331,817

149,326

34,148
148,343

331,817

Changes in

25

Amount

&8
RMB’000 %
ARETR BOl
(14,207) (6.18)
(3,318) (26.23)
8,142 20.91
(715) (2.68)
(4,868) (100.00)

(6,789) N/A REH

(2,177) (100.00)
(13,223) (100.00)
(37,155) (11.20)

(857) (0.57)

(6,200) (18,16)

(30,098) (20.29)

(37,155) (11.20)



Revenue:

Piped gas

Cylinder gas

FMCG and food ingredients
supply

Segment results:

Piped gas

Cylinder gas

FMCG and food ingredients
supply

. The revenue in 2019 increased 64.24%

from approximately RMB572 million in
2018 to approximately RMB939 million.
Such increases are mainly attributable to
the contribution from new projects for the
provision of gas and the rise in sales volume
and average gas price.

: As cylinder gas is being used stably and

persistently in commercial and industrial
("C/1") market, the cylinder gas revenue
increased continuously, among which the
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei market becomes the
main driving force of the Group's cylinder
gas business.

. It provides pre-packaged foods, daily use

products and fresh ingredients for daily life
for individual consumers and commercial
customers by means of hypermarkets,
community supermarkets and convenience
stores chain operations model.

. The segment results of the piped gas

business decreased by 6.55% as compared
with the corresponding period of last year,
which was due to the recognition of the
impairment loss on receivables and the
increase in operating expenses.

. Benefited from the continuous increase

in gas sales volume in Hunan and Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei regions and the decrease
in the recognition of impairment losses
on other receivables, goodwill and AFS
investments for the Year, the segment
results of the cylinder gas business
increased by 109.48% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year.

. The loss was mainly attributable to the

expenditure incurred for the optimisation of
the staff structure and closure of some low-
efficiency stores.
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Items EE

No. of projects (unit) BEHE (@)
Piped gas business EEMAXH
Cylinder gas business BRMREHR
FMCG and food ingredients supply business ~ &4t fEME 15 £
Total At

New connected customers for piped BERRERTERF
gas business i
Residential household customers (unit) EEERAF (F)
C/I customers (unit) IEERF (P)
Total connected customers (unit) nERFBH(F)

Accumulated connected customers for EERREBRGAF
piped gas business
Residential household customers (unit) FEERBF(F)
(/I customers (unit) TEERF (F)

Total accumulated connected customers (unit) 2 EEREE (B)

Sales volume of piped gas business BEMREREER
(10,000 m3) (E_\AZEJ‘K)
Residential household customers FEERAF
C/l customers IRERARP
Total sales volume for piped gas EEMRBEHER
Sales volume of cylinder gas BERRERHESR (W)
business (tons)
Notes:
1. For details of new projects, please refer to “New projects during the
reporting period” in this report.
2. Operation statistics, including all statistics from subsidiaries, associates

and joint ventures, are presented according to the entire interests of the
projects.

fi i

2018

Non-
Controlling  controlling Total

BR FER A

12 40 52

25 29 54

1 - 1

38 69 107
38,080 166,774 204,854
1,087 3,209 4,29
39,167 169,983 209,150
368,407 1,173,469 1,541,876
7,014 10,213 17,227
375421 1,183,682 1,559,103
8,262 4,782 13,044
16,546 48,498 65,044
24,808 53,280 78,088
118,755 351,647 470,402
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For the year ended 31 March 2019, revenue from operations of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB1,955 million (2018:
RMB1,200 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 62.91%,
while profit for the Year was approximately RMB215.70 million
(2018: RMB229.91 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of
6.18%. Basic earnings per share was RMB1.95 cents (2018: basic
and diluted earnings per share were RMB2.82 cents and RMB2.78
cents, respectively). The overall gross profit margin of the Group was
17.65% (2018: 24.84%), representing a decrease of 7.19 percentage
point as compared with last year. The decrease in gross profit margin
was mainly due to the increase in sales proportion of cylinder gas
(with lower margin) as a recurring income; keen competition for
new projects located and the increase in its average purchase and
operational costs.

Piped gas business is our main business and our main source
of income. During the year ended 31 March 2019, revenue of
approximately RMB938,968,000 was recorded from our provision
of piped gas business, representing a year-on-year increase of
RMB367,275,000 or 64.24% over last year, which accounted for
approximately 48.02% (2018: 47.63%) of our total revenue. The
overall gross profit margin of provision of piped gas business for the
Year was 15.60% (2018: 27.52%).

The piped gas business mainly relies on the gas pipeline which were
built by the Group to transport flammable gas fuels to end-users.
Profit comes from two main aspects: connection of gas pipeline and
sales of piped gas. Currently, the piped gas the Group distributing is
mainly natural gas.
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As a clean energy, natural gas can effectively reduce the use of coal
and oil, which can help to improve the environmental pollution
problem, and at the same time, it has the advantages of safety,
high unit heat value and low price. It has become an important
development direction of international clean energy. Under the
dual background of the low-carbon development appeal of the
international community and the rapid development of China’s
economy, China’s natural gas production and demand have been
rapidly improved. In August 2018, the State Council issued the
“Opinions on Promoting Coordinated and Stable Development
of Natural Gas”, proposed to accelerate the construction of
major natural gas production capacity and infrastructure projects,
increased domestic exploration and development efforts, and
achieved a healthy, orderly, safe and sustainable development of the
natural gas industry. In this regard, the Group actively grasps the
development opportunities brought about by market demand and
national policies, while gradually expands market share and improves
operational efficiency, it will improve its safe operation level and
risk management capabilities, and promote continuous and steady
growth in performance.

During the Year, revenue from piped gas connection was
approximately RMB178,751,000, representing an increase of
RMB56,656,000 or 46.40% over last year. Gross profit margin from
piped gas connection was approximately 43.78% (2018: 55.74%).
Revenue from piped gas connection represented approximately
19.04% (2018: 21.36%) of the total revenue of the piped gas
business. During the Year, there was an addition of 35,417 units of
residential household customers and 1,097 units of C/I customers
from our subsidiary companies, respectively. As at the end of the
reporting period, the accumulated number of connected residential
household customers from our subsidiary companies was 403,824
units; and the accumulated number of connected C/I customers
from our subsidiary companies was 8,111 units, representing a
growth of 9.61% and 15.64% respectively over last year. The overall
connection rate of the Group's piped gas projects continues to rise,
but there is still a gap compared with the average gas connection
rate of mature markets in China of 70-80%. It is expected that
the number of newly connected residential household customers
will increase steadily, bringing the Group a steady increase in gas
connection income. A comparison of the accumulated connected
customers of the Group among the years of 2017 to 2019 is shown
in Graph 1.
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During the Year, revenue from piped gas sales was approximately
RMB760,217,000, representing an increase of RMB310,619,000
or 69.09% over last year, while the gross profit margin of piped
gas sales was 8.97% (2018: 19.86%). Revenue from piped gas
sales accounted for approximately 80.96% (2018: 78.64%) of the
total revenue from the piped gas business. During the year ended
31 March 2019, our piped gas sales from subsidiary companies
achieved approximately 355.02 million m?, representing a year-on-
year increase of 43.11%. Among the total sales, 102.95 million m?
were sold to residential household customers, which represented a
year-on-year increase of 24.61%; 252.07 million m* were sold to C/I
customers, which represented a year-on-year increase of 52.35%.
The gas sales volume of residential household customers increased
steadily is mainly due to the newly connected residential household
customers gradually use natural gas. Meanwhile, in the C/I aspect,
the new customer sources and growth impetus brought by the new
projects and the demand from the “Coal to Gas” C/I customers
continuous to grow, which become the main driving force of the
growth of piped gas sales volume. A comparison of the sales volume
of piped gas of the Group among the years of 2017 to 2019 is
shown in Graph 2.

Graph 2: Comparison of the total sales volume of piped gas in the
past three years
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The cylinder gas business is another major business of the Group.
During the reporting period, we rely on a large cylinder gas services
network and high quality customer resources to consolidate the
existing sale market and combine with the local market conditions
to fully meet a variety of needs for customers’ retail and distribution.
Meanwhile, we have developed sale markets in the surrounding
areas, and developed new projects through various cooperation
methods such as acquisitions and establishment of new companies to
gradually expand the market. In addition, we strictly implement the
safety production management system of the sector management
company, conduct safety inspections on the project companies
every year, start from safety management, production operation
management and customer management aspects, find problems and
solve problems, realise the professionalisation of safety management
personnel and standardise enterprise management.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, sales and distribution of
cylinder gas from our subsidiary companies was 164,896 tons in
total, representing an increase of 38.85% over the corresponding
period of last year. Revenue from cylinder gas of the Group reached
approximately RMB910,503,000, representing an increase of
RMB282,271,000 or 44.93% over the corresponding period of
last year. Revenue from cylinder gas accounted for approximately
RMB46.56% (2018: 52.34%) of our total revenue. The gross profit
margin of cylinder gas business was 20.75% (2018: 22.46%). The
increase in sales volume and revenue are mainly due to the stable
usage of C/I market, as well as the significant growth in Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei region. The decrease in gross profit margin is mainly
due to the increase in its average purchase and operating costs. A
comparison of the sales volume of cylinder gas of the Group among
the years of 2017 to 2019 is shown in Graph 3.

Graph 3: Comparison of the sales volume of cylinder gas in the past
three years
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During the Year, Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
acquired 80% equity interests in Chongging Yubaijia Supermarket
Chain Co., Ltd. ("Chongqing Yubaijia”) and 53.50% equity
interest in Chongqging Qiaojiali Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.
(“Chongging Qiaojiali”), respectively, officially launched its business
in FMCG and food ingredients supply.

The supply of FMCG is mainly operated through the chain of
hypermarkets, community supermarkets and convenience stores,
taking care of the different needs of various consumers. The
consumer groups targeted by the hypermarkets and community
supermarket chain are mainly the residents’ community population.
They provide convenient goods and services for the fixed community
residents through the combination of online and offline operations,
while the convenience store chain is aimed at the consumer group
which is a mobile population, and provides goods and services that
are convenient for the mobile population by selling FMCG.

The supply of food ingredients is mainly a one-stop service for the
supply of fruits and vegetables, fresh produce, seasoning, dry foods
and oil to commercial users through a combination of online and
offline operations.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s FMCG and food
ingredients supply business realised revenue of approximately
RMB106,015,000, accounting for approximately 5.42% of our total
revenue. During the Year, on the one hand, we reduced operating
losses by combing the loss-making outlets. On the other hand, we
adjusted the profit model for upgrading existing outlets, not only
adjusting the category structure, but also improving the fresh-
keeping operation capacity. At the same time, we cooperated with
the transformation and upgrading of the stores, rationally allocated
high-quality investment resources, increased investment income and
controlled the rigid growth of labour costs.
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Graph 4: Revenue structure of the Group

10.17%
Piped gas connection
47.63% EERRIER
Piped gas

EERR 37.46%

Piped gas sales

EERRHE
0.03%
FMCG and food ingredients supply
RIMHENES
52.34% 46.56%
Cylinder gas y Cylindergas « ———

2018

During the reporting period, we invested in the establishment of 5
new projects (3 piped gas and 2 cylinder gas projects) and acquired
a total of 4 FMCG and food ingredients supply business projects.
These projects are mainly located in Shaanxi, Guangdong, Tianjin and
Chongging. As of 31 March 2019, we have a total of 110 projects
managed in China. The industry and commerce of new gas projects
location are relatively developed, and the development prospects are
very promising, which will help us further expand the scope of sales
and scale effects, reduce operating costs and seize market share. The
newly acquired FMCG and food ingredients supply business projects
will help us to increase new profit growth points on the basis of
original business.

During the reporting period, we disposed and closed a number
of unsatisfactory projects, and the funds recovered will focus on
investing in more economically efficient projects to increase the rate
of return on capital.
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As at 31 March 2019, the consolidated financial position of the
Group is as follows:

Non-current assets FERBEE

Current assets MENEE

Current liabilities mEBE

Non-current liabilities EREEE

Net assets HEE

Equity attributable to owners of the KRR AR
Company

Non-controlling interests FEIE IR HE o

Total equity s

Among those:
Bank balance and cash iR
Total borrowings ]

\
/]
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=
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2 %

N
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%

Net cash

Consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio* #34& B & 828 Aty & *

* Consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio is the ratio of total borrowings
to total borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the Company

Currently, the sources of the operating and capital expenditure of
the Group are operating cash flow, internal current capital, and bank
borrowings. The Group has sufficient funds to meet future capital
expenditures and operational needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the operating cash
flow before movements in working capital is approximately
RMB151,033,000, representing a decrease of RMB2,510,000 or
1.63% over last year. The decrease is mainly due to the decrease in
profit before tax.
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Net cash used in investing activities is approximately RMB113,108,000,
representing an increase of RMB19,368,000 or 20.66%, which is
mainly due to the increase of capital expenditure and acquisition of
subsidiaries during the Year.

Net cash used in financing activities is approximately RMB22,458,000
(2018: net cash from financing activities of approximately
RMB2,653,000), which is mainly used in the repurchase of shares of
the Company.

At 31 March 2019, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately RMB172,240,000 (2018: RMB129,000,000), which
comprised domestic bank borrowings denominated in RMB of the
project companies in China. Bank borrowings, in which interest
is calculated by reference to the interest rate announced by the
People’s Bank of China plus certain basis points, are mainly applied
to gas pipelines construction, as general working capital and for
operating expenses. Apart from the borrowings of approximately
RMB105,240,000 (2018: RMB111,000,000) which were secured
by certain assets with carrying amount of approximately
RMB114,157,000 (2018: RMB158,413,000), others were unsecured.
Short-term borrowings amounted to approximately RMB128,490,000
(2018: RMB113,000,000), while others were long-term borrowings
due after one year. Details of the capital commitments and pledge
of assets are set out in notes 43 and 44 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

The long-term capital of the Group comprised equity attributable to
owners and borrowings, which was confirmed by the sound debt-to-
capitalisation ratio stated in the section headed “Liquidity and capital
resources” above.

As all of our operations are in China and substantially all of its
revenue and expenses are denominated in RMB, there was no
significant foreign exchange risk in its operation. We currently do not
have foreign currency hedging policy but monitor the market trends
of exchange rates closely, and adopt appropriate measures when
necessary.

KEEESFTAREFEOARE113,108,0007T
B EEEINARK19,368,000705420.66% F T &
BRE S RNE AN R S AU BB BT B A A o

MEFTEATAIR & FELH ARK22,458,0007T
(OISR EEHELIRES FRELHARE2 653,000
o) EEBRANARRRMDEIE-

M201963A31H " AEBEMEEHEEOAR
#172,240,0007T (20184 = A R #129,000,000
TL)  BTEEAREEAEMBITHAREER
RITER(EFMEUNFBRARRBRITAMEEN
ETEMFGE)ZEEAEEMRRER BER
BESREERZ B ARY105,240,0007T
(20184 : AR #111,000,000 L) ERFTE A
BREE 4 AR ¥114,157,0007C(20184F : AR
158,413,00070) W & E(EEIRIN - HBRERH A
EIEEHE R - BB RN ARY128,490,0007T
(20184 : AR#113,000,0007T) - HE48| AHRE
—FHRHER - MEARKEREERTFSD
DRNBELRE M BRI 43844 -

AEERPEAREREAARENEES HLEX
[RBEEREAKR] —SiziEFEaERE
R REFHR -

BN EBHETE  BABOBAEZHIAA
REST FAEZE LY EMEERINERS
[\ B - ZR B E PO SN ER IR - AT - AN B
SUMENEXERETHETER EAFE
R i B S o



As at 31 March 2019, the capital and other commitments of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB84,290,000, mainly
attributable to running district gas pipelines construction. Please refer
to note 43 to the consolidated financial statements for details.

Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Civigas”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) together with the joint venture partner
entered into a guarantee agreement with a bank, whereby Beijing
Civigas and the joint venture partner have agreed to provide a joint
and several corporate guarantee in favour of the bank for the loan of
RMB 100,000,000 granted to Fujian Province An Ran Gas Investments
Co., Ltd. (“Fujian An Ran”) (as borrower), a joint venture of
the Group. Up to 31 March 2019, Fujian An Ran has drawn
RMB80,000,000 of the facility line. In the opinion of the Directors,
the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition after taking into consideration the
possibility of the default of Fujian An Ran. Accordingly, no value
has been recognised in the consolidated financial statements. Save
as disclosed, as at 31 March 2019, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

As at 31 March 2019, we had approximately 5,000 employees
(including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures), most of them
were stationed in China. The employees’ salaries are determined
from time to time with reference to their duties and responsibilities,
business performance of the Group and profitability and market
conditions. In addition to pension funds, individual employees may
be granted discretionary bonus, share options and award shares as
rewards for their outstanding performance.

The Board is of the view that the recent trading price of the Shares
reflects that the Shares have been undervalued thus failing to reflect
the true value of the Company. Having taken into account the
current working capital position of the Group, the Directors consider
that there would be no material adverse effect on the working
capital and gearing position of the Group in conducting the Share
repurchase and the Share repurchase could enhance the value of the
Shares thereby benefitting the Shareholders. During the reporting
period, the Company repurchased its own Shares on the Stock
Exchange as follows:
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Month of repurchase

April 2018
May 2018

The share repurchase complied with the terms and conditions of
the general mandate to the Directors to repurchase the Company'’s
shares that passed by the shareholders in the Company’s 2017
annual general meeting. 43,828,000 and 63,430,000 ordinary Shares
repurchased were then cancelled on 4 May 2018 and 25 May 2018

respectively.

Save as disclosed above, during the reporting period, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
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On 22 March 2019, Beijing Zhongmin Zhongfeng Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Zhongmin Zhongfeng”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and certain transferors (“Transferors”,
all are independent third parties of the Group) entered into an equity
transfer agreement. Pursuant to which Zhongmin Zhongfeng has
conditionally agreed to acquire and the Transferor has conditionally
agreed to sell a total of 73.50% of the equity interests in Beijing
Guangdian Interactive Technology Co., Ltd. ("Guangdian
Interactive”), at a total consideration of RMB6,321,000 (the
“Acquisition”). The consideration for the Acquisition was funded
by internal resources available to the Group. Guangdian Interactive
is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and its
issued shares are quoted on the over-the-counter trading platform
operated by the National Equities Exchange and Quotations System
Co., Ltd. (NEEQ, commonly known as the New Third Board) (stock
code: 871892.NEEQ). Guangdian Interactive is principally engaged in
software development and information technology consultation filed
in China. The acquisition completed on 23 April 2019.

We adhere to pursue long-term sustainable development in
the communities in which our business and operations located.
We understand the importance of the views and interests of its
stakeholders (such as Shareholders, regulators, employees and the
public) when making business decisions. We will continue to advance
in corporate governance, energy conservation, remuneration of
employees, general social welfare and etc.

As a responsible clean energy distributor, we are committed to the
promotion and the use of clean energy in order to minimise the
environmental damage caused by energy demand for economic
development. Through the construction of urban-gas distribution
network, we encourage C/I customers and residential households to
replace high polluting coal and oil with clean energy, and vigorously
promote the “Coal to Gas” project. Coal-fired boilers are replaced
by natural gas boilers to reduce pollutant emission. During the Year,
we (including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) sold piped
gas and cylinder gas of 943.67 million m? and 548,725 tons in total,
achieved a saving (substitution) of approximately 2.04 million tons
standard coal, reduced emissions of carbon dioxide 5.07 million tons,
sulfur dioxide 0.15 million tons and, nitrogen oxide 0.08 million tons.
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We are committed to be a responsible party in society, and strive to
actively contribute to local community. We encourage employees
to participate in various volunteer activities, establish a strong
community network, render assistance and support to people in
need, so that employees have opportunities to go out of workplace
to establish relationships with others. They can gain experience
related to teamwork when contributing to local community.

More information in relation the management of environmental,
social and governance (“ESG"”) of the Company during the Year be
disclosed in a separate ESG report, which will be released and posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.681hk.com) in due course.

Under the background of China’s energy structure adjustment and
the realisation of low-carbon clean development, the state and
local governments have introduced policies to promote the use of
natural gas and vigorously develop clean energy. In June 2018, the
State Council issued the “Three-Year Action Plan to Win the Blue
Sky Defence War"”, and continued to promote the “Coal to Gas”
policy, emphasised “Changing with Gas.” At the current time, the
“Coal to Gas” policy is an important driver for remaining the rapid
growth of natural gas demand in the next five years. In addition, the
normalisation of environmental protection will force consumption
process to accelerate for clean energy and the natural gas price
has advantages over other alternative energy in the urban gas end,
and natural gas demand is expected to continue to break out in
the urban gas. In the industrial fuel sector, the policy promotes the
continuous rapid growth of “Coal to Gas” conversion for coal-
fired boilers, which will help the natural gas industry to welcome
the golden phase | of the ten-year golden development period
during the “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan”; Meantime, in the process
of urbanisation, the coverage scope of natural gas in township and
rural markets will gradually expand. The township gas, industrial
“Coal to Gas" and natural gas power generation will make natural
gas demand to continue to be released and have great development
space.
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Piped gas is the most important supply method in gas sales. The
Group's piped gas business is focused on the construction of city
pipeline networks and the end-user terminals construction and use.
In the future, the natural gas industry still has a good development
trend. We will keep up with the national development trend, tap
potential users, accelerate and increase the construction of urban
pipeline network, improve the gasification rate of urban residents,
and continue to promote the development of piped gas business
steadily.

Combustible gases such as liquefied natural gas (LNG), liquefied
petroleum gas (LPG) and dimethyl ether (DME) are all clean energy
and are all important components of urban gas. Affected by the “gas
shortage” in the heating season of 2017-2018, the upstream LNG
suppliers actively produces and expands the import volume. In 2018,
the overall supply of LNG is abundant, while the terminal demand
growth is less than expected, there has also been a sharp decline on
the average price of LNG market in 2018 compared with 2017; In
2018, domestic liquefied gas supply and consumption have increased
slightly. It is expected that there will still be an overall increase in
2019, especially during the peak season of heating in winter. Due to
resource constraints of piped natural gas, many users will use LPG as
the main fuel. The Group’s cylinder gas business is mainly distributed
in Yunnan, Guizhou, Hunan and Tianjin. Most of its households are
still using cylinder gas as their main fuel, and with the improvement
of economic and material standards, the use of cylinder gas in rural
areas and townships have been increasing. In the environment where
opportunities and challenges coexist, we will actively explore new
development models, further improve the scale and management
level of the cylinder gas business, and study the application of
emerging technologies in the field of the cylinder gas business to
provide customers with better service.
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In 2018, the Chinese government further stimulated the
consumption potential of residents and achieved significant results
through adoption of a series of upgrading measures, including
optimising the consumption environment of urban and rural
communities, expanding effective supply, innovating circulation
modes and improving the consumption promotion system. As
a result, the scale of consumption has steadily expanded, the
momentum of consumption upgrades has not slowed down,
the consumption patterns have been constantly innovated and
the contribution of consumption has increased significantly. The
consumption sector has become the key driving force of China's
economic growth for the fifth consecutive year. Based on the data
from the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, in 2018, the
national disposable income per capita had an actual growth of
6.5%), representing a year-on-year decrease of 0.8 percentage point
in growth rate. However, the national consumption expenditure
per capita had an actual increase of 6.2%, representing a year-
on-year increase of 0.8 percentage point in growth rate. The
contribution rate of final consumption expenditure to gross domestic
product (GDP) growth was 76.2%, representing an increase of 18.6
percentage point compared to that of last year. In 2018, the national
consumer price index (CPl) had a year-on-year increase of 2.1%,
representing an increase in growth of 0.5 percentage point compared
to that of last year, and exceeded 2.0% for the first time since 2015,
and remained at high levels.

According to the data issued by the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC, in 2018, retail sales of key enterprises monitored by the Ministry
of Commerce increased by 4.3% year-on-year, which represented 0.3
percentage point lower in growth rate over last year. In particular, the
sales of convenience stores and supermarkets increased by 7.9% and
4.9% year-on-year, respectively, and the growth rate increased by 0.5
and 1.0 percentage point, respectively. In 2018, national online retail
sales accounted for approximately 23.6% of the total retail sales
of social consumer goods, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 4.0 percentage point.

The FMCG and food ingredients supply business is a new business
segment of the Group, which includes (i) hypermarkets, community
supermarkets and convenience store chain operations and (ii)
distribution of food ingredients.
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The hypermarkets and community supermarkets are located in the
residential area. Its service targets are mainly the stable inhabitants
and families. The community population is relatively concentrated
and the consumption is relatively stable. The Group provides
merchandise and services to community residents through two ways
of offline physical stores and online stores. With the accelerating
urbanisation process, urban planning has caused urban residents
to move from urban to suburban areas, and the distance between
residential communities and commercial central has been increasing.
Hypermarkets and community supermarkets have met the daily
life needs of the majority of the inhabitants, and relatively stable
business circle has won a good development space for hypermarkets
and community supermarkets.

Convenience stores are mainly based on real-time goods or services
to meet the needs of convenience as the first purpose and to solve
the problem of shopping convenience during outside. With the
improvement of residents’ consumption standards, the rise of new
generation consumer groups and the increase in density of the urban
population, convenience stores will usher in the “Golden Age” in
China.

The Group is developing a WeChat mini program on its business,
while realising the integration of online and offline channels, by
leveraging on the traffic flow of mini program, the Group will
constantly improve their level of business convenience and increase
customer’s stickiness. We will also gradually expand the distribution
and coverage of the retail business relying on our large gas customer
base in gas fuel. In the process, the Group will keep abreast of
development of the stores and the needs of its customers in time
by investigating the store and customers to provide a faster, more
convenient and more practical shopping experience for online and
offline customers.
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Relying on the rapid development of the logistics industry, the
distribution of food ingredients has also been greatly developed. The
Group’s food ingredients supply business is currently concentrated
in Chongging and Tianjin area. The food ingredients supply business
mainly supplies fruit and vegetables, fresh produce, seasoning,
dry foods and oil and other ingredients to commercial users. As
a necessity for daily life of residents, the food ingredients have
the characteristics of fast speed consumption and irreplaceable
consumption. At the same time, with the improvement of residents’
living standards, safe and sanitary food ingredients have become
the first choice for residents’ lives. We will adjust the direction
of business operations in time according to the characteristics of
consumers’ needs to ensure the steady development of the food
ingredients supply business.

Looking ahead, we will plan the development direction of the FMCG
and food ingredients supply business in a targeted manner. Using
technologies such as the Internet to ensure seamless connection
and supervision of products throughout progress from source to
circulation. We will create a standardised operation management
system, and establish standardised management for each step
including customer orders, procurement, distribution, settlement, and
strive to achieve the goal of “Zero inventory, Zero loss”; Quickly open
the market through the online and offline consumption methods,
and improve the visibility by means of high quality services and high-
quality products to lay the foundation for future business expansion.

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 28 June 2019
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Aged 61

Director since 30 April 2004

Chairman since 1 August 2013

Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

Holds 50% interests in Ping Da Development Limited, a substantial
shareholder of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the
Report of the Directors under this annual report

o chairman of Nomination Committee

o member of Remuneration Committee

o chairman of the board of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd., a wholly
owned subsidiary of our Group

o director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Group

o Bachelor degree in Sciences from the Tianjin Normal
University, China

o Master degree in Economics from the Tianjin University of
Finance and Economics, China

o PhD degree in Economics from the Nankai University, China

o has substantial experiences in the development and
management of sales and distribution chain projects in China

. father of Miss Mo Yunbi, an executive director of our Company

615%

BE2004F4A30F B FESE
H2013F8A1REEETE

£

© 20175%8A29H (&EF)E

2020 F I HRBAF RS

FERMAREIEMRFEERBRDF250%

3
fm

FEHERAFRZEFTEREN

RAZBEEERE
¥FMEEEKE
BPEEZ2ENB QA
ERFPERMRRERAAEER
BREELSTENBARES

RERZMERNRIERE T2

B RRM R BRERE T B

FERRAAREESE LB

RAEERLEETERMERERR IE
BREEELR

BPARMITERRERNMANR



Aged 65
Director and Deputy Chairman since 21 March 2005
Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

. member of Remuneration Committee

o MBA degree from the La Trobe University, the Australia

o joined the initial financial securities industry in China in late
1980s

° acted as senior executive in various securities companies
including Wanguo Holdings Limited, Guotai Securities
Company Limited and Guotai Junan Securities Company
Limited, engaged in the provision of services to securities and
financial investment; securities brokerages; investment banking;
financial research and analysis

o has extensive experiences in financial and capital markets
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Aged 55

Director since 1 December 2008

Deputy Chairman since 23 March 2015

Term of office: 9 September 2016 (re-elected) to 2019 AGM

o director of certain subsidiaries of our Group

o Master degree in Business Administration from the University
of Hong Kong

o fellow practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (FCPA (Practising))

o fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA)

o associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries (ACS)

. associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (ACIS)

o Independent non-executive director of the following companies,
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange:
> Tianli Holdings Group Limited

(stock code: 00117)
> Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited
(stock code: 00846)
> China First Capital Group Limited
(stock code: 01269)
> Huayu Expressway Group Limited
(stock code: 01823)
> Flyke International Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 01998)
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independent non-executive director of the following
companies, shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market ("GEM") of the Stock Exchange:

> Madison Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 08057)

> SuperRobotics Limited (stock code: 08176)

resigned of the following companies, shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange:
> Perfect Group International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 03326) as a non-executive director
on 1 March 2017
> PT International Development Corporation Limited
(stock code: 00372) as an independent non-executive
director on 27 September 2017
> China Huishan Dairy Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 06863) as an independent non-executive
director on 15 December 2017
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Telecom
Service One Holdings Limited (stock code: 08145) on 27
December 2017, shares of which are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange

over 25 years of professional experiences in auditing,
accounting and financial management for both private and
listed corporations
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Aged 42
Director and Managing Director since 1 September 2015
Term of office: 17 August 2018 (re-appointed) to 2021 AGM

o a director and the president of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd.,
a wholly owned subsidiary of our Group
o director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Group

o Degree in Economics from the Renmin University of China

o Legal Professional Qualification* from the Ministry Justice of
the People’s Republic of China

o registered as a non-practising member of the Beijing Institute
of Certified Public Accountants

o has over 10 years of experience in the management of the
Group and is familiar with the scope of the Group’s
operation in all aspect

. has worked in Grant Thornton (Beijing) Certified Public
Accountants and was responsible for auditing

o has engaged by Wah Ying International (Holdings) Limited*
and was in charge of various investment business projects

o has extensive experiences in investment banking sector,
auditing and merger and acquisition

* For identification purpose only
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Aged 29
Director since 13 January 2015
Term of office: 17 August 2018 (re-appointed) to 2021 AGM

Holds 50% interests in Ping Da Development Limited, a substantial
shareholder of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the
Report of the Directors under this annual report

director of certain subsidiaries of our Group

o Bachelor degree in Business Administration with First Class
Honours from University of Bedfordshire, the United
Kingdom

o Master of Science in Agricultural Economics with Distinction
from University of Reading, the United Kingdom

o PhD degree from University of Reading, the United Kingdom

o engaged as an food and safety analyst in a private entity
in China

o daughter of Dr. Mo Shikang, our chairman of the Board and
an executive director of our Company
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Aged 69
Director since 11 April 2005
Term of office: 9 September 2016 (re-elected) to 2019 AGM

° member of Audit Committee
. member of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o Bachelor degree, Master degree and PhD degree in Economics
from Nankai University, China

o Professor of the Virtual Economics and Management Research
Center of Nankai University, China

o independent non-executive director of Tianjin Faw Xiali
Automobile Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000927), shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive Director of China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Limited (stock code: 02799), shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive director of China Literature Limited
(stock code: 00772), shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive director of Yingli Green Energy
Holdings Co., Limited

o The 8th Sun Yefang Economics Prize
o The 3rd China High School Humanity Social Science
Research Excellent Award

o lecturer of Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
o professor and associate professor of the Faculty of Economics,
Nankai University, China
o resigned as independent director of AVIC Electromechanical
Systems Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002013), shares of which
are listed on the Small & Medium Enterprises Board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, on 26 March 2018
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Aged 62
Director since 24 July 2013
Term of office: 17 August 2018 (re-elected) to 2021 AGM

. member of Audit Committee
° member of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o professor of Faculty of Statistics, the Renmin University of
China

o doctoral tutor of Faculty of Statistics, the Renmin University of
China

. officer, professor and doctoral tutor of the China Research
Center for Competitiveness and Evaluation in the Renmin
University of China

o part-time tutor in the following universities in China:
Anhui University

Anhui University of Finance and Economics
Beijing University of Technology

Hebei University

Henan University of Economics and Law
Lanzhou University of Finance and Economics
Shandong University of Finance and Economics
Shanxi University of Finance & Economics
Shijiazhuang University of Economics

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Yy

o winner of the Government of the State Council Special
Contribution Expert Government Allowance* in China

o the century talent of Ministry of Education* in China

o national candidate of the Ministry of Personnel New Century
Hundred Thousand Talents Project* in China

o candidate of the Beijing Hundred Project* in China

* For identification purpose only
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Aged 52
Director since 23 December 2006
Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

. chairman of Audit Committee
. chairman of Remuneration Committee
. member of Nomination Committee

o Bachelor degree in Social Sciences from the University of
Hong Kong

o Master degree in Finance from the University of Strathclyde,
the United Kingdom

o Master degree in accounting from the Curtin University of
Technology, the Australia

o member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA)

o fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA)

o certified practising accountant of the CPA Australia

o vice-president of Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code:
01823, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) and is responsible for the accounting and
financial management

o independent non-executive director of Easy One Financial
Group Limited (stock code: 00221), shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
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e resigned as an independent non-executive director of the o BHEUTRABIZEBMIFNITESRS  Hik

following companies, shares of which are listed on the Main 1 72 B 22 P AR B R

Board of the Stock Exchange:

> Xtep International Holdings Limited >  R2017F5ASHBHIB A EBRIERE
(stock code: 01368) on 8 May 2017 BT (REMRH - 01368)

>  MomenTum Financial Holdings Limited >  H2017F6A6RBHI TS mIZRE
(stock code: 01152) on 6 June 2017 BRAF (REMAH:01152)

e has over 20 years of professional experiences in auditing, e HRARLEMARZE @it kMBERES
accounting and financial management for both private and HREB20F 2 EELR

listed corporations

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a BUBYIFNESCEARATIRBEEL B
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years and Miss 3 M T ESFEEE/ AR EBEARFE L
Mo Yunbi, an executive Director, has entered into a service contract EIETFFIRNRGEEY FIEESAREARARA
with the Company for no specific year, all Directors are subject to ZARIMBAIRBEBBAEXSHMBRARZESR LM
retirement by rotation from the Board and then re-election in the RABTRESRESERNAAFARERAFR
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the gERET

Company'’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.



The Company has committed to perform a high standard of
corporate governance practices in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Company's corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report, amended from
time to time, contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the "Listing Rules”). As far as the Code
Provisions is concerned, during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Company complies with all
aspect of the Code Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the "Director(s)”) acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year”) that
give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as a going
concern basis in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements required by the Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amended from
time to time. This responsibilities include designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control systems relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

The board of Directors (the "Board”) has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code”), amended from time to time, as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, they all
confirmed in writing that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report.
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In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees, who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Company. Such relevant employees did and would abide
by the provisions of the Model Code. Besides, the Company has
adopted internal control policy in relation to the disclosure of
inside information of the Company (the “Inside Information
Policy”).

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code and/or the
Inside Information Policy by such relevant employees was noted
by the Company.

The nomination committee of the Company (“NC"”) is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition and diversity
of the Board, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of the Directors,
monitoring the re-appointment and succession planning of the
Directors and assessing the independence of each independent
non-executive Director.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and
experiences appropriate to the requirements of the businesses
and the development of the Company and to the exercising of
independent. Other than Dr. Mo Shikang is the father of Miss
Mo Yunbi, the Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 March
2019 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)

Miss Mo Yunbi

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Prof. Zhao Yanyun

Mr. Sin Ka Man
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The composition, experiences, balance of skills, qualifications
and diversity on the Board are regularly reviewed by the NC
to ensure that the Board retains a core of members with
longstanding and deep knowledge of the Group alongside new
directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse experiences
to the Board.

The Board complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to (i) the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; (i) independent non-executive
director representing at least one-third of the Board; and (iii)
the audit committee of the Company (“AC”) should comprise
only independent non-executive directors.

The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out
on pages 28 to 37 of this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in this
annual report and all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
Company also maintains on its website (www.681hk.com)
and on the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) an
updated list of its Directors (by category) identifying the role
and function.
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The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures and criteria for the appointment, re-
election, resignation, re-designation, rotation, retirement and/
or removal of the Director(s) in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, the Listing Rules and all applicable laws.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and/or the Code Provisions
of the Listing Rules, (1) at each annual general meeting of the
Company ("AGM") not less than one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation; (2) each
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years at the conclusion of the AGM after he/she
was last re-elected as Director by shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholder(s)”) the general meeting of the Company
and (3) each Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director by the Board should retire from the Board at
the conclusion of the first general meeting of the Company to
be held but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
the Director by the Shareholders at the same meeting.

During the Year, Mr. Fan Fangi, Miss Mo Yunbi and Prof. Zhao
Yanyun retired from the Board by rotation at the conclusion
of the AGM held on 17 August 2018 (the “2018 AGM") and
were then re-elected as the Directors by the Shareholders with
separate resolutions passed in the 2018 AGM in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company and pursuant
to paragraph A4.2 of the Code Provisions, Dr. Mo Shikang, Mr.
Chu Kin Wang Peleus and Dr. Liu Junmin (“Dr. Liu") shall retire
from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of forthcoming
AGM (“2019 AGM") but, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the 2019 AGM.
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Dr. Liu has served as an independent non-executive Director
for around 14 years in his further re-election as Director at
the 2019 AGM. During his 14 years of tenure, Dr. Liu has
demonstrated his ability to provide an independent view to the
Company’s matters. Notwithstanding during his years of service
as an independent non-executive Director, the Board and the
Nomination Committee are of the view that Dr. Liu is able to
continue to fulfill his role as required and thus recommended
him for re-election at the 2019 AGM in accordance with the
Listing Rules, his further appointment will be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders and the
papers to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will
include the reasons the Board believes he is still independent
and should be re-elected. Dr. Liu has made a written annual
confirmation of independence for the Year pursuant to rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board and the NC have also recommended the re-election
of all the abovementioned retiring Directors standing for re-
election at the 2019 AGM.

Detailed biographical information of all the abovementioned
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the 2019 AGM will
be dispatched to Shareholders with this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered
and will enter into a service contract with the Company
for specific term of three (3) years after he be re-elected as
Director at the AGM and Miss Mo Yunbi, an executive Director,
has entered into a service contract with the Company for
no specific years. Save as disclosed above, the Company did
not enter into any service contract with other Directors. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.
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The Board normally has at least four (4) scheduled meetings a
year to review financial information, internal control systems,
risk management systems, corporate strategy, operating
performance and the progress of the various on-going projects
of the Group, if any, and meets at other times as and when
required. The Board requires Directors to devote sufficient time
and attention to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
During the Year, a total number of eleven (11) Board meetings,
three (3) AC meetings, one (1) NC meeting and two (2)
Remuneration Committee (“RC"”) meetings were held. Minutes
of these meetings are currently kept by the Company Secretary
of the Company and are open for inspection by the Directors
and Board committees’ members.

In consideration of the Code Provisions on Directors’ time
commitments, the Chairman held a private Board meeting with
independent non-executive Directors (without the presence
of the managing Director and executive Directors) in 2019 to
review the contribution required from a Director to perform
his/her responsibility to the Company, and whether he/her is
spending sufficient time in performing them.

EZe REFET2IH@OREH  UE
BIAKEZMBER  REfEEE ARG - BB
BEERG ARERE EERRLZERE
ETRBZERBL(NE) YEAFE
RETHHEZ EXQBELEERAREN
REEONETHRE MG BEAFE
ARRHEARAT—(INREZEGEEZE =)
REZZEE®®H —(WAERZEES
mR—QREMERE ([FMEEE]) 2
FoARAZABME-—BHERAEREFLSTS
BRI ARAREEREETSTLZEGK
BERH-

ERTRPRERESMEBERNE £F
ER2019FE S EESTREIENNITES
HENBRT BB IFRTEERITES
ERAEH BITSESEERAARRETT
HEBSERAMNENEE UEEEMHZEH
REREITHE -



During the Year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from the Directors and confirmed that they have
spent sufficient time performing their responsibilities. The
individual attendance records of each Director, on a named
basis, at the meetings of the Board, AC, NC and RC as well as
the Shareholders’ meeting(s) (AGM and special general meeting
(“SGM"), if any), during the Year are set out below:

AGM
Name of Directors EEf? REBEXE
Number of Meetings e38E 1
Executive Directors HrES
Dr. Mo Shikang EtFET N
Mr. Zhang Hesheng FMEEE 17
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KEREE N
Mr. Fan Fangyi BhERE 10
Miss Mo Yunbi RE2ME i
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Dr. Liu Junmin B%RAL i
Prof. Zhao Yanyun EEEYR N
Mr. Sin Ka Man KR L 11

The high attendance record at the Board and its committee
meetings during the Year, which was reviewed by the NC
and RC in June 2019, demonstrated the Directors’ strong
commitment to the Company.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held
by the Directors in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as their identities and the time
involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors
have agreed to disclose their Commitments to the Company
and the change, if any, in a timely manner and then confirm
their other directorships, major appointments and interests to
the Company (if any) twice a year.
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The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the senior management. The Board
currently provides leadership and approves strategic polices
and plans with a view to enhance Shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company and the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The Board has full
support of the managing Director and the senior management
to discharge its responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
systems, risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, change of Directors, ad hoc projects and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to managing and executive Directors
and the senior management. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility
to oversee and monitor the operations of the specific business
unit and/or corporate merge and acquisition and to implement
the strategies and polices set by the Board. Each Director
may seek for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon making
request to the Board. All members of the Board are provided
with monthly updates to enable them to discharge their duties.
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Through active participation in meetings of the Board, Board
committees and general meetings of the Company, the
independent non-executive Directors currently bring a wide
range of business and financial expertise, experiences, skills
and independent judgment on the issues of strategy, policy,
performance accountability, resources, key appointments,
connected transactions and standards of conduct to the Board.
Independent non-executive Directors have taken and/or shall
take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent
Board committee, comprising all independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, has formed and/or will form to advise
the independent Shareholders on those connected transactions
to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the SGM.
All independent non-executive Directors have made various
contributions to the effective direction and performance of
the Company. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received, from each independent non-
executive Directors for the Year, a written annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
which was amended during the year. The Board and the NC
considered all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the independent guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance including company securities, employment
practices, regulatory crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax
liabilities and public relation, etc, for the Directors and senior
officers of the Group, which is reviewed by the Board on a
regular basis. The Company undertakes an annual review of
the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy
in light of recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review benchmarks the amount of cover
against other similar companies and considers whether separate
cover be required for members of the Board.
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All Directors are required to comply with their duties to act in
the best interest of the Company and have particular regard to
the interest of the Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others,
all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent of
their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract
or other proposal to be considered by the Board at meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company,
a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any
of his/her close associates is materially interested.

The Board and Board Committees members are supplied with
comprehensive meeting papers and relevant materials within a
reasonable period of time in advance of the intended meeting
date (in any event no less than three (3) days before the date of
the meeting). All Directors and the Board committees members
are given opportunities to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board and Board committees meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision-making process,
the Directors and the Board committees members are free to
have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required.

All Directors and the Board committees members have
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who ensures that the Board and Board committees
receive appropriate and timely information for its decision-
making and the Board and Board committees procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are being followed.
The Directors and the Board committees members can obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
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The Board receives from the management monthly
management accounts, explanation and analysis of the
operation performance of the Group and relevant information
which enable the Board to make an informed assessment for
approving the financial statements. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board committees,
to ensure that the Directors and member of the Board
committees are supplied with all the requested information in a
timely and appropriate manner.

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director,
who perform similar role as chief executive officer, to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The respective responsibilities
of the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director are
clearly defined. The chairman of the Board provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the management, the chairman of the Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate
information and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meetings. The position of the chairman of the Board is currently
held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

The chairman of the Board ensures that the Board works
effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. He also ensures all Directors are properly briefed on
issues to be discussed at Board meetings. The chairman of the
Board encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus. He
pushes all Directors to make a full and active contributions to
the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as whole.
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The Managing Director focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Managing Director is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, internal control
system, risk management system control systems and internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval. The position of
the managing Director is currently held by Mr. Fan Fangyi.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
Group structure, Board and Board committees meetings procedures,
business, management and operations of the Company, etc. and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements in
Bermuda and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from
the strategic, planning and management perspective, the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as well as
the essence of corporate governance and the trends in these
areas, be therefore arranged for newly appointed Directors(s), if
any, after he/she joined the Board.

The Board acknowledges that continuous professional
development and training of Directors is an ongoing process
to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and
knowledge.
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Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and materials Rtz N AR AR EBEMSEER K

to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills from time M MBI ESN MR R -FIA
to time. All the information and materials are relevant to the BASMEIEAEE 2 555 K8 ¥
Group's business, the economy, corporate governance, rules and B RA KA g5 MR BERE
regulations, accounting, financial or professional skills and/or R/ REENBENETER - SLP T
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also arrangements MEESREERREXESTI -FA-ESF
in place for providing continuing briefing and professional HIE RSB A A B E DI AT

development to each Director. During the Year, the record of the
trainings of the Directors, on named basis, is set out in the table

below:
Receiving
briefings from
Reading financial
journals, officers,
written Attending company
training webcast secretary
materials and/ training and/ and/or other
or updates or forums executives
230
B#AE AT
REST - EE EE S WEM R
ZAARR, S EBEINS HittSE®
Directors E= NEH o, 18 ILE:
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Mo Shikang St EEiE LT v v v
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAAEKE v v v
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus VN Eie v v v
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHELE v v v
Miss Mo Yunbi HEZE/E v v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTESE
Dr. Liu Junmin BEREL v v
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEEHE v v
Mr. Sin Ka Man HERE T E v v/
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at AARSBERESTHREAAEIRE B
the Company’s expenses. The company secretary is responsible to AHARRIAE ArWEAERTSES
keep records of training taken by each Director. The NC reviewed BEXNENEE - REEZEEN2019F6A

the training records of each Director in June 2019. EEBEEEZ 2 EIIRE



The company secretary, being an employee of the Company,
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs and
reports to the Board. She keeps close contact with all Directors
and ensures that the operation of the Board and all Board
committees are in compliance with the procedures as set forth
in the Company's Bye-laws and the Listing Rules. Additionally,
the company secretary is responsible for compiling and
regularly submitting draft minutes of Board meetings and Board
Committee meetings to the Directors and committee members
for their comment, and final version of minutes for their
records, within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings.
Each Director may obtain advice from and the assistance of
the company secretary to ensure that the meeting of Board
and Board committees procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed. To ensure the possession of up-to-
date knowledge and market information to perform her duties,
the company secretary attended sufficient professional training
during the Year.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policy and practices on corporate governance, assessing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management. During the Year, the Board
reviewed, monitored and assessed the policy and practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development to Directors and senior management, policies and
practice on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement
and the compliance with the Model Code under the Listing Rule
and disclosure requirements in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Board kept under review in light of the changing legal and
regulatory requirements.
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The Board has established three committees, namely, the
AC, NC and RC. All Board committees of the Company have
been established with defined written terms of reference,
which are disclosed in the corporate website of the Company
(www.681hk.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The members of the AC at present are all independent non-
executive Directors whereas, the majority of NC and the RC
comprise independent non-executive Directors. The list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set out
under “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at Company's expenses.

The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
has been suggested under the Code Provisions. The AC
currently comprises independent non-executive Directors,
among them one independent non-executive director possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. None of the members
of the AC is a former partner of the Company's existing
external auditor. The AC currently comprises the following
three members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman
(i) Dr. Liu Junmin

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun

MEZEg3EEZEST AEERARTRTE
Ef -AnarHEELTEHEFHEL
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The main duties of the AC include the followings:

(a)

To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
responsible staff of accounting and financial report
function, compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

To review the relationship with the external auditor and
its independence by reference to the work performed and
services provided by the external auditor, their fees, their
firm’s standards and practices and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and/or removal of external
auditor;

To review the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in the annual report, if any, and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Shareholders as a whole; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.
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The AC held three (3) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report to, inter alia,

(1)

@)

review and approve the draft audited and unaudited
consolidated financial statement together with and the
respective draft result announcements, including changes
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental
areas; significant adjustments resulting from the audit
(if any); going concern assumption; compliance with
accounting and auditing standards and compliance with
the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting to the Board for consideration and
approval;

assess the independence and the external auditor of the
Company and the effectiveness of audit process;

review the relationship with the external auditor and then
recommend the re-appointment of the external auditor of
the Company and recommend its remuneration;

evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
systems of internal control and risk management
which covered all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance together with the associated
procedures;

review and approve the internal audit programme, review
the internal audit reports and discuss any significant
issues with the management;

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staffs of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget; and

review the current continuing connected transactions.

The attendance record of the meetings of AC during the Year is
set out on page 44 of this report.
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During the Year, the fee paid/payable to auditor in respect of
audit service and non-audit services provided by the auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services PR 7% 14 &
Audit for the Year KFEEEZ
Others Hi

The written terms of reference has been suggested (amended
from time to time) under the Code Provisions.The NC comprises
the following four members, major of them are independent
non-executive Directors:

(i)  Dr. Mo Shikang*, chairman

(i) Dr. Liu Junmin®

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

(iv)  Mr. Sin Ka Man”

# executive Director

* independent non-executive Director

The main duties of the NC include the followings:

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed

changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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(2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(3) review the Board diversity with reference to the Board
diversity policy;

(4) assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(5)  make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief
executive.

The NC has been delegated by the Board to review the size,
structure and composition of the Board on an annual basis.

The Company adopted below the policy for nomination of
Directors (including the nomination procedures and criteria for
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship) in
accordance with the new amendments to the CG Code, which
took effect from 1 January 2019.

NC shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to the Shareholders for
election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies.

NC may, as it considers appropriate, nominate a number
of candidates more than the number of the Directors to be
appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, or the number
of casual vacancies to be filled.
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The factors listed below would be used as reference by the NC
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

reputation for integrity;

J accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the
principal business of our group, from time to time;

J commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

o diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The NC has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

1. The Secretary of the NC shall call a meeting of the
NC, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members, if any, for consideration by the NC prior to its
meeting. The NC may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by Board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the NC shall make
recommendations for the Board’'s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the NC shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the circular to Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting.
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In order to provide information of the candidates
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting, a circular will be sent to the Shareholders.
Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, if a Shareholder
wish to propose a person other than a retiring Director
for election as a Director at a general meeting of the
Company, the Shareholder should deposit a written
notice of nomination which shall be given to the
head office of the Company within the 7-day period
commencing the day after the dispatch of the notice of
the meeting (or such other period as may be determined
and announced by the Directors from time to time). The
relevant procedures are posted on the Company’s website
(Wwww.681hk.com).The particulars of the candidates so
proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information
by a supplementary circular.

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) and has posted it on the Company’s website
(www.681hk.com), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board, the summary of which are set out
below:

(a)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

In designing the Board's composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.
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(¢)  All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The NC held one (1) meeting during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1) assess the structure, size and composition of the Board
and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with
the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Board;

(2) evaluate the performance of the Board with reference to
the Board performance report;

(3) study the independence of each independent non-
executive Director in accordance with the Listing Rules;

(4) identify those Directors to be retired from the Board by
rotation in the AGM and then be re-elected as Director in
the same meeting in accordance with the Company'’s Bye-
laws and the Listing Rules;

(5) propose the maximum number of Directors of the Board
in the AGM; and

(6) review the service contract(s) to be entered with the
independent non-executive Director(s).

The attendance records of the meeting of the NC during the
Year is set on page 44 of this report.
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The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
of RC has been suggested under the Code Provisions. The RC
currently comprises the following five members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man®, chairman
(i) Dr. Mo Shikang*

(iii)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng?*

(iv)  Dr. Liu Junmin®

(v)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

* independent non-executive Director

# executive Director

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the
remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management.
The RC has primary responsibility for making recommendations
on and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management to the Board after consultation with the Chairman
and Deputy Chairmen, assessed performance of the executive
Directors and accessed to professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, when necessary. The RC is also responsible
for establishing a formal and transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates be participated in
deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration be
determined by reference to the duties and responsibilities of
Directors in the Group, business performance, profitability and
market conditions.
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The RC held two (2) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1

(5)

review the summary of remuneration package paid to
each Directors and senior management of the Company;

study the current remuneration package, policy and
structure of all Directors (including appointment(s),
resignation(s) and retirement(s) during the Year, if any);

propose remuneration packages in the coming year with
reference to the duties and responsibilities of Directors,
business performance and profitability of the Group
and market conditions, the corporate objective and goal
set by the Board with reference to salaries paid by the
comparable companies to Directors;

consider the service contract(s) to be entered with
independent non-executive Director(s) and/or Director(s),
if any; and

review the procedures of remuneration policy, procedures
and structure for fixing the remuneration packages.

The attendance records of the meeting of the RC during the
Year is set out on page 44 of this report.
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The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal
control and risk management of the Group and for reviewing
its effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an
effective and sound internal control and risk management
systems to safeguard the interest of Shareholders and the
assets of the Group. During the Year and up to the date
of this annual report, the Board, through the AC, reviewed
the implementation of the systems of internal control and
risk management and reviewing of all relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management
functions system. A review be conducted at least annually
on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and
risk management. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, a meeting has held reviewing and monitoring
effectiveness of our major subsidiaries in relation to the
progress of completion on operational targets, market
development, customer service, production and operations
management, safety management system, finance, construction
works, ad hoc projects and overall performance.

The Group has maintained a tailored governance structure
with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate delegation
of responsibility and authority to the management. The
internal control and risk management systems of the Group
are designed to identify and evaluate the significant risks and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure
to achieve business objective, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses.
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The Group which currently engages in the businesses of the
sales and distribution of fuel gas including piped gas and
cylinder gas as well as fast moving consumer goods and food
ingredients supply in China, has established internal control and
risk management systems which are designed and structured in
accordance with its specific business and operation functions.

The main features of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group comprise primarily: (i) the setting
of objectives, budgets and targets, subject to the close
monitoring and periodic update and evaluation by the
responsible departments, management and the Directors; (ii)
the establishment of regular reporting of financial information
supplemented by other regular and ad hoc reports for review
and appraisal by the management and the Directors on a timely
manner to ensure the management and Directors are supplied
with all the requested information to assess the business
performances of the Group in arriving at appropriate plans
and actions; (iii) the delegation of authority and establishment
of clear lines of accountability to ensure an effective day-to-
day management, administration and operation of the Group;
and (iv) the periodic review and evaluation of the systems
and control procedures to ensure their appropriateness to the
changing business and operation environment as well as to
identify any areas of material risks and weaknesses for the
purpose of proper mitigation and improvement.
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The Board monitors the Group’s business risk, operating
risk management and internal controls. An internal audit
department is maintained to carry out internal audit functions
to ensure proper compliance with the internal control and
risk management systems to identify the potential risks
which may arise in the operation and financial aspects of the
Group’s business for implementation of appropriate measures
and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and
the audit plan of the internal audit department for the Year,
which are formulated based on a risk assessment approach
and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are reviewed and approved by the AC in conjunction with
the management. The internal audit department executes its
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for its
assignments. These reports are submitted to the management,
the Board and the AC for review on a regular basis.

During the Year, the Board, through the AC, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and the internal audit functions
of Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial reporting system, operational and compliance
controls and risk management system as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experiences of staffs of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting system, and
their training programmes and budget. The Board and the
AC confirmed that during the Year, there were no significant
control failings or weaknesses identified which might have a
material impact on the Company’s financial performance or
condition and the required procedures and human resources
are in place to ensure adequate internal controls within the
Group.

An external audit has also been conducted to carry out the
internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with
the internal control system and risk management system to
identify the potential risks which may arise in the operation
and financial of the Group's business for implementation
of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis.
The scope of review and the audit programme of external
audit firm, which are formulated based on a risk assessment
approach and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived
risks, are approved by the AC at the end of the preceding
financial year in conjunction with the management. The
external audit firm executes their functions based on a yearly
plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These reports
are submitted to the management, the Board and the AC for
review on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the
external auditor on an annual basis.
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The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information
Policy for the Company since 2013 for monitoring inside
information to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information as
set out in the Inside Information Policy are summarised below:

Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to the
Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the Board
in accordance with the Listing Rules. In cases where a
decision by the Board is pending or in cases of incomplete
negotiations, the Group shall implement the procedures
set out in the Inside Information Policy to maintain the
confidentiality of information. Until an announcement is
made, the Directors and the management should ensure
that such information is kept strictly confidential. If the
confidentiality cannot be maintained, an announcement
shall be made as soon as practicable.

Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of inside
information, they shall inform the Directors and/or the
company secretary, immediately so that remedial actions,
including making an inside information announcement,
can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

The Group’s finance department shall keep track of the
Group’s threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to the
percentage ratios as defined in the Listing Rules, so that
an announcement can be made as soon as practicable
should a notifiable transaction arise.

Inside information is announced promptly through the websites
of the Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.681hk.com). The electronic publication system of the
Stock Exchange is the first channel of dissemination of the
Group's information before any other channels.
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The Company has committed to maintain an open and
effective investor relation policy and to update investors on
relevant information/developments in a timely manner, subject
to relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings
with institutional investors and analysts are conducted from
time to time. The Company also replied the enquiries from
Shareholders timely. The Directors host the AGM each year to
meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company’s website at www.681hk.com contains important
corporate information, biographical details of current Directors,
organisation structure, annual and interim reports with
comprehensive and user-friendly information about the Group,
as well as announcements and circulars issued by the Company
in order to enable the Shareholders and the investor community
to have timely access to updated information about the
Company and the Group.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene
a SGM and state the purpose therefor at the Company’s
registered office in Bermuda at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda (which be changed to Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda
with effect from 15 July 2019).

The Directors propose the dividend, if any, in accordance with
the dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”) which
essential features are summarised below:

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines of
the Company in relation to the distribution of dividend to the
Shareholders.

The objective of the Dividend Policy is to reward the
Shareholders by sharing a portion of profits/earning, while also
ensuring that enough funds are retained for the future growth
and prospects of the Company.
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The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to
the discretion of the Board, which normally did/will take into
account of the following factors:

e The financial results of the Company;

e Interests of the Shareholders;

e General business conditions and strategies;

e  The capital requirements of the Group;

e  Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to
the Company, if any;

e  Taxation considerations;

e  Possible effects on our creditworthiness;

e  Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

®  Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or
any dividend at all, will be declared and paid in the future.

Any distribution of dividend for a financial year shall be subject
to the approval by the Shareholders. Shareholders at a general
meeting of the Company can approve any distribution of final
dividend, which may not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.

All of the Shareholders have equal rights to dividend.
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Dividend may be distributed in the form of cash and/in specie
of Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be
approved by the Shareholders.

The Board may from time to time to declare the special,
quarterly and/or interim dividends as appear to the Board to be
justified.

The Company has adopted communications policy with
Shareholders and investors that provide ready, equal and timely
access to understandable information about the Company, the
policy is posted on the Company's website (www.681hk.com).
The Board is welcome to Shareholders for their comments and/
or enquiries about the Company. Shareholders may send their
comments and/or enquiries to the Board by addressing them
to the Company secretary who ensures these enquires and/or
comments to be properly directed to the Board. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposal for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposal
to the Company secretary.

Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, if a Shareholder wish to
propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a
Director at a general meeting of the Company, the Shareholder
should deposit a written notice of nomination which shall be
given to the head office of the Company within the 7-day
period commencing the day after the despatch of the notice of
the meeting (or such other period as may be determined and
announced by the Directors from time to time). The relevant
procedures are posted on the Company’s website (www.681hk.
com).

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar
and transfer office, namely, Tricor Tengis Limited, whose
contact details are stated in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.
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The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the
management are committed to the constructive use of AGM as
a forum to meet with Shareholders and to hear their views and
answer their questions about the Group and its business.

Dr. Mo Shikang, the chairman of the Board, did and would
use his endeavours to attend all Shareholders’ meetings.
The chairman of the Board did and would arrange for the
chairmen of RC, NC and AC or their alternates be available to
answer questions at each AGM of the Company. A member
of the independent Board committee of the Company also
be available to answer questions at any general meeting
of the Company, if any, to approve connected transactions
or any other transactions that are subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.

The Board did and would arrange auditor to attend every AGM
of the Company to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Most resolutions would be passed by way of poll at each
of the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
are unable to attend general meetings of the Company can
appoint proxies to attend and vote at general meetings of the
Company. The chairman of general meetings of the Company
would provide explanation of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and then would answer questions (if any)
from the Shareholders regarding voting by way of poll. The
Company would send notice of the AGM of the Company to
the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before each
AGM of the Company and at least 10 clear business days
before all other general meetings of the Company.

The Company’s website (www.681hk.com) is maintained
for the dissemination of the Company’s announcements,
press releases and other relevant financial and non-financial
information on a timely basis.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Executive Director maintains
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep
them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

ARBNBERBERNGHERRERNE
BEREZ— BFENEBER L ERME
WHARRAFARER—BFELERR
TH RERRNEREMARREHK S R
EFETEESENER DERRASER
REMEENEH

EZgIFEERBELERNG R
FARBMBERRAG BEFEFERFELER
SR EE S REZBENERZE
GZIFERBRERERREBREARFRK
REFAE LOERE -RNARBIEEE
BEZKE  TN&HFEAR IR E
RPREMEMALBIRRMER S 2
BRAE (E)  AEERRE -

ExgCKRLeRREMEEEEAR
AIRRBFERE UREABZBIE %
AN RS 2 mE N AR  EETBUR M A 2D
BRI o

RBORBRBEEARARAERRAE L
R ER R FURB - REEHE AR AR
REZER AR ERROFEARRBREKX
BYNELERR -ARABRRAGZEFE
BREETRERRZFMERF LERER
REREXRAZEE (MA) - ARFER
ARFRTZEEARRBFREED20(E
TEEEXAZA ARRTFEARTRRE
FRGZBE MARARMBEEMERAE
AIREDI0EEBEXBZAFE -

AR BB (Www. 68 Thk.com) T & i B 35 17
PAN/NCI /N I R s b Y
BB MR

AAFGHBERBRHEBIREE ZBBLE
F-NTEEGEBRBIREE RDNERE
B EREABRNRARZEFER - AR
AN EREEREE ZEH WRHREH
RIZER -



The directors of the Company (the "Director(s)”) are pleased to
present this report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year"”).

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of fuel gas including
the provision of piped gas, sales and distribution of cylinder gas and
fast moving consumer goods (“FMCG") and food ingredients supply
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). Further
discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Group's business, can be found in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 2 to 27 of this annual report. All these sections form
part of this report of the Directors.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are set out
in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
93 to 94 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
30 August 2019 to Wednesday, 4 September 2019 (both dates
inclusive), for the purpose of determining the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) eligibility to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday,
4 September 2019 (the “2019 AGM") and during which period
no transfer of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) will be
effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the 2019 AGM,
all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates of the Company must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 29 August 2019. Tricor Tengis Limited will change its
address from Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong to Level 54, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong with effect from 11 July 2019.
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A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 264 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report.

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

Further details of the movement in the share capital, Share Options
and award shares of the Company, if any, during the Year are set out
in notes 33 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

Save as disclosed under the section of “"SHARE CAPITAL AND
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS” above, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into during the Year.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 97 to 98 and note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report respectively.
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As at 31 March 2019, the Company did not have any distributable
reserve (2018: nil).

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2019
is set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers taken
together accounted for 2.81% and 9.37% of the Group's total
revenue for the Year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 9.72% and 37.45% of the
Group’s total purchase for the Year, respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any Shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any of
the said top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the Year.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)

Miss Mo Yunbi

Dr. Liu Junmin
Prof. Zhao Yanyun
Mr. Sin Ka Man
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out on
pages 28 to 37 of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in
connection with their duties. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years and Miss
Mo Yunbi (“Miss Mo"), an executive Director, has entered into a
service contract with the Company for no specific year, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation from the Board and then re-
election in the annual general meeting of the Company (“"AGM") in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company and pursuant to
paragraph A4.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report annexed as Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo”) and Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus,
being executive Directors, and Dr. Liu Junmin, being an independent
non-executive Director, shall retire from the Board by rotation at the
conclusion of 2019 AGM but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the 2019 AGM.

There is no service contract, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of any Director proposed for
re-election at the 2019 AGM.
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Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis and five highest
paid individuals (four of them are Directors) are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report .

The Company had received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Liu Junmin, Prof,
Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Sin Ka Man, of their independence for the Year
pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

As at 31 March 2019, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) were as follows:
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percentage (%)
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BEEBROMA share capital*

Personal Family Corporate FrEe R

interests' interests interests Total EERR

Names of Director EZp? BAES' FhER NAER ag BAE 2L (%)
Dr. Mo Eichy 2,497,782,762 - 1,135,000,000° 3,632,782,762 40.66
M. Zhang Hesheng FAELE 338271,82 - - 338,271,282 379
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus AEREE 69,000,000 14,004,605 - 83,004,605 093
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHERE 22,000,000 - - 22,000,000 025
Miss Mo MR - - 1,135,000,000° 1,135,000,000 1270
Dr. Liu Junmin HRRET 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.06
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HESAR 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.06



Notes:

1. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial
owner.

2. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by his spouse.

3. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by Ping Da
Development Limited (“Ping Da"”), a company beneficially and owned
50% by Dr. Mo and 50% by Miss Mo.

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2019 (i.e.
8,934,561,203 Shares).

Save as disclosed above and under section headed “DIRECTORS
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below, as at 31
March 2019, none of the Directors nor their associates had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and/or
debentures of the Company or any of its Associated Corporations
which had been entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “CONTINUED
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this report, no transactions,
arrangements and contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies
was a party and in which a Director or an entities connected with
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries,
its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors, their spouse and children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

The Board adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All
Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required standard
set out in the Model Code during the Year. Employees, who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company, have been requested to comply with provisions of Model
Code.

As at 31 March 2019, the interests of those persons (other than the
Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Name of Shareholder Capacity
RRE® 54

Ping Da (note) neficial owner
Z (

Be
T (H3E) EGBAEA
(L) = long position & &

Note: This represents the Shares held by Ping Da, a company equally-owned
by Dr. Mo and Miss Mo.

* The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on the total number of
Shares in issue as at 31 March 2019 (i.e. 8,934,561,203 Shares).
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Number of share capital*
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EiftE BEEERABA BB D (%)*

Corporate 1,135,000,000 12.70
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company any of its Associated
Corporations, which had been recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

During the Year, none of the Directors or substantial Shareholders or
any of their respective close associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the
Group.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report and within
the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float
of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

BrLA EEEIN 201938318 IRIEES KX
HEKRAIFE3CIEBATEFR 2 E MR
QBN R AN B Sk B AR AR 2 IR 5
X,/ SRS P IR AR -

RAFER BEEMESHETERRAERRK
E2ETHMBATS2EECAEAEEEBER S
BIRBAGHF A BB B T 2R HEARE
BATMEMAEER-

RAFEARBENANFRAPRECHIES
ZEMPBESMRM ARARZRETRAZA

EHRRFRANTBIE -

ARBZ AR ERELELTEEHELE
BRZBRE MTARABABLRLIRESR
PR B E R D



Shareholders approved a resolution of adoption of a new share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in the AGM of the
Company held on 9 September 2016.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, nil share
option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed and/or cancelled
under the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

Purpose Provide incentives to the eligible persons
to contribute to the Group, to enable
the Group to recruit and retain quality
employees to serve the Group on a
long-term basis and to attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

Participants Eligible person include any executive,
employee (whether full-time or part-
time), Director (including non-executive
Director and independent non-executive
Director), consultant, adviser, partner,
joint-venture partner, service provider,
customer and/or agent of the Company
or any of its subsidiary or any person,
who in the absolute discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group at the time when an option
is granted to such person.

Price of Shares Determined by the Board and shall at
least be the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the Share;

(b) the closing price of the Share as
stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date
of offer, which must be a trading
day; and

(0) the average closing price of the
Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations
sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date
of offer.
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Total number of Shares

available for issue
and the percentage
of the issued share
capital that it
represents as at the
date of this annual
report

Maximum entitlement
of each participant

Period within which

the securities must be

taken up under the
option

Minimum period for

which an option must

be held before it can
be exercised

Amount payable on
acceptance

Period within which
calls/loans must be
made/repaid

Remaining life of the
scheme

694,495,413 Shares, being approximately
7.77% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue in
any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Not applicable.

No amount is payable on acceptance of
an offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective
until 8 September 2026, after which no
further options will be granted, but in
all other respects the provisions of this
scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in respect of any option granted
prior to the termination of this scheme
and any such option shall continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue.

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of
contributions to Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
the PRC statutory public welfare fund respectively. Details of which
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statement.
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On 14 December 2016, Xi'an Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an
Civigas”) entered into a new natural gas supply agreement
(“2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement”) with Shaanxi
Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Natural Gas") to
renew the continuing connected transactions for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2019. The annual cap amount for the transactions for each of
the three years ended/ending 31 December 2017, 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2019 under the 2017-2019 Natural
Gas Supply Agreement be RMB148,205,000, RMB 180,260,000
and RMB210,152,000 respectively.

Shaanxi Natural Gas is a shareholder of Xi‘an Civigas (being
a 51% owned subsidiary of the Group) holding 40% equity
interests in Xi‘an Civigas, by virtue of its interests in Xi‘an
Civigas, is regarded as a connected person of the Company
pursuant to chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. It was expected
that the highest applicable percentage ratio of the transactions
under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement and the
annual cap amounts will be more than 5% as set out under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transactions under the
2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement is (i) between the
Group and a connected person at the subsidiary level, (ii)
on normal commercial terms or better, and (iii) approved by
the Board and confirmed by the independent non-executive
Directors, that are therefore exempted from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and Shareholders’
approval requirements, as it has been as required under Rule
14A.101(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules, but are subject to
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, details of the transactions were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements on 15 December
2016.

Shaanxi Natural Gas is principally engaged in the distribution
and pipeline transportation of natural gas, the sale of city gas,
as well as the operation of gasification projects. It is one of
the leading natural gas providers in Shaanxi Province, China.
Through purchasing the natural gas from Shaanxi Natural Gas,
it can stable the supply in the region Xi‘an Civigas serves.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the amount of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions was within
the maximum aggregate value as stated in the 2017-2019
Natural Gas Supply Agreement.
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On 12 December 2018, Xi‘an Civigas Haihui New Energy Co.,
Ltd. (“Xi'an Civigas Haihui”, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary) entered into the LNG master supply agreement
(“"LNG Master Supply Agreement”) with Xianyang Haihui
New Energy Co., Ltd (“Xianyang Haihui”), pursuant to
which Xianyang Haihui has agreed to supply and Xi‘an Civigas
Haihui has agreed to purchase liquefied natural gas (“LNG")
commencing for the period from 1 October 2018 and ending
31 March 2021. The annual cap amounts are RMB11,200,000,
RMB55,000,000 and RMB67,000,000, respectively for each of
the three years ended/ending 31 March 2019, 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2021.
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The highest applicable percentage ratios (as set out in Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules) for the transactions contemplated under LNG
Master Supply Agreement and the annual cap amounts are expected
to be more than 5% as set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, given that: (i) Xianyang Haihui is a connected person of the
Company only at the subsidiary level; (ii) the Board has approved
the transactions under the LNG Master Supply Agreement; and (iii)
having considered the terms of the LNG Master Supply Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
annual cap amounts), all the independent non-executive Directors
have confirmed that the terms of the transactions under the LNG
Master Supply Agreement are fair and reasonable, are on normal
commercial terms or better and in the interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole, the transactions under the LNG
Master Supply Agreement are therefore exempt from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules, but are
subject to annual review and all other disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of the transactions were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements on 12 December 2018.

Xianyang Haihui is a company established in the PRC with limited
liability and is a comprehensive natural gas operator which
focuses on natural gas utilisation and integrates investment in and
development of LNG and compressed natural gas (CNG) refilling
stations, industrial utilisation of natural gas (Coal to Gas, Oil to Gas)
projects, LNG trading and road transportation.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the amount of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions was within
the maximum aggregate value as stated in the LNG Master Supply
Agreement.

Pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply
Agreement and LNG Master Supply Agreement as disclosed by the
Group in the annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement
and LNG Master Supply Agreement and confirmed that these
transactions entered into by the Group were:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(¢) according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no transactions which need
to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 41 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

Save as the Company repurchased and then cancelled in aggregate
of 107,258,000 Shares during the Year, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold, or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have
significant impact on the Group. The Board reviews and monitors
the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the Year, to the best of the Company's knowledge, the
Company has complied with the requirements under memorandum
of association and Bye-laws of the Company, the Listing Rules, the
SFO, the Companies Act 1981 Bermuda and other laws applicable to
the Company. Details of the Company’'s compliance with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 38 to 71 of this annual
report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), being the auditor of the
Company, will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment in the 2019 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Deloitte as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2019
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 28 June 2019
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Deloitte

To the Shareholders of
Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages
93 to 261, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

HREETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill of Group’s subsidiaries

BEEENE N E BB E

We identified annual impairment assessment of goodwill
of Group’s subsidiaries as a key audit matter due to the
involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in
determining the recoverable amounts of cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill have been allocated, which
are derived from value in use calculations using discounted
cash flow models.
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As at 31 March 2019, the Group's goodwill are allocated
to respective CGU relating to sales and distribution of
cylinder gas operation and the fast moving consumer
goods (“FMCG") and food ingredients supply business in
the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC"”) amounting to
approximately RMB7.064 million and RMB13.594 million,
respectively. Details are disclosed in notes 4 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management's assessment of goodwill impairment is highly
judgmental and is dependent on certain significant inputs
including the growth rates, budgeted gross margin and
discount rates applied, all of which vary based on the relevant
industry growth and management’s expectation for the
market development of sales and distribution of cylinder
gas operation and the FMCG and food ingredients supply
business in the PRC.
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RETERBWAME BREEANERE BAHEENER
MIRE  HeMEFHHIORNEETEERREREEHTH
HIE K 5 tHEE R R R E B IR H RN E S X Ti5HE
TEHA

As disclosed in note 18, no impairment loss has been
recognised against the goodwill for the year ended 31 March
2019.

FRANAR A B IS IR R IS 18T I B - AL =2019F3 H318 1
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANBETNIHBERETSRETEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill of Group’'s
subsidiaries included:

B EREBHASENB R 2 mBETRENEZ
B R TR

Understanding the Group’s impairment
assessment process, including the impairment
model, basis of allocation of goodwill to CGUs,
the preparation of the cash flow projections
("Cashflow Forecasts”) and key management
assumptions adopted in these Cashflow Forecasts
through enquiries with the management;
FRFBRAEERE B SEEREGGBIE
BRERERE BEIETREELEMCEE.
mEREeRERA ([REREBAL) ERZE
ReEREEARA 2 BAREERRRK:

Challenging the appropriateness of the key
assumptions adopted by the management in
the Cashflow Forecasts, such as the budgeted
gross margin, discount rates and forecast growth
rates applied and comparing them with available
market data and our knowledge of the current
market development in the PRC;

EREEERASREAATAEANEIEZRKR
AR ERANEEEMNE BFRXEIEA
R WA H R A E GRS BUR R FIE T
BRIMSERNOBERETLR:

Comparing the historical cash flows forecast
against the performance of CGUs to test the
accuracy of management’s projections; and

HEENRERERARREELEMHRIE
THE - AHEREERANERLE &

Reviewing the Cashflow Forecasts by stress testing
key assumptions, assessing the impact on the
sensitivity analysis, and understanding the degree
to which assumptions would need to move before
impairment would be triggered.

FRBEARXEIBEMRR FAEBERESTHTEL
MY F R EN R RRAOEREZZ R
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2019
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2018

NOTES RMB’000
B E AR®TT
Revenue A 5 1,200,359
Cost of sales and services $HE R AR AL A (902,188)
Gross profit EH 298,171
Impairment losses, net of reversal WEEE MR REER 7 (18,595)
Other gains and losses Hfth Yy 23 5 48 7 (8,325)
Other income Hip g A 8 20,935
Finance costs B AR " (12,648)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HAX (101,834)
Administrative expenses GG (103,578)
Share of results of associates FE(R B & AR R 34,148
Share of results of joint ventures EIEEERERS 148,343
Profit before tax B %1 A 256,617
Income tax expense FriS i X 12 (26,706)
Profit for the year REE 5 F 9 229,911
Other comprehensive (expense) income for ~ AEFHEM2E (XH) KA
the year
ltems that have been reclassified or may be EREDBEHAJEEHNHEBEE
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: m2BE
Fair value gain on available-for-sale AEEE ([AIHEENREZR
("AFS") investments B 22
Reclassification adjustment of cumulative HERARHERER R NRE
gain disposal of AFS investments HoEREE (15)
ltem that will not reclassified subsequently —~ EZBTEEMHEEBZ2EE
to profit or loss:
Fair value change on equity instruments BARER AR 2K ([
at fair value through other AREAREMEEKE])Z
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), BETAZAAEES (REF
net of tax #) =
Other comprehensive (expense) income for ~ ANFEEMEE (T H) WA
the year 7

Total comprehensive income for the year REE2HRALLE 229,918



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

Comprehensive Income
FeRaREMZEBARE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019

BE2019F3A31HLLEE

2019 2018
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥ET R ARBT T
Profit for the year attributable to: THIRAMEARE R -

Owners of the Company KABEA A 174,325 201,456
Non-controlling interests TR 41,379 28,455
215,704 229,911

Total comprehensive income attributable to: ~ N7I| fE {5 2 2 4 A 4258 -
Owners of the Company VNCIETZEDN 171,248 201,463
Non-controlling interests RS 41,654 28,455
212,902 229,918
Earnings per share A 14 RMBA R # RMBA R
— basic —EK 1.95 cents? 2.82 centsp
— diluted —BE N/AFiE A 2.78 centsny
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2018

NOTES RMB'000
B 5 ARBEFIT
Non-current assets EMENEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% B MEE 15 694,524
Investment properties "EYE 16 11,300
Prepaid lease payments ENEE 17 57,254
Goodwill & 18 7,064
Intangible assets EEE 19 25,596
Interests in associates REE N T 2 = 20 127,919
Interests in joint ventures REEBELFE2ER 21 1,065,899
Deferred tax assets RERIBE = 32 =
Equity instruments at FVTOCI RARERFT A2 E WS 2
HIA 22 -
AFS investments AHEERE 23 14,508
Long-term deposits K% e 24 21,292
2,025,356
Current assets mENEE
Inventories T& 25 28,609
Trade, bills and other receivables and 25 Ef&ﬁmﬁ%ﬂﬁl%ﬂlﬁ A K
prepayments TET50IR 26 154,095
Contract assets &4 é{F 30 =
Amount due from a joint venture Fﬂﬁl HE&ECERE 27 16,338
Prepaid lease payments e 17 1,732
Bank balances and cash RITERER € 28 409,630
610,404
Current liabilities BB E
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H M FE IR 29 250,663
Contract liabilities AHBEE 30 =
Tax liabilities %RIEE\T, 39,618
Amount due to an associate FE A — R B 2 8 | 5K78 27 =
Amount due to a joint venture B —HEEENIE 27 156
Bank borrowings — due within one RITEE——F NI H
year 31 113,000
403,437
Net current assets MEEEEE 206,967

Total assets less current liabilities BEERTESEME 2,232,323



Capital and reserves B A K
Share capital &N
Reserves G

ARBEB ARG

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR B 2

Total equity S

Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Bank borrowings — due after one year  RITfE & — —F 12 EIH
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEBE

The consolidated financial statements on page 93 to 261 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Mo Shikang
Director
EHEEL
EF

NOTES
i &

33

49

31
32

2018
RMB’000
ARETIT

570,574
1,456,972

2,027,546
180,529

2,208,075

16,000
8,248

24,248

2,232,323

BN EBEGIBE RV BRREEEETTR
2019F6 A28 AL E R W HETIE WU TRE

RE

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Director
ERRERE
EBEF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
CREKEDXR

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z2019%3H31HILLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAREAARGRR
Surplus Investment  Share-based Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed reserve Deemed Capital ~ revaluation compensation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus fund  contribution ~ contribution reserve reserve reserve  eamings Total interests Total
NRAA
RE -t P

s ROEE  BAEE  AARR EHORE  BEER MRS ERBR  MEBRE  RMBR  REEd &t FERES it
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RVB000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RVB00  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMB000  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMB00
ARBTT ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR

(Note 3) (Note b) (Note ) (Note d)
(Hixe) (Hi3kt) (Wi (Hitd)
At 1 April 2017 R201754A18 453328 944,616 2,086 92,665 95,168 26,628 711 [} 1212 6,822 15937 1,657,176 168,937 1,826,113
Profit for the year RERET - - - - - - - - - - 20145 201,456 28455 29911
Change in the fair value of AFS AHEREI AL EES
investments - - - - - - - 2 - - - 2 - 2
Reclassfication adjustment of cumulative 5\t ETRE ERA% 25t
gain upon disposal of AFS investments ~ KEEHHEHE - - - - - - - (15) - - - (15) - (1)

Profit and total comprehensive income for AEEEHIR2ERALE

the year - - - - - - - 7 - - 201,456 201,463 28455 229918
Appropriations L1 - - - - 13438 - - - - - (13.438) - - -
Recognition of share-based payments  BZHRAAZRKT = - - - - - - - 13223 - - 1323 - 13223
Issue of Award Shares (as definedin -~ B{TRER( (THR
note 39(b) Ki&k390)) 12402 13,033 = = = = = = (25,435) - - - - -
Issue of subscription shares FRRRA 104,844 50924 - - - - - - - - - 155,768 - 155,768
Dividends paid to a non-controliing fiF-BHEARFERE
interest of subsidiaries #ZRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (29,610) (29610)
Capitalinjection from non-controlling WA EHHARUMELR
interests of subsidiaries newly AFERERTE
incorporated during the year - - - - - - - - - - - - 13375 13375
Deemed disposal of partil interestsin ~ BELENBARZHH
subsidiaries (note ¢) s (Fite) - - - - - - - - - (84) - 84) 3533 3449
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HERBA (Ki37) - - - - - - - - - - - - (4161) (4161)
At 31 March 2018 2018537318 570,574 1,008,573 2,086 92,665 108,606 26,628 7 - - 6,738 203,955 2,021,546 180,529 2,208,075
Adjustments (note 2) B2 (M) - - - - - - - 22,385 - - (18,040) 4,345 589 4,934
At 1 April 2018 (as restated) R201854A18 (£E5]) 570,574 1,008,573 2,086 92,665 108,606 26,628 7 22,385 - 6,738 185,915 2,031,891 181,118 2,213,009
Profit for the year RERET - - - - - - - - - - 174325 174,325 4379 215,704
Fair value change on equity instruments at #7247 3F AZ fh 2 Ea %
ATOCI LESTAZRAEED - - - - - - - (3,566) - - - (3,566) 366 (3,200 = B
Income tax relating to ftems that will not  EREEHHEZEREE T =
redassfied 26EH - - - - - - - 49 - - - 49 ) 3 =
f=
=

Profit and total comprehensive income for AF R EF|R2HHRALE
the year - - - - - - - (3,077) - - 174,325 171,248 41,654 212,902

Shares repurchased and cancelled TRABE R (R333)

(note 33) (6,067) (4,578) - - - - - - - - - (10,645) - (10,645)
Appropriations & - - - - 13,046 - - - - - (13,046) - - -
Additions relating to acquisition of FEERNEZRE

business (note 38) (Wist38) - - - - - - - - - - - - 4,955 4,955
Release of other reserve upon disposal of  HEHBAFEEL

subsidiaries HipG - - - - - - - - - (81) - (81) - (81)

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) LEMBRA (H37) - - - - - - - - - - - - (20) (20)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest 5 FHB A kR 2
5

of subsidiaries = - - - - - - - - - - - - (23,029) (23,029)
Capital contribution from non-controlling - KEMB A AR iR 2

interests of subsidiaries E - - - - - - - - - - - - 13,101 13,101
At 31 March 2019 2019534318 564,507 1,003,995 2,086 92,665 121,652 26,628 A 19,308 - 6,657 347,194 2192413 211,595 2,410,008

FRERERAF 97
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Notes:

Capital reserve was recognised as a result of acquisition of additional
interest in an associate which became a subsidiary.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value
of the Company's share capital issued as consideration in exchange for the
nominal value of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries acquired at the
time of the Company’s listing in 1997.

The articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") state that they should make an
appropriation of 10% of their profit for the year (prepared under generally
accepted accounting principles in the PRC) each year to the surplus reserve
fund until the balance reaches 50% of the paid-in capital. The surplus
reserve fund shall only be used for making good losses, capitalisation into
paid-in capital and expansion of their production and operation.

The other reserve of the Group represents the effect arising from the
change in the Group's equity interest on existing subsidiary without losing
control.

On 19 December 2017, the equity interest of Chanshun County Civigas
Co., Ltd. (“Changshun Civigas”) and its subsidiaries (“Changshun Civigas
Group”), the then wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group, was transferred
to a 60% owned subsidiary of the Group upon group-restructuring.
Accordingly, the Group's effective interest in Changshun Civigas Group
had been reduced from 100% to 60%. The carrying amount of the partial
interest in Changshun Civigas Group deemed disposed by the Group of
RMB80,000 was credited to equity as other reserve during the during the
year ended 31 March 2018.

On 1 April 2017, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement
with an independent third party to dispose 49% equity interest of
Zhijiang Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Zhijiang Civigas"”), the then non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group with effective interest 55% held through
investment in non-wholly subsidiary, Hunan Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Hunan
Civigas"”), at a consideration of approximately RMB3,449,000. Accordingly,
the Group's effective interest in Zhijiang Civigas has been reduced from
55% to 28.05%. The difference between the consideration received and
the carrying amount of the partial interest in Zhijiang Civigas disposed by
the Group of RMB164,000 was debited to equity as other reserve during
the during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Share of results of joint ventures
Share of results of associates
Bank interest income
Interest income from loan to a joint venture
Dividend income from AFS investments
Fair value changes of investment properties
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Waiver of overdue interest on
consideration payable
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
(Gain) loss on disposal of AFS investments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Share-based payments
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
AFS investments
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
Net impairment losses in respect of trade and
other receivables
Finance costs

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Increase in trade, bills and other receivables
and prepayments

Decrease in amount due from a joint venture

Increase in contract assets

Increase in contract liabilities

Increase in trade and other payables

Increase in amount due from a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary

Increase (decrease) in amount due to an associate

Cash generated from operations
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

Net cash from operating activities
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2018
RMB’000
ARETT

256,617

153,543
(8,099)

(40,530)

36,326

(3,947)

137,293
(28,863)

108,430



INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments

Proceeds from disposal of AFS investments

Acquisition of AFS investments

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Disposal of subsidiaries

Addition of prepaid lease payments

Repayment from a joint venture

Dividend received

Dividend received from associates

Advance to non-controlling interests

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Proceed from disposal of prepaid lease
payments

Interest received from loan to a joint venture

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceed from disposal of partial interest in a
subsidiary without losing control

New bank borrowings raised

Repayment of bank borrowings

Shares repurchased and cancelled

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Advance from non-controlling interests

Repayment to an associate

Interest paid

Net cash (used in) from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,

represented by bank balances and cash
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Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997, the
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the Company’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sales and distribution
of gas fuel in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC")
including the provision of piped gas, construction of gas
pipelines, the operation of city gas pipeline network, the sales
and distribution of cylinder gas and the fast moving consumer
goods (“FMCG") and food ingredients supply business
including the operation of chain stores including hypermarkets,
supermarkets and convenience stores. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).
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The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the current
year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and
Related Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” with
HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the above new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s performance and financial
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18"”Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations.
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The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard, if any,
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April 2018.
Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised
in the opening retained earnings (or other components of
equity, as appropriate) and comparative information has not
been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply
the Standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 April 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 and
the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources
which arise from contracts with customers:

»  Sales of piped gas and cylinder gas (mainly natural
gas; liquefied natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas
("LPG")).

»  Construction of gas pipeline networks under gas
connection contracts.

> Sales of merchandise (mainly fresh foods; wine and other
FMCG).

Information about the Group’s accounting policies resulting
from application of HKFRS 15 and the performance obligations
are disclosed in notes 3 and 5 respectively.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
there is no material impact of transition to HKFRS 15 on
retained earnings at 1 April 2018.

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 April 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.
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Carrying

amounts Carrying

previously amounts under

reported at HKFRS 15 at

31 March 2018  Adjustments 1 April 2018*
20184

120184 4818

3A31H FREMBRE

ERI 28K % BB 155%

ZERHEE HAE BNZEREE*

Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

B &t ARETT ARETT ARET T

Current assets mENE E
Contract assets BREE (a) - 10,669 10,669
Trade, bills and other B9 ZiEMEMER
receivables and FIELA RTFBRRIB
prepayments (a) 154,095 (10,669) 143,426
Current liabilities mENAE
Contract liabilities BHAEE (b) - 123,930 123,930
Trade and other payables B REMEMNFKE (b 250,663 (123,930) 126,733

& The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from the & RIZELBEWEREREEMBERE
application of HKFRS 9. AR FEOSRMEL A -

Notes: B &

(@) In relation to construction contracts previously accounted (@ BMENRBEFGHENENRTARZE
for under HKAS 11, the Group has applied input method in EENME AEEREBEAEMER
estimating the performance obligations satisfied up to date of HEBAEABSAVBRELENE155%A
initial application of HKFRS 15. RMB10,669,000 of amounts due HETRZBORF - BREHNTIERIE
from contract work were reclassified to contract assets. #HANR¥10,669,000CEHF D EEANE

=

(b) At 1 April 2018, receipt in advance of approximately (b) M2018F481H LAAIBREEES K
RMB123,930,000 previously in trade and other payables were HMENREFNBERREBHARKE

reclassified to contract liabilities. 123,930,000t EF D PEEHNAE-



The following table summarises the impacts of applying HKFRS
15 on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2019 and its consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year ended for each of the line items affected. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated
statement of financial position
Current assets
Contract assets
Trade, bills and other receivable
and prepayments

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities
Trade and other payables

Impact on the consolidated
statement of cash flows

Increase in contract assets

Increase in trade, bills and other
receivables and prepayments

Increase in contract liabilities
Increase in trade and other payable
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Amounts
without
application of
As reported  Adjustments HKFRS15
WAREREE
M| E
w2 8| AE BISHzLHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR¥ETTT
13,579 (13,579) -
214,000 13,579 227,579
173,141 (173,141) —
191,060 173,141 364,201
(2,910) 2,910 —
(45,063) (2,910) (47,973)
47,187 (47,187) -
42,239 47,187 89,426



In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, (2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets
and (3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 April 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as
at 31 March 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1 April
2018 are recognised in the opening retained earnings and
other components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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The table below illustrates the classification and measurement
(including impairment) of financial assets and financial liabilities
and other items subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at
the date of initial application, 1 April 2018.

Closing balance at 31 March 2018 72018534318 2 A 8

- HKAS 39 -ERETENE0SE
Effect arising from initial NREREENHRLENS
application of HKFRS 15 SEREAz Y E
Effect arising from initial NREREEURRLENS
application of HKFRS 9 9EMEHzEE
Reclassification ENPE
From AFS investments REWHEERR
Remeasurement EHitd

Impairment under ECL model S HREA THRE
From cost less impairment to fair value R ARBEZALE

Opening balance at 1 April 2018 #201854R18 2 B84
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AFS investments

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive
income (“OCI") for the fair value changes of all its equity
investments previously classified as AFS investments,
relating to unquoted equity investments previously
measured at cost less impairment under HKAS 39. These
investments are not held for trading and not expected to
be sold in the foreseeable future.

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9,
RMB14,508,000 were reclassified from AFS investments
to equity instruments at FVTOCI, of which the fair value
gains of RMB30,356,000 relating to those unquoted
equity investments previously carried at cost less
impairment under HKAS 39 and the corresponding
deferred tax impact of RMB4,902,000 were adjusted to
investment revaluation reserve, deferred tax liabilities
and non-controlling interests as at 1 April 2018. The fair
value of those investments are appropriate to its carrying
amounts at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9.

In addition, impairment loss previously recognised of
RMB2,177,000 was transferred from retained earnings to
investment revaluation reserve at 1 April 2018.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all contract
assets and trade receivables.

To measure the ECL, except for those trade and bills
receivables which are credit impaired, the remaining
trade and bills receivables and contract assets have been
grouped based on share credit risk characteristics.
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Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

The contract assets related to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the
trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has there concluded that the expected loss rates
for the trade receivables are a reasonable approximation
of the loss rates for the contract assets.

Loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised
cost mainly comprise of bank balances, amount due from
a joint venture and other receivables, are measured on
12-month ECL basis as there had been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As at 1 April 2018, the additional credit loss allowance
of RMB1,834,000 has been recognised against retained
earnings, non-controlling interests, contract assets and
trade and bills receivables. As at 31 March 2018, the
loss allowance for trade and bills receivables amounted
to RMB1,428,000 under HKAS 39. With the aforesaid
additional credit allowance of RMB1,834,000, the loss
allowance for trade and bills receivables as at 1 April
2018 amounted to RMB3,262,000 under HKFRS 9.

As at 1 April 2018, the additional credit loss allowance
of RMB1,500,000 has been recognised against retained
earnings, non-controlling interests and other receivables.
As at 31 March 2018, the loss allowance for other
receivables amounted to RMB52,008,000 under HKAS
39. With the aforesaid additional credit allowance of
RMB1,500,000, the loss allowance for other receivables
as at 1 April 2018 amounted to RMB53,508,000 under
HKFRS 9.
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Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

As at 1 April 2018, the additional credit loss allowance
of RMB11,000 has been recognised against retained
earnings, non-controlling interests and contract assets.
The loss allowance for contract assets as at 1 April 2018
amounted to RMB11,000 under HKFRS 9.

Deferred tax assets increased by RMB671,000 as a result
of the additional loss allowance charged.

All loss allowances, including trade and bills receivables,
contract assets and other financial assets at amortised
cost, as at 31 March 2018 reconciled to the opening loss
allowances as at 1 April 2018 are as follows:

Trade
and bills
receivables
BEZRE
FE W R IE
RMB'000
ARETF T
At 31 March 2018 - M2018F3H31H —
HKAS 39 BB gL
395 1,428
Amounts remeasured RIBTEHREEBER
under ECL model NEHFTEZ SR 1,834
At 1 April 2018 M2018F4H18 3,262

(b)
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Interests in associates/joint ventures

The initial application of HKFRS 9 resulted in a net
increase in interests in associates of RMB186,000, which
is arising from the impacts relating to additional loss
allowance for trade and bills receivables under ECL model
of RMB97,000 and the fair value gains of RMB283,000,
net of deferred tax, relating to those unquoted equity
investments previously carried at cost less impairment
under HKAS 39 with corresponding adjustments to
retained earnings by debit of RMB97,000 and investment
revaluation reserve by credit of RMB283,000 respectively.

The initial application of HKFRS 9 resulted in a decrease
in the interests in joint ventures of RMB18,032,000,
which is arising from the impact relating to additional loss
allowance for trade and bills receivables under ECL model
with corresponding adjustment to retained earnings by
debit of RMB18,032,000.
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As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies
above, the opening consolidated statement of financial position

had to be restated. The following table shows the adjustments SEBEERARNAR - TXBHEEHTE L
recognised for each of the line items affected. Line items that HEWRBIEENA -
were not affected by the changes have not been included.
At At
31 March 2018 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 1 April 2018
R2018%  BAMB®RE  BEUBRE M2018%F
3A31H R ZE155% B F 95 4A1H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
(Audited) (Restated)
(1B E%) (&%)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in associates REE AR 2 i 127,919 - 186 128,105
Interests in joint ventures REBREZER 1,065,899 = (18,032) 1,047,867
AFS investments AEHERE 14,508 - (14,508) =
Equity instruments at FVTOC| BAREGAEM R E RS
ZHERTHE - - 44,864 44,864
Deferred tax assets ELEREEE - = 671 671
Current assets MENEE
Contract assets BREE - 10,669 (11) 10,658
Trade, bills and other receivables B BERREMEKE
and prepayments PSS A 154,095 (10,669) (3,334) 140,092
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables g5 REMBEMNTRIE 250,663 (123,930) = 126,733
Contract liabilities aNaE - 123,930 - 123,930
Capital and reserves BEARR#E
Equity attributable to owners RATEA ANEIEER
of the Company 2,027,546 - 4,345 2,031,891
Non-controlling interests RS 180,529 = 589 181,118
Non-current liability FnBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EXEBIBEE 8,248 = 4,902 13,150
Note: For the purposes of reporting cash flows from operating activities sk LA ZE2019F3A31H IEFEUEEF A

under indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2019,
movements in working capital have been computed based on
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April
2018 as disclosed above.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
HK (IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’
Amendments to Definition of Material?
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement’
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures'
Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to Definition of a Business*
HKFRS 3
Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation’

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle!

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

& Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS
17 "Leases” and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.
Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in
relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments
are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flow by the Group, upfront
prepaid lease payments will continue to be presented as
investing or operating cash flows in accordance to the nature,
as appropriate.
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Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset for
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group
is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are applicable to lessor,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to
classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of RMB9,646,000 as disclosed in note 42.
A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for short-term leases or leases of low-value assets.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid and refundable rental deposits received as rights
and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based
on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the
underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such
deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments
to refundable rental deposits paid would be considered
as additional lease payments and included in the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits received would be considered as advance lease
payments. However, the Group anticipates such adjustments
may not be significant to the consolidated financial statements.
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The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group intends to elect the practical expedient to
apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK (IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply
this standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and HK (IFRIC)-Int 4.
Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the contracts
are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the date
of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect
the modified retrospective approach for the application of
HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of
initial application, if any, to opening retained earnings without
restating comparative information.

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgements. The amendments also align the
definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective
for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2020.
The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
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The amendments clarify the definition of a business and provide
additional guidance with the objective of assisting entities to
determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a
business combination or an asset acquisition. Furthermore, an
optional concentration test is introduced to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The amendments will be mandatorily
effective to the Group prospectively for acquisition transactions
completed on or after 1 April 2020.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange of goods and services.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transferred at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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The significant accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has the power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.
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Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e., reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

3 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.
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Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
associate and joint venture is described below.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.
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A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses.

Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

BELEE-BHARTH UL HEA KR
EHIN B TR S AR LN FEERSE
R - FLEE S To 8 2 BEE FI M B 1 E
HA- 1% REHBEBEBARRFEZHR
?ﬂ%mxﬁ BRERFE-

BMENRRAECEZEE BERAGT
DR SFDE AREMBHRER -AEae
AAME  BEQARREERENBRRNE
HERAREBERBUBREER S MNEH
MG — SRR - RIEEDE RBERF
B BEEEZRETNRKIAREE W HBR
MK ERMER R ER A EE (S
ZHERRRAECEZERNAMER
WAEH AR - REBERR,/ aEbEL
ﬁ%i‘%@@( B RHEM 2 E R ARSI B
AR BRIRSEHEHAEEFALZ
%*ﬁﬁéf“’\ """"" 8y EAEEEIERE L AT
FEECECBEBLER &Hﬁ“‘“?d&
BECEzER (BREEMRAER Ma
FRORAEE LBRASER E%Hﬁ%*é’&?
FEBELEIREFRZ —#n)  RIARE
BErBEEEREBEZE—PEE BRI
BEEAREECESETHMTERESK
RERZBERBAHEELENKERRM
ﬁEwm"

ERAEBBAELRIETES HEBR
REZBE R REECESINFIERRE
HINETHE ©



An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.
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A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

> the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

> the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

> the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability related to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.
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For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from gas connection, which relates to contracts for
construction of gas connection facilities, is recognised based on
the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed
to date relative to the estimated total contract costs. When
the outcome of a gas connection contract cannot be estimated
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Revenue from sales and distribution of piped gas/cylinder gas is
recognised when gas is used by the customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has been passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably).

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably and the stage of contract completion at the end of
the reporting period can be measured reliably, contract costs
are charged to the profit or loss by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period on the same basis as contract revenue is recognised.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent
of contract costs incurred that is probably recoverable. Contract
costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred. When it is probable that total contract costs will
exceed contract revenues, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost or fair value as deemed cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, pipelines and other assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or deemed
cost of assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal and retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

When buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the amount of
prepaid lease payments released during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.
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To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are
initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

If an investment property becomes an item of property, plant
and equipment because its use has changed as evidenced by
commencement of owner-occupation, the property’s deemed
cost for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss rising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values
can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is
their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.
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The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets
are estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised as expense
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

> the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

> the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

> the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

> the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

> it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

> on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

> it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset (which comprises the
gross carrying amount less any impairment allowance) from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will continue to be held in the investment
revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit
or loss.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including amount due from a joint venture, trade, bills and
other receivables, contract assets, financial guarantee contracts
and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.
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The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets from initial recognition until derecognition.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for the credit
impaired balances and based on provision matrix for the
remaining balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:
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(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

>

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor
or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the
extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.
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Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

€ Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's
trade and other receivables are each assessed as a
separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed
for ECL on an individual basis);

¢ Past-due status;

€ Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

€  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset
(which is the gross carrying amount less any impairment
allowance).

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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The Group's financial assets are mainly classified into one
of the following categories, loans and receivables and AFS
investments. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.

Loans and receivables (including trade, bills and other
receivables, amount due from a joint venture and bank
balances and cash) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

AFS investments are non-derivatives that are either designated
as AFS or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.
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Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at the end of each reporting period (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on financial assets
below).

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

3 breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.
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For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For AFS investments that are carried at cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not
be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When trade and other receivables
are considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Classification as debt or equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Borrowings

Interest-bearing bank borrowings are initially measured at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to an associate and a joint venture) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 April 2018)/HKAS 37
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018); and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment properties portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation
in relation to the Group’s investment properties has been
measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Current and deferred tax for the year are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recorded until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and the retirement funds scheme managed by local
social security bureau in accordance with the government
regulations of the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
directors are measured at the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation
reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of awarded shares granted at the grant date, in
exchange for the grant of awarded shares is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share-based compensation reserve). When
the awarded shares are vested and issued, the amount
previously recognised in share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share capital with the corresponding
adjustment made to share premium. When the awarded shares
are not vested or are forfeited during the vesting period, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be reversed to profit or loss.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on the historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainties at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires estimation of the recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of
disposal and value in use. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash generating unit ("CGU") and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
discount rate represents the rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates
have not been adjusted. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of goodwill and
intangible assets are RMB20,658,000 (2018: RMB7,064,000)
and RMB24,367,000 (2018: RMB25,596,000) respectively. No
Impairment loss (2018: RMB4,868,000) was recognised for
goodwill during the year ended 31 March 2019 with details set
out in note 18.
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Types of goods or services

Provision of piped gas

Piped gas connection construction contracts
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

79 am K AR A% R A
HEEBRR
EEMREREEAN
HIE K 2 sH R AR

Retail and wholesales of merchandise TE R EE R

Timing of revenue recognition W T 52 B

A point of time HFE

Overtime RRE

All the revenue from contracts with customers are BEAEHMFA R ALK G F

derived from the PRC.
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Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue BE A DR A B 5 2 & B 3
from contracts with customers with the amounts BRI

disclosed in the segment information.

Provision of piped gas HETEMRR

Provision of piped gas HEZTEMRR

Piped gas connection construction contracts B EMRRIZEEZEA Y
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas HER D HERMAE
FMCG and food ingredients supply RV EFES

Retail and wholesales of merchandise TERMEE M

Revenue from contracts with customers BEEAHWA



The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources:

(a)

Sales of gas and merchandise

For the sales of cylinder gas, a receivable is
recognised by the Group when the good are
delivered to the customers as this represents
the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as
only the passage of time is required before
payment is due. Payments received in advance
that are related to the sales of cylinder gas not
yet delivered to customers are deferred and
recognised as contract liabilities. Revenue are
recognised when cylinder gas are delivered to
customers. The Group allows a credit period of
30 to 90 days to its customers and extending
to 180 days for major customers for the
invoices issued.

The Group sells merchandise directly to retail
customers within supermarkets, hypermarkets
and convenience stores operated by the
Group. Revenue from sales of goods to retail
customers is recognised when the product
is transferred to the customers upon sales.
Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately when the customers purchases
the goods. The payment is usually settled in
cash or using credit cards.
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Sales of gas and merchandise (Continued)

The Group also sell merchandise to wholesalers.
Revenue from sales of merchandise to
wholesalers is recognised when the control
of the merchandises has transferred, being
when the merchandises are delivered to the
wholesalers and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the wholesaler's acceptance
of the products. Payments received in advance
that are related to the sales of merchandises
not yet delivered to customers are deferred
and recognised as contract liabilities. Revenue
are recognised when goods are delivered to
customers. The Group allows a credit period of
30 to 90 days to wholesalers and extending to
180 days for major customers for the invoices
issued.

For the sales of piped gas, the Group would
require advance payment before the usage
of the natural gas for certain customers, any
shortage against the periodically actual charge
for the actual usage of natural gas will be
billed by the Group accordingly. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 90
days to its customers and extending to 180
days for major customers for the invoices
issued. These customers are required to top
up the advance payment for future usage of
natural gas supplied by the Group.

In addition, the Group requires advance
payment before the usage of the natural gas
through prepaid card for certain household
users. The charge of the actual usage of
natural gas will be deducted directly to the
balance of the prepaid card. These customers
can only consume the natural gas up to the
balance of the prepaid card.
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Construction

The Group provides gas pipeline construction
services under construction contracts with
its customers. Such contracts are entered
into before construction of the gas pipeline
begins. The Group's performance creates
and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs. Revenue from
construction of gas pipeline is recognised over
time on an input method, i.e. based on the
proportion of contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated
total contract costs. The Directors consider
that this input method is an appropriate
measure of the progress towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligations
under HKFRS 15.

The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits before the
commencement of the construction which will
give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contracts exceed
the amount of the deposits. The Group is
entitled to invoice customers for gas pipeline
construction upon completion of construction
works. The Group recognises contract asset
for any work performed in excess of payment
from customer for the same contract. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables upon
completion of construction works. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 90
days to its customers and extending to 180
days for major customers.

All the contracts for sales of gas and merchandise,
and gas pipeline construction are for original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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An analysis of the Group's turnover for the year is as

ERASEAFEEER 2O

follows: T:
2018
RMB’000
ARBETTT
Provision of piped gas 1 fEE B R 449,598
Piped gas connection construction contracts ﬁ}?)‘ﬁ%z EBESH 122,095
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas HERD HEERR 628,232
Retail and wholesales of merchandise ?%I?ﬁt?ﬁ‘?ﬁﬁuu 434
1,200,359

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating MASETZZEEREE ([TEEERR

decision maker (“CODM"), being the managing director of
the Company, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
sold or services rendered which is also consistent with the basis
of organisation of the Group.

During the year, the Group commenced the business in
the FMCG and food ingredients supply along with the
acquisition of Chongqging Yubaijia Supermarket Chain Co., Ltd.
(“Chongging Yubaijia”) and Chongqing Qiaojiali Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (“Chongqging Qiaojiali”) (as detailed
in note 38), and it is considered as a new operating and
reportable segment by the CODM.

The Group currently organises its operations into three
operating divisions, which also represent the operating
segments of the Group for financial reporting purposes, namely
provision of piped gas; sale and distribution of cylinder gas and
FMCG and food ingredients supply. They represent three major
lines of business engaged by the Group. The principal activities
of the operating and reportable segments are as follows:

(1) Provision of piped gas — sales of piped gas and
construction of gas pipeline networks under gas
connection contracts;

(2) Sale and distribution of cylinder gas - sales and
distribution of gas using tank containers to end-user
households, industrial and commercial customers; and
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(3) FMCG and food ingredients supply (formerly known
as production and sales of barrelled drinking water) —
retail and wholesales of merchandise (including but not
limited to rice; meat; fresh food; FMCG and barrelled
drinking water) through hypermarkets, supermarkets and
convenience stores.

No operating segments have been aggregated to derive the
reportable segments for segment information presentation.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Segment revenue from external
customers

Segment profit (loss)

Unallocated income

Central administration costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Finance costs

Profit before tax
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For the year ended 31 March 2018

Segment revenue from external

customers

Segment profit (loss)

Unallocated income

Central administration costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Finance costs

Profit before tax

Provision
of
piped gas
H“ETEMRR
RMB'000
AREFL
RENBEF D BKA
71,693
DEEN (B1]) 82,357
AAEWA
RRITE S
il AN
EHEECEEE
AR
BR % Al

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in

both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment result represents the profit (loss)
earned by (incurred by) each segment without allocation of
share of results of associates, share of results of joint ventures,
central administration costs, finance costs and certain other
income. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

HE2018F3831HILFE

Sales and FMCG and
distribution of ~ food ingredients
cylinder gas supply Total
HERDH R
BEMRR HEMES aat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFT AREFT AREFT
628,232 434 1,200,359
22,869 (218) 105,008
9,202
(27,436)
34,148
148,343
(12,648)
256,617
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable and operating segments.

Segment assets

Provision of piped gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
FMCG and food ingredients supply

Total segment assets
Investment properties
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
AFS investments

Equity instruments at FVTOCI

Deferred tax assets
Bank balances and cash
Other unallocated assets

Consolidated assets

Segment liabilities

Provision of piped gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
FMCG and food ingredients supply

Total segment liabilities
Bank borrowings

Tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Other unallocated liabilities

Consolidated liabilities
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2018
RMB’000
ARETT

694,692
285,225
515

980,432
11,300
127,919
1,065,899
14,508

409,630
26,072

2,635,760

175,459
71,498
296

247,253
129,000
39,618
8,248
3,566

427,685



For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
investment properties, interests in associates, interests
in joint ventures, financial instruments at FVTOCI (2018:
AFS investments), deferred tax assets, bank balances and
cash, certain property, plant and equipment and other
receivables; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities
and certain other payables.

Sales and
Provision distribution of
of piped gas cylinder gas
HEEERR  HERIBEEMR
2018 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
For the year ended 31 March ~~ HZ3A31RIFE
Amounts included in measure B2 BERAERAHTE
of segment profitorloss or ~ ERtRZEE:
segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plant 1% BERRENE
and equipment 24,332 10,356
Impairment loss on goodwill AEERERERIAE
recognised in profit or loss B = 4,868
Impairment loss o ARNEREZRERR
AFS investments = 217
Loss (qain) on disposal of LENE HEREEL
property, plant and equipment  &5%8 (&) 525 (2,309)
(Gain) loss on disposal HERBAR (K BB
of subsidiaries - 3344
Amortisation of prepaid BHRAES
lease payments 911 789
Amortisation of intangible assets  EHEREE 1229 -
Net allowance made (reversal of 312 5 Rt /Bl
allowances) in respect of trade B2 (BE &)
and other receivables TREBETE (117) 18712
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FMCG and food
ingredients supply Unallocated Consolidated
BHEENES AR Chl
2018 2018 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AE%TT
51 1212 36,011
= = 4,868
- - 2171
- 40 (1,740)
- - 3,344
- - 1,700
- - 1,229
- - 18,595



Sales and

Provision distribution of
of piped gas cylinder gas
HESERR  HERDHEZAR
2018 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Capital expenditure in respect of & ER[HE
prepaid lease payments LETRY = -
Capital expenditure in respect of ABNE FER
property, plant and equipment /& 2 BAE % 78,798 35,001

Amounts regularly provided to EHEIEEERKERZE
the CODM but not included R EA BEAZFEDS

in the measure of segment ~ FEERLEIR2EE:

profit or loss or segment

assets:

Interests in associates REERR ER -
Interests in joint ventures ReBbsER -

Share of results of associates ~ EIFHENT%E -
Share of results of joint ventures  EFAALEEE -

All of the Group's revenue was generated in the PRC (place of
domicile of the group entities that derive revenue) and over
90% of the Group's non-current assets other than financial
instruments were also located in the PRC (place of domicile
of the group entities that hold such assets). Accordingly, no
geographical information is presented.

No individual customer of the Group had contributed sales
of over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

FMCG and food
ingredients supply Unallocated Consolidated
ENEENES xR &t
2018 2018 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR%TT
36 1938 115,773

- 127919 127,919
= 1,065,899 1,065,899
= (34,148) (34,148)
= (148,343) (148,343)
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Other gains and losses (a)

(Loss) gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries
(note 37)

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill (note 18)

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of AFS investments

Fair value changes of investment
properties

Gain on disposal of AFS investments

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain

Recovery of bad debts previously
written off

Impairment loss, net of reversal (b)

Trade receivables from contracts with
customers

Other receivables

H A Y 8 N &5 18

HEWNE BERREBZ

(E18) Wz

HEME AR 2 Yas (Bi8)

(Ff7E37)
HEEER Y
BEEE (MFE18)
A HEERERER
WIEEE
BEMEZ AR ER

HERHEERE 2 e

PE 3 (B8 ) Yaes ¥ 2R
Yo Bl 2 B 5E 35 B9 R BR

B 18 - FNBR K [l

KEEFAHZREK
IR
H A & WK IR

2018
RMB’000
ARBFTT

1,740
(3,344)
(4,868)
(2,177)
(1,900)

108
2,116

(8,325)

(1,782)
(16,813)

(18,595)



Bank interest income

Waiver of overdue interest on consideration
payable (note 30)

Dividend income from AFS investments

Interest income from loan to a joint venture

Rental income, net

Repair and maintenance services income

Sales of gas appliance, net

Government grant

Others

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 10)
Other staff costs
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Share-based payments
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(excluding directors)

Total staff costs

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses

Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of intangible assets (included
in administrative expense)

Operating lease payments in respect of
rented premises

Contract cost recognised as expense in
respect of gas connection construction
contracts

2018

RMB’000
ARBEF T
HRITH B HA 8,125
M@ EBEMREZFE (H:E30)
5,335
AP ERE 2R BMA 1
KE—HEELEZERFBERA 969
e WA FEEE 960
HBIERERFBA 79
HEMR S A FEE 1,366
B e 913
H 3,187
20,935
AEEME R T EE:
2018
RMB’000
ARBEFIT
E=M<e (MzE10) 12,910
H 8 TRA
e R REYHN = 98,213
VARR 10 A& EERE AT 5K 5,697
ROKAEFIFT B4 50
(TRiEES) 13,709
48 T A 130,529
BRAERI 2 HFERA 850,386
%S ED B 2,291
Y BB MEETE
36,011
BEENES 1,700
BiHmpEE (GTATTBAR)
1,229
HEVMEHEBE EEHERS T H
7,675
ERAEAI CMAEREEED
B & KR AR
51,802



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HILLEE

10.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 10.EF 2 &
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM<
The emoluments paid or payable to each of 8 (2018: 8) Btk E8E (2018F :8R)EE
directors were as follows: BT -

Salaries, Performance

allowances related
Directors’ and benefits incentive  Retirement Total
fees in kind payments benefits emoluments

£ A= 40 RAHE
X kA ENFE L3 INE RKER G

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARET:R

(Note)
(P =E)
For the year ended HZ2019%3A31H
31 March 2019 LLFE
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo") RtrprE+ ([EEL]) - 1,476 304 5 1,785
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAAELE - 1,232 454 - 1,686
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHREE - 684 340 46 1,070
Ms. Mo Yunbi BREE/MA - 661 117 39 817
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus REREE - 1,001 913 15 1,929
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors:
Mr. Liu Junmin ABEREE 167 - - - 167
Mr. Zhao Yanyun HEELE - - - - -
Mr. Sin Ka Man AREELE 167 - - - 167
a8
.g E('
334 5,054 2,128 105 7,621 =
('8

FRERERAF
2018 - 2019F 169



Salaries,  Performance

allowances related
Directors’  and benefits incentive  Share-based Retirement Total
fees in kind payments payments benefits  emoluments
e 2ZHR ENiEL R 5
X MRl BT R ERAR RAE T At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARE®ETT AR®Tr AREFT ARETT ARETR
(Note) (Note)

(PBitzE) (KtzE)

For the year ended & Z2018%F
31 March 2018 3A31BLEE

Executive directors;  H{TES:

Dr. Mo Bt - 1,503 - - 58 1,561
Mr. Zhang Hesheng  RMAE %4 = 1,223 = 933 = 2,156
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHREE - 690 - 1,368 46 2,104
Ms. Mo Yunbi REZ/\E - 605 - - 31 636
Mr. Chu Kin AEREE
Wang Peleus - 993 - 4,292 15 5,300
Independent non- BUFRTES:
executive directors:
Mr. Liu Junmin AHR AL 110 - - 311 - 421
Mr. Zhao Yanyun HBEELRE - - - 3N - 3N
Mr. Sin Ka Man ARG RE 110 - - 311 - 421
220 5,014 - 7,526 150 12,910
Note: The performance related incentive payments and share- Bt 5t : RIRABRE BN TR R AR (5 A B
based payments are determined by reference to the NRD2EEZE 2 HARBREE
individual performance of the directors and approved by WA ME B S8t -

the remuneration committee.



The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during both years.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2018: four) are directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the above disclosures.
The emolument of the remaining one (2018: one)
individual is disclosed as follows:

Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind & 285 R E ¥ H 5

Discretionary bonuses 1B TEAL
Share-based payments
Retirement benefits RRER

VAR A7 IR B R A 3R

EXFARATEETHE I BERREE
BARRRAEEERZ IRk -

EXARBIFAITEEMES AR
BREERARAERTZ R -

WERNEENERRBREMEF
EEAR E M # B 2 2Bk

AEBAUSZSHHA T F T
(2018%F : UL ) BA R Al E = - H Bl
SEREXHE BTN (201845 :
—)ATZEBeHEENT

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

574

976
15

1,565



2018

RMB’000
ARBTTT
Overdue interest on consideration payable 7 8 & (< X (B 738 2 A & 5,335
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEF S 7,313
12,648
No borrowing costs capitalised during both years arose on the RREATEBETERZEERRNRE —
general borrowing pool. BEERESE-
2018
RMB’000
ARBFT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") FRIDEMMSH([EERER]) :
— Current tax —BVEAR I8 27,438
— Qver provision in prior years —BEFEHRERE (592)
Deferred taxation (note 32) RIERIE (MFEE32) (140)
26,706
On 21 March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council M2018F3H21H BAEVEZGRB_-F
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bills 2017 — T FHRB (BFT) (F75R) GRHIER ([1&
(the “Bills”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates BIEZ]) I ARG BRG] - IRFIE RPN
regime. The Bills was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and 201853 H28B R HZELM WHREBAER
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered WHE - REBEFETHRES cEREEE
profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 million of profits of BBIES 25% s X B BE 288 T e
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits BARTRIE - W HR16.5% 2 Tt X 3t B 8 S
above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of 2EE T B MEBMNTRIE A FEFEHM
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates BB EEERE 2 a M B HEER16.5%
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. R BNTIE o
The directors of the Company considered the amount involved RRBIEERE  NEH MR EEEFTS
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime ReFHEEMBRMERME L TEK  RiX
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong MAE S E - BB NGBS 5T ERTR )
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated 216.5%& & °

assessable profit for both years.



No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for both years.

The EIT rates applicable for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries ranged
from 15% to 25% (2018: 15% to 25%).

Following the Catalogue of Encouraged Industries in Western
Region which was promulgated by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC in 2014, certain
subsidiaries which are operating in the Western China were
granted a concessionary tax rate of 15% by the local tax
bureau.

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

HRARERZMEFEIEREFTEL
TR ERRBOG A - BUL I B|IAEAR & B TSR
LA B NS B o

£ B R BRT B A Al HE D ATS R AR
NF15%ZF25% (20184 : 15%E25% ) °

REBRERMAEZEEIEAN20145F
T (PR EE B RER B ) - RF
BRESEENETHBRAREEERHRB
RTHRBERR BERENEEMAERD
15%

AEERXBEAERE N EAMDERAR
2 P51 B BR B A s A SRR AT

2018

RMB’000

ARMET T

Profit before tax B Bt Bl s A 256,617
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% 2B AN FTEF L25%

(2018: 25%) (20184 : 25% ) st & 2 #i18 64,154
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures [Bfh & ECEEE I RIETE (37,086)
Tax effect of share of results of associates BB E AR EE G E (8,537)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax NAJF1FH % H 2 T 75

purpose 12,777
Tax effect of profit which are under tax MIBRRIE a2 R 8

concessions (9,137)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RARTFHERBHABB BB E 5,127
Over provision in prior years BEFEBERE (592)
Tax charge for the year REFEHIAR X 26,706

Note: The tax rate of 25% represents EIT which is applicable to most
of the Group’s operations in the PRC for the year 2019 (2018:
25%).

BT : DEEFTSHIM R25%E AN AL 20194
WA B Z KD 275 (2018%F :25% ) °



No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: nil), nor has any dividend has been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

The calculation of the basic (2018: basic and diluted) earnings
per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

Earnings Z

REZE20199F3 8313 ILFE R &7 ek
EFRXAIE (20184  ££) - BREHRIA
RIMERZ I HEMBEES -

AREERABGEEBRER (20185 : EX
N #E) BT RBIA T BURRT & -

2018
RMB’000
AR®BT T

Profit for the year attributable to the owners 72 RIHEA A FEAE N4 5% A K 3
of the Company and for the purposes of ERTEZIRER (2018F - EA K

basic (2018: basic and diluted) earnings #E) aF
per share
Number of shares B EH

201,456

2018

Weighted average number of ordinary shares A {Est & &M E R ZF| 2 iN4EFH

for the purpose of basic earnings per share TiEREE

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  BE#EE LR 2

7,132,038,632

Award shares (as defined in note 39) BENR (D (T & B MH5E39) 104,284,932

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FA{EstE &k E S B F| 2 N FH

for the purpose of diluted earnings per TiEREE
share calculation

No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year ended
31 March 2019 as there was no potential ordinary shares in
issue.

7,236,323,564

HE2019F3 8318 It FE W& 27| 5 A #
BREAMN AATETAERTHEEL S
f% o



CosT

At 1 April 2017

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)
Additions

Transfer

Disposals/written off

At 31 March 2018

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)
Additions

Transfer
Disposalsfwritten off

At 31 March 2019

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2017
Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/ written off
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

At 31 March 2018

Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals/ written off
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

At 31 March 2019
CARRYING VALUES

At 31 March 2019

At 31 March 2018

A

R2017464A18

i ERBAR (K37)
RE

g%

e /W
R201853A31H
KERBAR (Mi3s)
HEMBAA (K37)
hE

g%

HE /s
201934318

WERAE
R2017%4F1H
LEERE
HERHE /M
HERBAR (K37)
R2018E3A31H
REERE

kR g
EENELT ()

R2019%3A318

REE

R2019€3A31H

R2019%E3A318

Leasehold

Buildings improvements
ik

BT  NXE8

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL  ARETR

166,401 3,869
(70) -
387 M

10,601 =
(365) =
176,954 3,980
3,556 4,015
(930) =
1,193 607
857 =
(1,137) =
180,493 8,602
23,710 3474
5,596 297
81) -

B) -
29222 3,711
6,228 1272
(210) =
(177) =
35,003 5,043
145,430 3,559
147,732 209

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment
G £E
RBAERE
RMB'000
ARETT

15,526
(205)
2,01

(1,110)

16,282

4,058
(463)
2,570

(422)

22,025

7,669
2,241
(542)
(69)

9,299

3,134
(364)
(282)

11,787

10,238

6,983

Plant,
machinery
and pipeline
BE #E&
REE
RMB'000
ARETT

554,056
(1,168)
19,814
60,150
(1,147)

631,705

1,195
(5.897)
44573
81,833

(14,790)

738,619

175375
21,04
(633)
(1)

195,915

26,551
(11,491)
(1,131)

209,844

528,775

435,790

Transportation ~ Construction

vehicles

BH=H
RMB'000
ARBTT

64,412
(551)
15379

(14,203)

65,037
799
(4,060)
7438

(5,05;)

64,159

36,671
6,633
(12,083)
(214)

31,007

7,186
2.272)
2,0m3)

33,848

30,311

34,030

in progress

ERIR
RMB'000
ARETT

62619

(99)
78,011
(70,751)

69,780

93,657
(82,690)

80,747

80,747

69,780

Total

i
RMB'000
ARETT

866,883
(2,093)
115,773

(16,825)

93,738

13,623
(11,350)
150,038

(21,404)

1,094,645

246,899
36,011
(13,339)

(357)

269,214

4437
(14,337)
(3,663)

295,585

799,060

694,524



The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis
at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or
the remaining terms of leases
Over the shorter of 5 years
or the remaining terms of
the leases
Furniture, fixtures 20%
and office equipment
Plant, machinery and pipeline 3.3% — 20%
Transportation vehicles 12.5% — 20%

Leasehold improvements

The buildings are situated in the PRC, and are for own use
under medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged certain property, plant and
equipment with carrying value of RMB90,664,000 (2018:
RMB146,014,000) to secure certain bank borrowings granted
to the Group as disclosed in note 44.

Bz - BERREEE (E2ITERIN)
TIAE R TP FRIFTE

EF 404 =k I #4270 & 4F B
(AEBRH BZE)

THEWEEE 54 5k FEl g & HR
(AEBRH BZE)

B KE R 20%

N
@%*&%&%}E 3.3% - 20%
1% b4 5 8 12.5% — 20%

BFURTE DRETHEOKEER
e

AEBEEEMERAEARK90,664,0007T
(20184 : AR¥146,014,0007T) 25 T4
¥ BEKREAMEAR FAEES TIRTT
BEZER (EERWEL) -

RMB’000
ARBETFTT

FAIR VALUE NRfE
At 1 April 2017 M2017F4 718 13,200
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss NERBRZAREE (1,900)
At 31 March 2018 72018 3A31H 11,300
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) s BE Bt B A &) (Ff7E38) 4,890
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss RIEEERZ AR EE -
At 31 March 2019 R201943H31H 16,190

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC, and
are held under medium-term leases.

PR EMEMRFTE - RRIEHHEOF
B

o



The investment properties are under Level 3 fair value
measurements. At the end of each reporting period, the senior
management works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between senior management and
the directors of the Company at least twice a year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2019 and 2018 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by Asset Appraisal
Limited (“Asset Appraisal”). Asset Appraisal is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

The fair values of Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2019 and 2018 were determined based on direct comparison
method and making references to comparable market
observable transactions of similar properties in the nearby
locations as available in the relevant market. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

BENFEEE =B R AEFE -NERE
R SRERERBYSERIEXMGERM
BUAE NEZYRETESENEERM R
BABE SREEBERARNAEEEFE
PR wmAREERF RER-

WIEETMEZ AR ER  ZEYENRRK
REMAESERERS -

R2019F K2018F3A31H REEMIKREY
E¥ZAREDNRERHELENERBS
BRAR ([HETE]) EHEEEBHETZ
HESH FHETELEBBIEMES
g8 - WEABEEER RN A B2
ZREUMEETHEZ LR -

20194 2018438318 AEB 2 K&
MEZARBERBEEEZEEBAEET AL
ZHEMH AR 2RI R 2 B UY
EZALBRMIGAEBRRZEM - EFAME
R 2 (B sl I A B A b o

AEBMANMKEEST A #H ARRE
TWASEERIZEREZMFEER S A
AARERAGFE XD BEAREMEAIK-



Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2019 and 2018,
are as follows:

Comme

Fair value
rcial properties in the PRC  hierarchy Valuation techniques
RYEzEENE MEEBR  fERE
2018
RMB11,300,000 Level 3 Direct comparison method based on
ARE E=4 market observable transactions of
11,300,0007 similar properties

ERHBERERBNRNT SR
25

The key inputs are:
IEEAHE:
(1) Price per square meter

(1) SEARER

() Level adjustment

() ER#EE

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At 31

amounti
secure t
note 44.

March 2019, the Group’s investment properties
ng to RMB11,300,000 (2018: nil) were pledged to
he Group's certain bank borrowings, as disclosed in

REBERN2019F K2018FE3 A31 B 28 EW
EXBRAAEEBRZEREMT

ANVIN

Significant Relationship of unobservable
unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
TIBERARBEL AL
EATOEZEAHE B
Price per square metre, based on gross floor area  The higher the price per
using market comparables and taking into account  square metre, the higher the
of location and level adjustment in individual floor ~fair value

of the property
STFERERBETSTHRNSETR Lt
RUERZNXENEEL B

=]

G

BYIKBRER DAEH

RMB4,400 to RMB,000
(2018: RMB4,400 to RMBY,000)
AREL 40072 ARE9,0007
(20185 : AR %4,4007 % A EH9,0007)

FAMEBEEBEALELE=H5-

M2019F3A31H AKEZEEMEAR
#11,300,0007T (20184 : &) B T K # {E
ARTAEEETRTEEZER (HER
MfzEa4a) o



The Group's prepaid lease payments
comprise:

Leasehold lands in the PRC under medium
term leases

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current portion
Non-current portion

AEEzRNESBHE:

R BEREFHEE
FREZHELH

A T
BNEAER
JERNEAED

The leasehold lands are released to profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the term of leases.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s prepaid lease payments
amounting to RMB7,797,000 (2018: RMB5,293,000) were
pledged to secure the Group’s certain bank borrowings, as

disclosed in note 44.

2018
RMB’000
ARBTTT

58,986

1,732
57,254

58,986

HET wAEREEZEEHEEF A

B

M2019F3A31H ASEB 2 BFHS L
B ARET7,797,0007C (2018F : AR
5,293,000 ) B THBEAR TASESR T
RITEEZER (BENRWF44) -



RMB’000

ARBETFTT
COST DN
At 1 April 2017 M2017F4 7318 25,671
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HENB AR (KaE37) (2,119)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 201843 A31H K2018F481H 23,552
Additions relating to acquisition of business (note 38) A B 2R E (M 7£38) 13,594
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEMB AT (MiE37) (4,165)
At 31 March 2019 720193 AH31H 32,981
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSS ZERERE
At 1 April 2017 M2017F4A18 11,620
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill HEEmRBAEEE 4,868
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 201853 A31H K2018F481H 16,488
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEM B AT (MiE37) (4,165)
At 31 March 2019 20193 H31H 12,323
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2019 201943 H31H 20,658
At 31 March 2018 201843 H31H 7,064
The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and REBEGF RN BRI 2B BFERHY
in the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or BRE METRBTNYENEDRE:"
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be B A= 1T R -
impaired.
For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying value of AETRENS  LiEE s FEEE SR
the goodwill set out above has been allocated to respective ERREHEEE D IHERERR R RM M ER
group of CGUs which operating in the sales and distribution BEENESHeEEBENHES -

of cylinder gas segment and the FMCG and food ingredients
supply.



Goodwill of each group of CGUs:
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

FMCG and food ingredients supply B ENE S

As at 31 March 2018, there was goodwill of RMB7,064,000
allocated to the CGUs of sales and distribution of cylinder gas
operation. In view of the operating loss in certain subsidiaries
operating in cylinder gas segment during the year ended 31
March 2019, management reviews each CGU's recoverable
amount for comparison with the carrying amount of the
respective CGUs. The aggregate amount carrying amounts
of the CGUs comprise goodwill of RMB7,064,000 (2018:
RMB7,064,000) and property, plant and equipment of
RMB40,780,000 (2018: RMB56,450,000). The recoverable
amount of each CGU has been determined based on the value
in use calculation of each CGU using the following assumptions
for 2019 and 2018:

Period of cash flow projections

Growth rate within 5-year period in the financial
budgets approved by the management

Growth rate beyond 5-year period extrapolated
in the financial budgets approved by
the management

Discount rate

5 years (2018: 5 years)
2% (2018: 2%)

0% (2018: 0%)

14% (2018: 14%)

2018
RMB’000
ARBTTT

SRSELENAL 2 EE:
HIER D BREMT

7,064

7,064

R2018F3A31H  imE A R#7,064,000
TENREERERSHERRI RS E
HEBEN B E2019F3831HILFERLE
BERAREEHNETHB AR CEEREE
ms EEEEMSREEESMZAKE
TR NERBCELSEM ZREEELETY
B RSELBEVZARAEREREAR
#7,064,0007T (20184 : A R #7,064,000
TT) R E - BE KR A R 40,780,000
7t (20184 : A R#56,450,0007T) ° & 18
CELBUZANEBSHEERESESE
BN FREEFEET R2019F &
2018F (A 2 BT

Hen g R
EEEEUMBRED

54 (2018% : 54F)
2% (20184 : 2% )

FHEANZERE

TEBEENBERSFH 0% (2018 : 0% )
MBEE S 23

BB X 14% (20185 : 14% )



This growth rate of 2% is based on the relevant industry
growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the group of CGUs regarding sales and
distribution of cylinder gas to exceed the recoverable amount
for 2019.

At 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of each CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount and accordingly impairment loss of
RMB4,868,000 (2019: nil) was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there is goodwill of
RMB13,594,000 allocated to the FMCG and food ingredients
supply business operation. In view of the operating loss in
certain subsidiaries operating in FMCG and food ingredients
supply business segment during the year ended 31 March
2019, management reviews the recoverable amount for
comparison with the carrying amount of the CGUs. The
carrying amounts of the CGUs comprise goodwill of
RMB13,594,000 and property, plant and equipment of
RMB12,588,000. The recoverable amount of the CGUs has
been determined based on the value in use calculation of the
CGUs using the following assumptions:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years
Growth rate within 5-year period in the 2%
financial budgets approved by the
management

Growth rate beyond 5-year period extrapolated 0%
in the financial budgets approved by the
management

Discount rate 1%

WRERI%IABBITEERBAIAEER
ToBaRBITEZ FERAERE -FH
BEFESZAZS—HEXTERIATEES
AR -ENEESREELEEMZBARRRE
EEEHMSRREZHEET -EEEMRE
ZEBRIZAWNAENEET BT B
EHERERDHEHBERARZRASCELEN
A ZREEBB2019F 2 A k@45 -

MR2018F3A31H SREELXEBEMZE
HEBLEATKE SR BithREE2018
FIABIBLFEHRRBREBEBARE
4,868,0007T (20194 : #) »

HEZ201963A31H BHEARK
13,594,000t E DR ERM L EME 5 %
oA 220193 A3 HIEEERKERM
HENMBESEESBHETHBEBARZE
EEEmMs BEERMAA KL S R
ReELBEUZ RAEETHER -BEEE
B RAEBRERNEAR13,594,0007T
K - BE R EAR®12,588,0007T ©
ARE&EERERGEELBEM 2 FHE
BrfEET FHZBRIOT:

BenE TR 54
EEEERMERE 2%
AFRARAZERE

EEEEHBRSFHRMBE 0%
BB 2 EER

8535 & 1%



This growth rate of 2% is based on the relevant industry
growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the group of CGUs regarding FMCG
and food ingredients supply business to exceed the recoverable
amount. No impairment loss was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Construction

permission
BE#X
RMB’000
AR¥T R
Cost %N
At 31 March 2018 and R2018F3A310 &
31 March 2019 2019F3A31H 187,314
Accumulated amortisation ZEEHRAEER
and impairment loss
At 1 April 2017 R201764R18 187,314
Charge for the year KEFEMR =
At 31 March 2018 201834311 187,314
Charge for the year REFE MR -
At 31 March 2019 M201953H31H 187,314
Carrying values REE
At 31 March 2019 $2019F3H31H -

At 31 March 2018 R2018%3A31H -

BER2%TIARBITEERBASEER
TeBAEBETEL FORMERK -EH
BEAEDNEZS " BIZBRRAAEEERN
K HDNBERReELBN 2 BERRARE
BEEHMmSERCHEEE EEEREZ
EFRRZEMEEAREESTISEHE
AREmMERMHEERB R EEEM
e ZREERBIRESHE RNEE2019
FIANALFES BEERREREE -

Water
drawing
permit
Bk
Fa#E
RMB'000
ARBTR

162,633

162,633

162,633

162,633

Exclusive
rights

of purchase
BX
REBRER
RMB'000
AR#TR

10,000

10,000

10,000

10,000

Exclusive
rights of
operation

of

piped gas
BREE
REEEER
RMB'000
ARBT T

37,061

10,236
1,229

11,465
1,229

12,694

24,367

25,596

Total

At
RMB'000
ARBF5

397,008

370,183
1,229

371,412

1,229

372,641

24,367

25,596



The exclusive rights of purchase was acquired separately,
while the construction permission, water drawing permit and
exclusive rights of operation of piped gas were acquired from
third parties in business combinations. The above intangible
assets have finite useful live. Such intangible assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Construction permission 20 years
Water drawing permit 9 years
Exclusive rights of purchase 20 to 25 years

Exclusive rights of operation of piped gas 30 years

Exclusive rights of operation of piped gas represent the rights
to operate in gas pipeline infrastructure and provision of
piped gas granted by local government in various cities in the
PRC. The directors of the Company conducted an impairment
review on the CGUs for purposes of impairment testing. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based on
value in use calculation. That calculation was determined based
on the financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering a 5-year (2018: 5-year) period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 13.42% (2018: 13.42%). The cash flows for
the financial budgets were using a steady growth rate of 2%
(2018: 2%) for a 5-year period. The cash flows beyond this
5-year period are extrapolated using a zero percent (2018: zero
percent) growth rate. At the end of the reporting period, the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceed its carrying amount
and no impairment loss is considered necessary.

The Group has pledged certain exclusive rights of operation
of piped gas with carrying value of RMB1,889,000 (2018:
RMB1,939,000) to secure certain bank borrowings granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 44.

BREBEENZEBWE - mEZEL W
KAABERBREERREEEMNINE
BapraE=T kB LB EERE
EAERAFY - 2EBHEER NI HRR
EAREEEGH

BER X 204F
BYKEF Al 78 9%
&) ZR R i i A 20&25%F
BREBMRALEET 304

BREBMRALEENIEEFEE THT
BT R FREERREBERRER
REEERRZEF - BETRERR &
NAEECRBCELBUETRESS -
BeELEM 2RO ESENERE
Bt BET - Z T BERBEAEE TR E R #E
ZHBRIBE CRESF (20184 : 54 ) Hif)
K BB BLER R13.42% (20184 : 13.42% )
BT VHRESEZRERERBSFHEZ
BEERR2% (20185 : 2% ) - #RHISFH
MRS REFAT (2018F T )HE -1
RERR BeELEEMNZAIKESEBSB
HEEMELRBEREGEEERALE -

AEEDEMEEE A K%1,889,0007T
(20185 : AR¥1,939,0007T) 2 & THERK
EBMAKEERET A EARTAERSRT
RITEEZER (BENRWE4) -



Cost of unlisted investments

Interest retained in a disposed subsidiary
(note 37)

Bargain purchase gain

Share of post-acquisition profits and other
comprehensive income, net of dividends
received

Amount due to an associate

2018

RMB’000

AREET T

JEEMIRE KA 68,799
—HEHENBRAR 2 REBER

(MI7E37) 2,009

APl 22,330
DR UE & s T R E 2 E WA

(BB W E 2 B B.)
34,781
127,919

JE A5 — R Bt & 1% B SRR

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group had interests in the

following associates:

Form of business

Place of
establishment

Name of company structure and operation
BRIREE

NGRS EREBRER FRiE st
Southwest Panva Gas Co. Ltd. Limited liability PRC

(“Southwest Panva”) company s
BIFERAERAR BREFAR

CERERD)
Yunnan Panva Gas Co. Ltd. Limited liability PRC

("Yunnan Panva”)* company s
EmBINRAERLA R BREFAR

([EfmBEIL])*
Qiannan Zhou Civigas Co. Ltd. Limited liability PRC

("Qiannan Civigas)** company F
BENPRRRERAR AREAEAT

(TBEPR]) **
* Yunnan Panva being subsidiary of Southwest Panva with 56.94%

registered capital was held by Southwest Panva.

**  During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group disposed its
60% equity interest in Qiannan Civigas and Qiannan Civigas
became an associate of the Group (note 37).

720194 F20184F3A31H » REER T
A WNIE oy El

Proportion of nominal value of
registered capital held by the

Group Principal activities
AEEFECEMER
ZEE LG TEER

2018

49.90% sales and distribution of
cylinder gas

HIER D HEEMR

20.12% sales and distribution of
cylinder gas
HERD HERMA

40% sales and distribution of
cylinder gas
BERDHEENA

R EmEIABIAE B AR H
56.94% M MEARARHBE IAMIFSE -

**  HZE2018F3A3NBILEE  AEHEHEYR
R RA60%R AR kB EFRK AR
EEzBE N (KiE37) -



Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs. All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to owners of Southwest
Panva
Non-controlling interests

Revenue

Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year attributable to:
Owners of Southwest Panva
Non-controlling interests

Dividend received from the associate during
the year

MENEE
FRBEE
mEAE
FRBAME

BEFE

BIIEES AREES

FERR M 21
YA

TEI RS 2 A = A &
O TR
BIAEHEAA
FEPR R HE 25

AREZE WHEE R AR S

BERASEEABERBZHBEERBE
FHIT - T BEERBRERINR 2 &5
ERBEEBYBREEANRE - B ZFH
ERARARDEAARNEB 2HEAUHK
HK -

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

180,429
121,105
(45,254)

256,280

194,047
62,233

256,280

1,247,258

53,321
16,126

69,447

13,390



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LB ER B E R ARG SRR
to the carrying amount of the interest in Southwest Panva RBEIAEERS REECHER:
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2018
RMB’000
ARBFTT

Equity attributable to owners of Southwest BT FAEG A A JE(h 25

Panva 194,047
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest 72N B &L FARG 2 49.90% % A #E

in Southwest Panva at 49.90% (including Bmothp (BREASERER

28.41% Group's indirect effective interest ~ H;L28.41% 2 B E )

in Yunnan Panva) 96,828

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in =~ NEEBREIARSEE 2 #m 2

Southwest Panva Group AREAE 96,828
2018

RMB'000

AREFT T

Current assets mEEE 100,094
Non-current assets ERBEE 68,804
Current liabilities mEBAE (24,392)
Net assets BEFE 144,506
Revenue A 433,693

Profit and total comprehensive income for ANFEEHFF K2 MU A 2%
the year 37,449

Dividend received from the associate during 7~ € B U B & A &) % B
the year 2,414



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to Lt E R E KRR S B RS R AR
the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Panva recognised REMBAEIER ZREEZ HER:
in the consolidated financial statements:

31.3.2018
RMB'000
AREBTTT
Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan TEALIEA ABGER
Panva 144,506
Proportion of the Group's direct ownership A&EBERER AL 220.12% B E
interest in Yunnan Panva at 20.12% BiEREDR 2 29,075
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  NEBRER 5T 2 2 BREE
Yunnan Panva 29,075
Information of associate that is not individually material: ERITBERN 2B ERNR2ER:
31.3.2018
RMB'000
ARBFIT
The Group's share of profit and total REBEREARER &M R
comprehensive income for the year ZEWA B 7

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s A& [E A LB & D AR 2
interest in this associate HEREE 2,016



Cost of unlisted investments (Note) FELEMIZREKA (KIFE)
Share of post-acquisition results and other

comprehensive income

Note: The cost of investments includes goodwill amount of
RMB76,846,000 (2018: RMB76,846,000).

Details of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 March 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

Place of

Form of business establishment

2018
RMB’000
ARBTTT

303,929

FhHEEERREREME2EEA

761,970

1,065,899

MizE: WEKABEDESTEARKT6,846,0007T
(20184 : AR #£76,846,0007T) ©

AREEM2019E %2018E3A31A ZAE D
EFHBOT:

Proportion of nominal value
of registered capital held by

Name of company structure and operation the Group Principal activities
AEBRFAEZAMERAZ
AREH ERREKA B R AR FrE it EELH TEEH
2018
BREATZAMRKREBRAR Limited liability PRC 51% Investment holding in subsidiaries
([BL%l) company a8 which are engaged in distribution
(Fujian Province An Ran BREMEAT and supply of gas and installation
Gas Investment Co., Ltd.) of gas distribution facilities
(“Fujian An Ran") RS iR EERRANRERRR
EEFRBLMBRAETREZR
EBBLRRBRR Limited liability PRC 51% Engaged in the distribution and
BRAR ([Z8RE]) company & supply of dimethoxymethane
(Yunnan Jiehua Civigas EREEAT ("DME") and wholesale of cylinder

Clean Energy Co., Ltd.)
("Yunnan Jiehua")

The relevant activities that significantly affect the return of
Fujian An Ran and Yunnan Jiehua require unanimous consent
from the other joint venture partners holding the remaining
49% equity interest in each of Fujian An Ran and Yunnan
Jiehua. In addition, the joint arrangements do not result
in either parties having rights to assets and obligations to
liabilities of Fujian An Ran and Yunnan Jiehua, hence the Group
has accounted for Fujian An Ran and Yunnan lJiehua as joint
ventures.

gas
REDQHERAEL — B — FRE
([—FR ) R BEERR

HEELARERBEZOBEEATE
ZHEERDTEREARELAREER(
BT A% AR R BELEBHZ —
BRE -MIN ARABLHAL T EER(E
—HHRELANEARCZEERAE
NMESEBERBEEE FHAKED KR
BRANEERLINVEREELEAK-



Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs. The joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Current assets mEEE
Non-current assets IERBEE
Current liabilities mEBAE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Net assets BEFE

Equity attributable to owners of Fujian An
Ran Group
Non-controlling interests

BFRAAGSEEACELEZUBENRE
FHIT - T BEERRERINR 2 &5
EREFAYBHREEARR - 2 ELERK
RS AT ARNEBZRE M BREK -

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

1,006,421

2,387,421
(844,320)
(494,235)

2,055,287

BETASERA ARE 2D

FERR M a1

1,889,071
166,216

2,055,287



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HILLEE

/\ ;mA AN I P2 AY ] ¥ .
2T.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 21 NEELEZER »
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint EREGECECHKERNBE (&)
ventures (Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran WEWRELTARENE AR (4T [1EELHE
Group”) (Continued) &) (%&)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the THEERBESHERETIISE:
following:
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents BeMBE&EEEE 227,154 190,098
Property, plant and equipment Y - B R 2,392,006 2,112,676
Prepaid lease payments ENEE 106,159 100,359
Trade receivables B 5 el FE 509,075 576,239

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade B¢ R EBE (TEEEZE S K
and other payables) H A A~ 5008 ) (413,143) (263,954)

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding ~ JEENHi& @ aE (T8
other payables) H A e~ 5008 ) (390,194) (473,135)

B

=
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v
<
©
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HLLEE

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES Q1T MREEBELEZER @

(Continued)

Summarised financial information of material joint

ventures (Continued)

Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran

EASELEZHMBENEE (H)

BRELARENE LT (518 [1BRLAE

Group”) (Continued) &) (#&)
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
Bz gz
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
IHEE IEEFEE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETF T
Revenue WA 1,987,113 1,776,057
Depreciation and amortisation PrEe R 85,718 80,186
Interest income B U A 2,036 1,453
Interest expense ISR B 26,020 30,356
Income tax expense Fri5 & X2 101,713 101,972
Profit and total comprehensive income for %Il & 15 2 78 £ /& i 7
the year attributable to: REEKALE:
Owners of Fujian An Ran Group BEZAELEEER A 228,077 285,912
Non-controlling interests IEVE IR 5 16,546 28,017
244,623 313,929
Group's share of results of the joint venture AREBEESEDEELE 116,319 145,815

192 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2018 - 2019 Annual Report



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information P BB R E RN GEE TSR R
to the carrying amount of the interest in Fujian An Ran Group REETANEE R 2 REE HER:
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Equity attributable to owners of Fujian An
Ran Group

Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest in Fujian An Ran Group at 51%

Goodwill

Others

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
Fujian An Ran Group

2018
RMB’000
ARBFIT
BELAEEER AEL 2R
1,889,071
REBREELZASEEEEL51%

1 75 EE D 963,426
EES 76,846
H 10,740
REERBRELASE 2

Z EREE 1,051,012



2018

RMB'000
AREF T
Current assets mEEE 44,332
Non-current assets IERBEE 43,857
Current liabilities mEBAE (41,741)
Net assets BESFE 46,448
Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan TER RS AEIL 2
Jiehua Group 29,191
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 17,257
46,448
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the T EERBESELE NS E:
following:
31.3.2018
RMB’000
AREFT T
Cash and cash equivalents RehBHeEFHEER 31,829
Property, plant and equipment e 22,050
Trade receivables g 5 W ERIE 2,210
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade BRI BE (TEEE 5
and other payables) R B A FE A~ /I8 (34,252)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HILLEE

;ﬂ A I P4 AY ] M
21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES QIR EEREZERE »
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint EAGELECHBERBE (&)
ventures (Continued)
Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Jiehua EHEEREN B ARG (7 [ ZEFEEE
Group”) (Continued) &) (%&)
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETT

Revenue WA 182,397 101,384
Depreciation and amortisation e R 2,038 1,900
Interest income FEWA 419 248
Interest expense FERZ 679 983
Income tax expense FriSfif X 1,533 3,040

Profit and total comprehensive income for 7K 4 &% Fl| & & [ U A 42 58

the year
Owners of Yunnan Jiehua Group EmBELEBEHEA A 3,776 4,957
Non-controlling interests JEVE AR i 5 2,925 3,777
6,701 8,734
Group's share of results of the joint venture AEBE(GE EDEEE 1,926 2,528
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Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information Ll BERBEE RNERE I IRE PR
to the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Jiehua Group REmMMB L EEER 2 REE SR
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

31.3.2018
RMB’000
ARMET T
Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan ETHBERER ARG ER
Jiehua Group 29,191
Proportion of the Group's ownership REBREMBEEREEE51%
interest in Yunnan Jiehua Group at 51% 1 75 EE D 14,887

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in A& B A EE
Yunnan Jiehua Group ZRmEE 14,887



Balance at the 1 April 2018
Addition relating to acquisition of business (note 38)
Fair value change recognised to OClI

Balance at the end of the year

Unlisted shares in the PRC, at costs

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,

FRERR

Note: These investees are mainly engaged in the sale and distribution

of cylinder gas and gas appliances; banking and FMCG and
food ingredients supply business respectively. These investments
are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term
strategic purposes. The Directors have elected to designate these
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe
that these investments are not held for trading and not expected
to the sold in the foreseeable future.

Note: At 31 March 2018, investments in unlisted equity securities

issued by private entities established in the PRC were measured
at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates was so significant that the Directors were of the
opinion that their fair values could not be measured reliably.
These investees are mainly engaged in the sale and distribution
of cylinder gas and gas appliances and banking business.

BEWE BB LREIA

plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments

REMEEE MRS

p

RAEPBERIE LMD - BRA

p

M2018F4 518 2 564
BEREWEER 2AE (K15E38) 469
BREEME2EKZEH

I

B

DR ERD)

RMB’000
AR FTT

44,864

(3,200)

42,133

FZEWRE T 7RI E BN FHE R D iR
KRR MR E  RITEBRRM R
MESEG -2 EREALFFERS M
FIERBBREN -BEXECEEHERT
BERNZEREEER/BAAER ALM
2HKE RESHMRSZEFRELIF
FEX S AFRFTEABRANARTEH

o
=

2018
RMB’000
ARBTT

14,508

CR2018F3A31H REBKIZFAAE

B2 I LA 2 R E TR A AN
ME S ARSEQREMTHEER
R UBREZRREDAE TR SFEHE
B -RERRETTENEHE LD HiE
FIRR SRR 2s B A RIRTT 7

2018
RMB’000
ARBFIT

21,292



Materials and consumables
Gas appliances
Merchandises

Gas

Trade receivables (net of allowance for
credit loss)
Bills receivables

Total trade and bills receivables

Deposits paid for purchase of natural gas;

cylinder gas; merchandises and
construction materials
Rental and utilities deposits and
prepayments
Other tax recoverable
Other receivables and deposits

Total other receivables and prepayments

As at 1 April 2018, trade and bills receivables from contracts
with customers amounted to RMB56,206,000.

YL K E R
MR R E
G

MR

B 5 REWHA (MR EERBEER)

FiR YRR

B 5 MR WK B

WERAE BERE
maRTIEMER MRS

MEk A AREERES RBNA

H b R Y [0 7 18
H i IR MRS

Ho 8 Wk IR I TR SRR AR R

2018
RMB’000
AR®EF T

15,433
1,512

11,664

28,609

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

55,829
2,211

58,040

35,909

16,566
8,672
34,908

96,055

154,095

MR2018F4 810 BFEFEHNEEZESNE
1% /e W5k 1E & A R #56,206,0007T °



Included in the balance of trade, bills and other receivables and
prepayments are trade receivables with gross carrying amount
of RMB98,116,000 (2018: RMB57,257,000) and allowance
for credit losses of RMB4,590,000 (2018: RMB1,428,000).
The Group has a policy of allowing a credit period ranging
from 0 to 180 days to its customers. Longer credit period is
also allowed on a case by case basis. The following is an aged
analysis of trade and bills receivables presented based on the
invoice date, which approximated the revenue recognition date
for sales of goods and the respective construction contracts
completion dates, as appropriate:

0 to 90 days 0z290H

91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H
Over 180 days 1808 LA £
Trade receivables g 5 W FRIA
0 to 90 days 0290H

Bills receivables ZE WA

As at 31 March 2019, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB5,308,000 which are past due as at the reporting date. Out
of the past due balances, RMB2,921,000 has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default based on the
Group's assessment of historical credit loss experience of the
existing debtors and all available forward-looking information,
including but not limited to the expected economic conditions
in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

B 5 ZiE R E AR U R & B FOE
HEEEEREEASARKIS 116,0007T
(20184 : A R¥#57,257,00070) k12 B &
B A R 14,590,0007T (20184 : A B
#1,428,000T) W E B W KB - K EH
MERAG TEEFFH0E180BMEE
ST EANER AEEAH TFTERENE
Eff - a0 (HEEERKRARRE
BN REM M T4 RSEK B 8 (iE A ) 48
BITENE S RERREWFIEBNRE DT
PUNE

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

47,041
4,392
4,396

55,829

2,211

2,211

20193318  REEMNE 5 Y IE
e iR B R E A RS5,308,0007T 2 &
WEER N E B @ - BE S H A
ghrh o AR #2,921,0007T 2 #1 HI90K 3k LA
F WERBASEHEEEBARLEER
E BB 5Tl & FT A AT A A A RE 1% & R
(BREETRERRFABEMFEREERRETE
HMEEEE) MR ABEDN - ANEBI K
RZEEBBEETENERR -



Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivables for
the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 35(b).

As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group's trade
receivables were debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB4,396,000 which had been past due at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group had not provided for
impairment loss. The Group did not hold any collateral over
these balances but the management expected they were
recoverable with reference to satisfactory settlement records.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade and
other receivables was as follows:

HE2019F3A31H IEFEE 5 EWFIER
BTGB H M E35(0) ©

M2018F3A318 ANEBKE 5 EIKFKIA
BIER@mAE A AREA4,396,0007T 7 FE UK
R RIS REBE HEAEEIL &
WEEBELEE AEBTERZEEH
BEITMAEFER HEEBEHLELZKES A
EMNEE RSB ZEREUARR -

B NEMBURARKRERZEWT -

2018
RMB’000
ARBETFTT
Trade receivables B ZENHE
At beginning of the year ) 1,440
Impairment recognised on receivables FE W FRIE B M RRE 1,794
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B A A (1,794)
Amounts recovered during the year FRNEWE S (12)
At end of the year FR 1,428
Other receivables H At JE
At beginning of the year F4) 35,195
Impairment recognised on receivables FE U TR B R RRUR(E 17,118
Amounts recovered during the year FABE W E R EE (305)
At end of the year FR 52,008

The allowance for doubtful debts was composed entirely of
individually impaired receivables which represented amounts
that had been long overdue and recoverability had been
considered remote.

R BB ER 2 RIE 2 FEUYGRIR - &K
TR 15 C 8 M R B ) e 5B A MR = AT R 1R S
I FRIA -



The Group had no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers.

The Directors determined that such receivables neither past
due nor impaired were of good credit quality with no history of
default.

As at 31 March 2019, included in other receivables, there are
deposits and advance payment to suppliers of RMB70,008,000
(2018: RMB35,909,000) in relation to the purchase of natural
gas; cylinder gas and merchandises, which will be delivered
within one year from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2019, there are amounts due from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries of RMB5,174,000 (2018:
RMB3,318,000) in relation to the sales of natural gas, cylinder
gas and merchandise, which is aged 0 to 90 days.

As at 31 March 2019, included in other receivables, there are
amount due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of
RMB1,500,000 (2018: nil) which is unsecured, non-interesting
bearing and repayable on demand.

Out of the amount due from a joint venture, balance of
RMB 14,000,000 (2018: RMB14,000,000) is unsecured, interest
bearing at the rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable on
demand.

Other than that, the amount due from a joint venture, and
amounts due to an associate and a joint venture are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

AEEYEEAEESETRER BRSO HR
RERGHFREP -

EER5 BARBBIERENEBKFRRE
SEERIFABBAORLHE

20193 A318  EMERGRIARIEE
FRERAR BERGERARZESRTH
FERE 2 A B A R #70,008,0007T (2018
F: AR #35,909,00070)  HIBEH B RE
HERB—FRARfSe

MR2019F3A31H EERBERAR EE
PR N 78 2 FE B B R R FE I AR i 25 2
FRIB A R¥5,174,0007T (20185 : AR
3,318,0007T) ' BR#k AO0E90H °

MR2019F 38318 Efh B 3K IE B E
FEWKBARIEERER ZRNBBARE
1,500,0007T (20184 : &%) AEE I & &
RIEBEREE-

B -—HEEEERERN ARE
14,000,0007T (20184 : A R # 14,000,000
TO)H) R SR BRI IR A RA35%5 B
RBR B REEE -

BRitt 2 9N U —FE & & B EFIRA R B
—HBERRE—HEELEZRERE
HR 2B RARBREE-



Interest rate 2018

Fi = RMB’000
ARBF T
Cash at bank and on hand 0.02% to 0.35%
(2018: 0.02% to 3.50%)
per annum
RIBITRFERS F40.02%%0.35%
(20184F : 0.02% £3.50% ) 409,630
As at 31 March 2019, the bank balances and cash of the Group 201953 A31H  ANEBUARKERFEZ
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB436,074,000 (2018: W7 RIS A ARKAL36,074,0007T
RMB400,313,000). (20184 : AR #400,313,0007T) °
Included in bank balances and cash, the following amounts are RITERRREBPETIUAREUINE
denominated in currencies other than RMB: MITEZRE:
2018
RMB’000
AREFTT
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") B ([EE]) 6,319

United States dollars (“USD") Erx(lEx]) 3,025



Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for BoOREMENKRBERERE ZEERIFE

trade purchases and ongoing costs with the average credit RAZMAZN&E KEERTFHEER
period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The following is an HIR00H « N AR ImEMRIBERERA M
aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice 252 B 5 FRIE 2 IR AT -

date at the end of the reporting period:

2018
RMB'000
ARBTTT
0 to 90 days 0%290H 40,759
91 to 180 days 91H2180H 3,276
Over 180 days 180H KA 4,788
Trade payables B 5N RIE 48,823
Advance received from customers for gas & B MR R IE B A £ UWELZ B
connection contracts 29,905
Piped gas customers deposits PEREBRAT RS 37,524
Piped gas income received in advance TR E B R WA 94,025
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of &1 i /8 A 5] £ I 5 2 A
subsidiaries -
Accrued charges and other payables FE =T & A K L JE < 50 IE 40,386
Total trade and other payables B RHMENFRIELRTE 250,663
Included in the amounts due to non-controlling interests of 7201963 A318 « FERT T B A R I AR 4
subsidiaries, RMB6,305,000 are unsecured, non-interest bearing W2 RIER - AR#6,305,0007T A -
and repayable on demand as at 31 March 2019. The remaining TR B RIREKEE -HRBAENBAR
balance was dividend payable to non-controlling interests of RS 2 IR B

subsidiaries.



Contract assets — current
Construction contracts in gas
pipeline construction

Contract liabilities — current

Sales and distribution of piped gas;

cylinder gas and merchandise
Construction contracts in gas
pipeline construction

AMAE-RD
AREEBROERA D

}—‘\—

BHBE-—RD
HER D HE BIRR
ﬁ%”“i)@%’—:b&ﬁuu
MREBIEZNERELD

* The amounts in this column are after the adjustments from the

application of HKFRS 15.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date on contract work.
The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when

the rights become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets and contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

1 April 2018*
20185418 *
RMB'000
ARBTT

10,669

94,025

29,905
123,930

* RPN SR ERBEEY MR EER
FIFIELBFBRZHT -

BHBEETRENKEWRTEKTIEZA
FERERRENER  FAAZSEHBURNA
SERGHNIREREAHERETERR
ZARRRE - ERNK B EGIEE  GHNE
EEEEREE SRR

FECHRANEERGHWNEESBANA
BN RN T



The Group's revenue from construction contracts is measured
by input method. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction work as part of its credit risk management
policies.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because
the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

The Group would require advance payment before the usage
of the natural gas for certain customers, any shortage against
the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural
gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. These customers
are required to top up the advance payment for future usage
of natural gas to be supplied by the Group. The Group also
requires advance payment before the usage of the natural
gas through the prepaid card for certain household users. The
charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted
directly to the balance of the prepaid card. These customers can
only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid
card. This will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
advance payment.

The Group sell cylinder gas to the customers. Payment received
in advance that are related to the sales of cylinder gas not yet
delivered to customers are deferred and recognised as contract
liabilities Revenue are recognised when cylinder gas are
delivered to customers.

REBHZESHBARBRANEE - RE
RILIEFMKA AEBEERETEFRMHE
Nz AEEERREEBRZ &0 -

AEBERZEANEENERRBEE B
RASEBRHREELET2ERMANEREZ
FEE-

EASEERIHGAEEIZRSR  Ei8E
BHRBERELEGHNAE BEEMBAOR
RZBANBEREER-

AEEKERS TEPERRARAE KA
IR - AN 58 B 92 FR B TR 450 P R PR SR M B
TATENERERKRER R - WEREFH
ERRREANEEHRENRARZME
M-REMETEFPME  AKETREP
FERRARAEBLEFPEBEMN AN
MR- BERERRARNERKEERTE
RGP IR - LEFE P DB RAR
ERMESFNERNRE®R EBELEAHNE
B BEEABEANERNKRABBREMNFR
TR/

ARENEPHERLINT - BRHEHA
R FRP 2 BEM A2 BRFAD BT
ERRAEHBE BEMARNFEPH
R -



The Group also sell merchandise to wholesalers. Payments REENRAEEEER @ BB RN T

received in advance that are related to the sales of B )P an 8 6 AR A B0 TR RS HR R RE T
merchandises not yet delivered to customers are deferred and HRAEANEE WAREMZNTFTEFK
recognised as contract liabilities. Revenue are recognised when TR o

goods are delivered to customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue TRERTAFERRHBWAFEZ D H
recognised in the current year relates to carried forward HEEVNBEEB-

contract liabilities.

Sales and
distribution
of piped gas/  Construction
cylinder gas contracts in
and gas pipeline
merchandise  construction
HERSHEEE
MRRERR MNRREBEER
Ri&m WEREH
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETTT
Revenue recognised that was included in the BEEENNE LB EEH
contract liability balance at the beginning @R AWA
of the year 94,025 17,415
Included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the RETHEHNEESESHRP AR
year, RMB12,490,000 was not recognised as revenue during 12,490,000 TN E, £2019F3 A31H ILFE
the year ended 31 March 2019 mainly due to the delay in the WARBERABWA  TEHNBETIREERN

construction work. E30



2018

RMB’000
ARBETTT
Secured bank borrowings BIRFERITEE 111,000
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRIFRITEE 18,000
129,000
Carrying amount repayable: JEEEAREE
Within one year or on demand —F RN E K 113,000
In the second and fifth year, inclusive MEZRF (BEFEMF) 16,000
Over five years HE38 A F =
129,000
All secured and unsecured bank borrowings are floating rate FrA AR R EIRRRITIE R BB X
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of People’s BE FEENTHEARRITHEMN%
Bank of China plus 0% to 1.36% (2018: 0.44% to 3.45%) per %£1.36% (20184 : 0.44%%3.45% ) °
annum.
Certain assets of the Group are pledged for the secured bank AEBZETEEERBRBRITEEE
borrowings, details of which are set out in note 44. T HFBEH R 5E44 -
2018
RMB’000
ARMET T
Deferred tax assets R IEE &= =
Deferred tax liabilities EERIE B & (8,248)

(8,248)



The following are the major deferred tax assets liabilities THARAFERBAFECEBREE

recognised and movements thereon during the current and BB EEE ABREEE):
prior years:
Fair value
revaluation
Accelerated  Allowance of equity
tax for credit instrument
depreciation loss Others at FVTOCI Total
BARETA
H it 2 [ W
FEER ZERIAZ
MERBFTE B Hitt RAAREEM &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT AR®TT ARBTET ARETT

(Note)
CED)
At 1 April 2017 20175418 (3,946) - (4,442) - (8,388)
Credited to profit or loss R Bz A
(note 12) (FtE12) 140 - - - 140
At 31 March 2018 7201843 HA31H (3,806) - (4,442) - (8,248)
Adjustment (note 2) FHE (MiE2) - 671 - (4,902) (4,231)
At 1 April 2018 (restated) #2018F471H
(&) (3,806) 671 (4,442) (4,902) (12,479)
Credited to OCI REMmZEKETA - - - 398 398
Credited to profit or loss ~ FMEZEEFA
(note 12) (PEE12) 148 3,358 - - 3,506
At 31 March 2019 720193 H31H (3,658) 4,029 (4,442) (4,504) (8,575)
Note: The deferred tax was recognised in prior years in respect of Mfsr: MAEEESMEES TYWE KENLKE
the Group’s gain on disposal of certain property, plant and RIEAHEE 2 W 2 BERBERBAF
equipment and prepaid lease payments. According to the EEBR-BERBECEMSR L K&
respective EIT Law, the Group can defer the EIT on such gain BRI RHFRT R EZKA (I0F)

after considering deductible reconstruction cost, if any. BRZWEBELECEMBH -



At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses of RMB138,081,000 (2018:
RMB135,972,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These
unrecognised tax losses will expire in various dates up to 2023
(2018: 2022).

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
RMB1,274,883,000 (2018: RMB1,134,075,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RBEBR AEBEEHARDARBES
BAR®138,081,000T (20184F : AR #&
135,972,0007T ) 7] A 1E 3K 85 K 2% F1l o A 7R K B
R ZEH WY EREERRECHEE
E-ZEAERTHEEREERTRABHER &
20234 (20184 : 20224 )

BIEFPEHCEMSHRZEZ P HMEB QR A
2008F 1 A1HRBFTREUGAAMERCKRETE
BREMNMB-WAREETENERR R
i A A R #1,274,883,0007T (20184 : A R ¥
1,134,075,0007T ) 2 B = ZRE R 4R G IS ik
FHREE RADAEEER DTG EREE5
BOoONNEERZEEREEHEA R TERAITE
BARRE B -

Number of shares

R4 8 E

Authorised: AR
Ordinary shares of BRME(ES$0.077C
HKDO0.07 each Z & B
Issued and fully paid: EETRAZ:
At the beginning of F1

the year
Issue of Award

BITEBRD

Shares (note (i) (PR 3EG))
Issue of Subscription BITREBRMN
Shares (note (ii)) (B £ Gi) )

Shares repurchased A% 17 B B K% 5T 85
and cancelled (B Eii)
(note (iii))

At the end of the year R FX

2018 2018

HKD'000

BT T

38,000,000,000 2,660,000
6,944,954,136 486,147
208,000,000 14,560
1,888,865,067 132,220
9,041,819,203 632,927



Presented in consolidated financial REREMBBRERES A
statements as:
At the end of the year RER

Notes:

@)

On 30 September 2017, a total of 208,000,000 shares of the
Company were issued and allotted to the entitled grantees
pursuant to the terms of award shares. Details of award shares
were set out in the note 39(b) of the Company annual report for
the year ended 31 March 2018.

On 29 December 2017, the Company and Dr. Mo entered into
the Subscription Agreement whereby Dr. Mo agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company agreed to allot and issue an aggregate of
1,888,865,067 Subscription Shares at the subscription price of
HKDO0.104 per Subscription Share to set off the consideration
payable on a dollar-to-dollar basis. The Subscription Agreement
was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company
at the special general meeting held on 9 March 2018. The
Company issued and allotted the Subscription Shares to Dr. Mo
on 16 March 2018. Details of the Subscription Agreement were
set out in the Company’s circular dated 2 February 2018 and in
the note 30 of the Company annual report for the year ended 31
March 2018 respectively.

B 2

2018
RMB’000
AR®EF T

570,574

201749 H308 & 208,000, oooﬂx
AR B R AR B AR IR SR AR 1D 2 IR RN EE
REREE T A EREEA  ZEARHD #\ﬁ
HRRNAREZE2018F3A31B ILFE 2
A R HFE39(b)

720179128298 A A R B E B+ 5]
VRERE B BRI RERBEAR
NAFREALE REITE $£1,888,865,067
MREBIGD  RIBEASRRBERGBE
01047 IR SHEERKENEMNRE
RBE-RBEHZCEARABILRER
2018F3A9RRITZRAEFRIAE Lt
o R2018F3 8160 AR A AIEE L
Bo 2 REBITREBRG - REBHRZFBD
RBIE N A AR BH A2018F2 A28 2 &
BN AR T E2018F3A31HIEFE 2
FERHFE30R -



Notes: (Continued)

(i)  During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as
follows:

No. of ordinary
shares of
HKDO0.07

7B H0.0770 2
TBREE

Month of repurchase &[El A {5

April 2018 201854 A
May 2018 201845

43,828,000
63,430,000

107,258,000

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
bank borrowings as disclosed in note 31, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital as disclosed in note
33 and reserves and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

MiE: (48)

(i)  BE20195F3A31H ILFE - ANQFIFE B
KA EBRO T

Price per share

BRER
Aggregated
Highest Lowest repurchase cost
& &I YA DS
HKD HKD HKD'000
BT BT BT
0.120 0.104 4,992
0.129 0.119 7,933
12,925

AREEEEEEN  ABRANEERET
RIS ERE R INEBE(CER EER
ZEBTMRRRERRSEH  NEEZ
BRAEEBEFREMER -

B

& B R

AEBZEARBEERRE (BERHE3
BEZRTEE) ReRReFHERE N
RARTHRE ANEG#ED (BEERTRA
TR DRIWBERM ARG EEES
=) e

EEERBEEEBREABBIEARNK
AREERRTERRE - RIFEHEE B
BR AKE®EBIRMNEE  BITHBIA
RETHAGREERRAEH S FE
BEREARE-



The carrying amounts of each of the following categories
of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the

reporting period are set out as follows:

Financial assets
Equity instruments at FVTOCI

AFS investments
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans and receivables (including cash

EWMEE
BRAREFAEMEE
ZHEEETHE

A HERE
REEKAVNREZ CREE
BERREWGE (BERE R
HWeFMEER)

and cash equivalents)

THEE
F2 B 55 AR

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI (2018: AFS investments), trade,
bills and other receivables, amount due from and to
a joint venture, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, amount due to an associate and bank
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (note 28) and bank
borrowings (note 31). It is the Group’s policy to keep its
bank deposits, and bank borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

ATHREREBEERSRABRE
SHRZREESRHINAT

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

14,508

524,987

539,495

212,954

AEBZETEeMTABRERAAE
STAHMEmMWE =T A (2018
FAHLEERE) B ZBERE
MEWRIE  EREEN —EEED
7B -ROTEKREES - BEHREM
JERZRIE - B — A AR RER
BITEERE 2SI AEZFHE
REBAMFAREZE GZ2Eerp T A
TR 2 BB A RORUR 1t & BB 2 R
HIR TN - EEEEERERNLSE
[B B - wER R B R B UM R EUE B 1R
i)

AEEZREREMNERAREZRT
BRI RRITIEK (MiEE28) ARIRTTHE
B (M531) B8 - RBEE QA EF=R
Rk NEE 2 BRASRFERITHE
TIARIRITEELAF BRI KRGS -



As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group's fair value
interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate amount
due from a joint venture (see note 27 for details). The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. Floating-
rate bank balances have not been included in the
sensitivity analysis as the management considers that the
interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near
future and therefore the financial impact to the Group
is not significant. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amounts outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If interest
rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2019 would decrease/increase by RMB732,000 (2018:
RMB484,000).

Currency risk refers to the risk associated with movements
in foreign currency rates which will affect the Group’s
financial results and its cash flow. As at 31 March
2019 and 2018, certain bank balances of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities. The Group does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging the potential foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

720194 K2018F3H31H A& H
Z A EF R R R ZEE E R
SECEZEENESEEMA (15
B2 EE27) o A& EIE R I & A
RERIER - AT BIEEERFEME
B - A0 7% A T8 B H 3R & K F X R B By
ERRIWMAEMMNEITE

AT 2 SR E 5 3T Th iR 45 F B 7| & 5R
TIEERRERR 2 FERER AEE
MET ) FEF RPITHEBIL EHA
BRES>W BAEERERETIPF
EETGRNREES ALEAER
T EWTEKN - RFEFKIRIT
BEME REZES MEBREZNR®R
EHRZAEEABESEREFNR
MREZE-EMRNBEEEBABRE
A = R b B g A% R R h0 R 5 01E &
2 (20184 : SO EZ) kMR EKE
BEHMNEESIEA LB 2711 M
AR,/ FHIE501EE 25 (20184 ¢
SOfE E 2L ) M Fr A H b v & A =4
g KREEE 2019438318 1t
FEZHREBBENERD,IEMARE
732,0007T (20184 = A R #¥484,000
JT) °

B R R TY e BN TE R S B AH R B
HREREE s WHBEEREBRSR
2 2R R2019%F K2018F3 A31
B AEEETRITEHREUREE
B ZINEEE (BNARKE) LASN SN
Bl &G E o AN & B 30 A fm] SN 3
HBUER - A BEEEERINES R 2
R WHEREREEREEHHEKR
2 INEE B B o



The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated bank balances at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

HKD e
usD 3%7u

The Group is mainly exposed to HKD and USD currency
risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2018: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2018: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

A negative number below indicates decrease in post-
tax profit for the year where the functional currency
strengthens 5% (2018: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2018 5%) weakening of functional
currency against the relevant foreign currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss
for the year and the balances below would be positive.

ARMERR NEBEUINESHEZ

ROTEBZEEERT
Assets
BE

2018

RMB'000

ARBTF T

6,319

3,025

AEETZEHEBERITZERE

B o

TRFFAEBEREARE X BHERBIN
EEFHE M B2 E5% (2018%F : 5% ) Z &K
RKE 2 5% (20185 : 5% ) AN ERH =
BEIE A BIREINERBFTERA Z &
R E R R IR R E 1 [ I8 & A 4
EEEH TG - HERELSNMERE
NS E 2 MAFREKIER I
¥ B OR 2 2 H 3R DA R B S e
R 75% (20184 :5% ) & F o

5 & R R T AL & N FE R AN
WETHES5% (20184 : 5% ) FRER 2 F
FE R & m FRL A o 14 T gt & 88 X 48
RSN BZ{ES5% (20184 5% ) » i<
HFEEaERNSEERER ZFEM
AT AR BB IES -



HKD B
usD ETT

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties, is arising from the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and contract assets
(excluding equity instruments at FVTOCI) as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
amount of financial guarantee provided by the Group as
disclosed in note 45.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 (2018: incurred loss model) on
these trade balances based on provision matrix. In this
regard, the directors of the Company of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk is effectively
managed.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers.

2018
RMB’000
ARBETIT

MR2019F38318  AEFHRERBITEML
MERAEEEZZHEEENTSEER
BRESEVBERRARMINEAEE L HBRE
EMEHNEE (BRRARBEFAREMEEEK
HZEFT AN NERERAEEIREN
MEERNIBLE (WF45EE) ©

REAREHFEEERR AREEEE
EZR—HAABRAREINEERE FEE
Ko H A BE 122 45 B - DARECR BRER BRAE 15 I
Bl AR 2 EH - bHN REREEMH
BEEFIRR  AEERBBEREES
BERA (20185 EEABEERN)  RERE
I % B B AERETTRIE G - Bkt
ME ARAEFA/AKENEERARS
BEMERE -

AEBYESAEEETRAR  BRDHR
REBFHIREP -



The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC or banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies and the Group has limited exposure to
any single financial institution.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group performed impairment
assessment on bank balances by reference to the average
loss rate for respective credit rating grades published by
International credit-rating agencies and concluded that
the expected credit loss is insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amount due from a joint venture of RMB14,498,000
(2018: RMB16,338,000). During the year ended 31
March 2019, the Group received interest income of
RMB665,000 (2018: RMB969,000) and recognised as
other income in profit or loss. In view of the timely
interest repayment from the joint venture, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the credit risk in
respect to the loan receivable is not significant. Having
considered the financial position of the joint venture as
well as the economic outlook of the industry in which
the joint venture operates, the directors of the Company
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. The expected credit
losses on amount due from a joint venture is considered
to be insignificant.

RITHEBZEERRER BAYHTF
FREEEEEZRITHRERBRE
EBBMBLETREETR BT
BAEEERTME —SrgEmMA
H¥ 2z EkBR -

R2019F3 8318  REBLKEL2EBRR
EEIREESEEEETRRAME
TR FEHBEERRIRITERETRE
A WARETEREEEER T AR -

AEEEEER —FHEEREREA
R 14,498,000t (20184 : AR ¥
16,338,0007T) ZSH EERK - & =
20195331 IFFE - $EIEWHX
B WA AR #665,0007T (20184 :
AR #969,0007T) @ W E R IE = ER
BHMKA ERAEEDCERFEE
ﬂ@ AAREERBEHBEREK
HEZEERBRITER-KEEEL
ém%Z%%#R&Aﬁﬁ%m“T
%E’JZ«(/H Bl 5 K j%%?!,ﬁéﬁ Q
1) 96 HE 3R MX 1= P B B I oK 78 2 4
ﬂuﬁ%—ﬁAémﬁ KIB R TERE
BEEBHSAMTEE



The Group has taken into account the economic outlook
of the industries in which the debtors operate, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. The expected
credit losses on other receivables are considered to be
insignificant.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit
rating

Low risk

Watch list

Doubtful

Loss

Write-off

Description

The counterparty has
a low risk of default
and does not have any
past-due amounts

Debtor frequently
repays after due dates
but usually settles after
due date

There have been
significant increases in
credit risk since initial
recognition through
information developed
internally or external
resources

There is evidence
indicating the asset is
credit impaired

There is evidence
indicating that the
debtor is in severe
financial difficulty
and the Group has no
realistic prospect of
recovery

Trade
receivables/
contract
assets

Lifetime ECL-
not credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL-
not credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL-
not credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired

Amount is
written off

Other financial
assets/other
items

12-month ECL

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL
- not credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired

Amount is
written off
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The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets and other items, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

2019

Financial assets at
amoritsed cost

R AR A 5 AR Y
EWMEE

Trade and bills
receivables

B 5 R EB WA

Other receivables

Hfth & U 5RIR

Amount due from a
joint venture

Bl —MAaERERA

Bank balances and cash

RITHEHBERE
Other items
Hithig B

Contract assets
BREE

Financial guarantee
contracts (Note (ii))

MIBERELD
(Bt RE (i) )

Notes

B &

26

26

27

30

45

External
credit
rating

IhER
EEFIH

n/a

T3
Aa2 to
Baa3
Aa2 % Baa3

n/a

n/a

TiEH

Internal
credit
rating

A B
BEEFR

(Note (i)
(P 3EG))

Loss
i}
Doubtful

175t
Loss

SR

Low risk

KRB

n/a

i R

et

(Note (i)
CPRFREG) )
Low risk

KRB

T%%%ﬂﬁ$iﬁiﬂﬁ?&ﬁ@

HEMEER
E518

12-month or lifetime ECL

REARNFRPBEMEESR

Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired and
provision matrix)

GFEPBHEEEE (BEEERER
B iEERE)

Lifetime ECL (credit impaired)

GFEPEHEEEE (EERE)

12-month ECL (not credit impaired
and assessed individually)

REAEBREEBE (BEEERER
BET)

Lifetime ECL (credit impaired)

GFEHEHEEEE (EERE)

12-month ECL (assessed individually)

2@ B FEHEEREE (EBFTE)
12-month ECL (assessed individually)

12@AFEHMEREER (EBFE)

Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired and
provision matrix)

FEPEREEEE (BEERENR
B HrBRE)

12-month ECL (assessed individually)

12 A EHREEER (E8FE)

S HEXRAREHREE

Gross
carrying
amount

ARE#E
RMB’000
ARBETIT

97,374

2,443

32,001

28,161

14,498

441,360

13,590

100,000



Notes:

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
credit-impaired which are assessed individually, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items
grouped by past due status for trade receivables and the
status of the relevant projects of the contract assets. When
there are indicators that the relevant contract assets maybe
credit impaired, the relevant amount will be assessed for
expected credit losses individually.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers in relation to its operation because
these customers consist of a large number of customers
with common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the
Group's assessment of historical credit loss experience
of the existing debtors and all available forward looking
information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent
settlements, the Group does not consider that default
occurs for those contractual payments that are more than
90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging
for classes with different credit risk characteristics and
exposures, and the estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.
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(i) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying
amount represents the maximum amount the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group
provided RMB1,348,000 impairment allowance for trade
and bills receivables and contract assets based on the
provision matrix.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade and bills receivables
and contract assets under the simplified approach.

(i) FMBEFREOMS  BKREE
EAKBEREMERAOELER

ZEREEHe

HZE201963A318ILFE  AEEIR
BREEELE D REEERKEX
BB EHRE ARE,348,0007T A
B

TRETREBEBETERES RRIE
RURERANEECHERANTEN
BHEERRZES-



Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL
(not credit Lifetime ECL
Impaired) (credit impaired)*
FEFR FEER
(LEEERE) (EEHE)*
Trade and bills receivables Total
ESREEEWTE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T ARETTT
- 1,428 1,428
1,834 - 1,845
1,834 1,428 3,273
303 1,045 1,348
= (30) (30)
2,137 2,443 4,591

(not credit
Impaired)
FESES
FEF#R
(EYEEEHE)
Contract assets
RNEE
RMB'000
ARETT
At 31 March 2018 under ~ #2018%3A31H
HKAS 39 (REEEGE
AII%39%:) -
Adjustment upon EREERBRE
application of HKFRS 9 FOHE 2 HE 11
At 1 April 2018 (as restated) #2018F481H
(&=5)) 11
Impairment loss ERRZAEER
recognised -
Write off ik =
At 31 March 2019 M201953H31H "
* Full provision was made for respective credit-impaired

trade receivable.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

* ERE B MNEERERNE S E KK
TREH 2R

HBEEMBREBARREENTE
REAEERNERMNSE AKE
SEMEE HRERE EBACHE
Ry DEAWERT -



The following table shows the reconciliation of loss that
has been recognised for 12m ECL on other receivables.

As at 31 March 2018, under 7201843 A31H (iR#E

HKAS39 BB G ERFE395%)
Adjustments upon application & 3 &% 81 15 7R & 5957
of HKFRS9 & 2 FHE

As at 1 April 2018, as restated 201854 A 1H

(ge&E75)
Changes due to financial E 2018547 1H R
instrument recognised as at ST EEE:
1 April 2018:
— Reversal of impairment — O 2 R R E
loss recognised E1a
— Disposal of subsidiaries —HENBAF
— Write off — B 88
New or originated financial AN JE R IG SE IR AY

assets during the current year: £ @& E :
— Impairment —BERRREEIE
losses recognised

At 31 March 2019 M20193H31H

\\\\\

B JE5 18 B H b B R A T R o
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
impaired) impaired) Total
1218 B 8 & FEBES
EEEHRE (L& EEER
FEERE) (EERE) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EF T ARET T ARET T
- 52,008 52,008
1,500 - 1,500
1,500 52,008 53,508
- (468) (468)
- (13,910) (13,910)
- (15,112) (15,112)
5,573 5,643 11,216
7,073 28,161 35,234



In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains the level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flow. The management manages
liquidity risk by monitoring adequate reserves, banking
facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 & B %5 30 R 0 o

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HLLEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

35.€mI A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) REREEEERBE (8)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBE DR (&)
Weighted Within Within
average one year second to Total
effective or fifth years, Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  on demand inclusive  fifth years cash flow amount
F-ZRER
MEEH —£R (BRRER KRR
ERFAZE  FREXR WE) FRFENE RERELEH REE
% RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
At 31 March 2019 72019%3A318
Trade and other BHREMER
payables TE 154,262 - - 154,262 154,262
Amount due to JEfT— R E DA
an associate b - 131 - - 131 131
Amount due to ajoint BN —FIAELER
venture b - 189 - - 189 189
Bank borrowings RITEE 5.06 134,568 27,723 27,071 189,362 172,240
Financing quarantee ~ BEHZBEERAE
contracts issued #)
~ Maximum -RRERER
amount guarantee - 100,000 - - 100,000 -
389,150 27,723 27,071 443,944 326,822

224 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2018 - 2019 Annual Report




Weighted

average
effective
interest rate
mETH
ERAI%
%
At 31 March 2018 12018%3A31H

Trade and other payables &% &AM B -

Amountdue toajoint BN —ERELXFA
venture -
Bank borrowings RITEE 519

Financing guarantee BEHZBELRAY
contracts issued
- Maximum -GRERERE

amount guarantee -

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

Within

one year
or

on demand
-ER
FRERKE
RMB'000
ARETT

83,798

156
118,428

100,000

302,382

Total
Within  undiscounted Carrying
second year cash flow amount
S
E-ER  RERELE kAR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTT
- 83,798 83,798
- 156 156
17,204 135,632 129,000
- 100,000 -
17,204 319,586 212,954

ERFFAREZEREONEE/AE
BEMERZZEFHREBTEDN
BATREBEZZEREBLEATER
KEBFNBERSE - RENBSHR
MEH AEERLSEBERA A
BEBBRBA L AT » 1M - IR
ARFRZEFREERFELHBRD
AEEMEMAl TES MEADNXZHF
FIEEREBEBEFBARZEER
KBS HITHEZIEROAEEEIEK -
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Fair values of the Group's financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

UEREEERAAET B2 HEE
SREEZANE

AEEHDEMEEINEREHR
BRAREFE TRIEHRW@EE I
EeRMEELARBEZER (FRIERMR
ERZEETNERBEARIER)

Significant
Fair value Valuation unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy  technique inputs
EXTAEE
THMEE RTIEB2ZQRE DNAERE HESE 2w ABE
Unquoted equity 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 Level 3 Market Market multiples
investments Assets Assets comparable ranging from 1.4 to
RMB42,133,000 N/A* approach 7.5 and discount for

lack of marketability
of 25% (note)

RBE AR E 20193H31H 201843H31H FE3H 5 8A mHEHEEN F1.42
EE BE 752 BN ZmiE
AR i@ B+ mBESTE25%
42,133,0007T (F=E)

MizE: mMBEEMER QAEBS R2TFA-
FrEls AR ERE RZTFR-

Note: The higher the market multiples, the higher the fair value,
and vice versa. The higher the discount, the lower the fair
value, and vice versa.

RMB'000

ARBFT

Balance at 1April 2018 R2018F4 18 Z 46k 44,864
Addition relating to acquisition of business EHEREEB2ARE (Ki3E38)

(note 38) 469

Fair value change recognised to OCI BREEMEEREN AR EEE (3,200)

Balance at 31 March 2019 20193 A31H Z & &k 42,133

* The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018.
Under the transition method chosen, comparative
information is not restated.

REBMN2018F4 A1 BNHRERESYS
HREEBIFO5 - ARIBFTIRIBRIBIE 5 &
WAREH LB E Ko



Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the management establishes the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The management
reports the findings to the Directors half yearly to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values. The carrying amounts
include any accrued interest receivables and interest
payables. The fair values have been determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most
significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the
credit risk of counterparties.

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the year.

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

DRAEFERKERF
REFEEXRBBEZRAAEBR &A%
EEAEERAIBERTHEE EYL
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At 1 April 2017
Financing cash flows
Dividend declared of non-
controlling interests
of subsidiaries
Settlement through the
allotment of subscription
shares (detail in note 30)
Waiver of overdue interest
Consideration for disposal
of partial interest in
a subsidiary without
losing control
Finance costs recognised

201784718

BERSNE

mBAREERER
BRZRE

el UL
(FERHE0)

AeBHHE

HE-FL BXEEHIEL
HEAAS B IRE

ERABARA

Consideration
receivable
for disposal
of partial
interest in

a subsidiary
without
losing
control
(included

in other
receivables)
HETEEEL
BHRZNE
PGEpE §:3
FEUAE (BiFA
R EYFE)
RMB'000
AREFT

2,000

(3,449)

Consideration
payable

EfRERE
RMB'000
ARETR

155,768

(155,768)
(5,335)

5,335

Dividend
payable
to non-

controlling
interests of
subsidiaries

(included
in other

payables)

EfHE
RAFERER
ZBE(EFA
R EHHE)

RMB'000
ARBTT

(29,610)

29,610

Bank
borrowings

BfiER
RMB'000
ARETT

104,500
17,187

7,313

Others
(note (i)

i
(Rr&()
RMB'000
ARETT

299
(299)

Total

it
RMB'000
ARETT

260,567
(10,722)

29,610

(155,768)
(5,335)

(3,449)
12,648



At 31 March 2018 #2018%F3A31H
Financing cash flows BERERE
Acquisition of subsidiairies 48 B B 22 Al
Dividend declared of non- B2 FI3EE MR E&
controlling interests ERZRE
of subsidiaries
Finance costs recognised & AR E B A
At 31 March 2019 201953 A31H

Consideration
receivable
for disposal
of partial
interest in

a subsidiary
without
losing
control
(included

in other
receivables)
HETRAE
BHEZHE
AABIERZ
ERRE (BHA
Rt EWFE)
RMB'000
AR

(1,449)

(1,449)

Consideration
payable

ENRERE
RMB'000
ARETT

Note: The amount includes amount due to an associate and amount
due to non-controlling interest of subsidiaries (included in trade

and other payables).

Dividend
payable
to non-

controlling
interests of
subsidiaries

(included
in other

payables)

ERHE
DRFERER
ZRE[EHA
KB fi5E)
RMB'000
ARETT

(22,129)

23,029

900

Wi :

Bank Others
borrowings (note (i) Total
2t
BIHEE (Hraz() @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFTL
129,000 - 127,551
(9,090) 6,305 (24,914)
43,000 - 43,000
- - 23,029
9,330 - 9,330
172,240 6,305 177,996

ZE R BIEEN —HEE R B FEREN
ME AR FERERRE (EAES R
H & 5D ©



On 30 May 2018, Yunnan Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Civigas”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which
Yunnan Civigas disposed the 73.30% equity interest of Lufeng
Civigas Co., Ltd., the then 73.30% owned subsidiary of the
Group, at a consideration of RMB1,896,000. Lufeng Civigas is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of cylinder gas.
The completion took place on 30 May 2018, upon which assets
and liabilities in relation to Lufeng Civigas were derecognised.
Gain on disposal of Lufeng Civigas amounted to RMB2,250,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2019.

On 12 July 2018, Beijin Zhongmin Tongjin Gas Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongmin Tongjin”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
entered equity transfer agreement with an independent third
party, pursuant to which Zhongmin Tongjin disposed the then
90% equity interest of Beijing Heng’an Rutai LPG Co., Ltd.
("Heng'an Rutai”), the then 90% owned subsidiary of the
Group, at a consideration of RMB1,208,000. Heng'an Rutai is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of cylinder gas.
The completion took place on 12 July 2018, upon which assets
and liabilities in relation to Heng'an Rutai were derecognised.
Loss on disposal of Heng'an Rutai amounted to RMB1,791,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2019.

M2018%F5H308  AEB 2 2 EMEB AR
EFHFRRRAEBAR ([E@HRE]) LB
VE=ZRE M REEE G B EET
RUREBARK1,896,000 Tt ERLEHE
MREBAA ([FEFR| AEEER
W A73.30% 2B A R]) 273.30% % A #
moERRFENEHER D HERR
ReERER2018F5H30BEE @ It
BUEREBRETFRZEERABE - BE
mERR W ARE2,250,000 R B E
20193 A31HIEFE 2 RE Bm M EME
AR AR K N -

M2018F7A1N2A AEBE v 2EWB A
AERTFRASHMEBRGERAR ([FR
B |)EBBYE = el L REEE R
Bt A RREA S AKREAR1,208,0007T
HELtREZHERRIEIERAR ([ER
gl AEEEREBIO%ZHERR)
Z90% AR BRI R E T BHE
EoHEERE T E R2018F7H12
BEE Bt - BUHBEREBEER RS Z
BERBEBE - HEEXHEEZBEEARE
1,791,000 A& 22019538318 It E
ZEHEABEREMEERARRAER-



On 8 October 2018, Chongging Civigas Lianhua Gas Cylinder
Gas Co., Ltd. (“Chongqging Civigas Lianhua”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group entered equity transfer agreement
with independent third parties, pursuant to which Chongging
Civigas disposed the 100% equity interest of Xi‘an Civigas
LPG Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Civigas LPG"), the then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, at a consideration of RMB4,700,000.
Xi'an Civigas LPG is principally engaged in the sales and
distribution of cylinder gas. The completion took place on 5
November 2018, upon which assets and liabilities in relation
to Xi‘an Civigas LPG were derecognised. Gain on disposal of
Xi'an Civigas LPG amounted to RMB1,108,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019.

On 12 December 2018, Chongqing Civigas Lianhua entered
equity transfer agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which Chongging Civigas CGuizhou Civigas
disposed the 100% equity interest of Deyang Civigas Co.,
Ltd. ("Deyang Civigas"), at a consideration of RMB3,200,000.
Deyang Civigas is principally engaged in the sales and
distribution of cylinder gas. The completion took place on
13 March 2019, upon which assets and liabilities in relation
to Deyang Civigas were derecognised. Gain on disposal of
Deyang Civigas amounted to RMB1,878,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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The aggregate net assets of Lefeng Civigas, Heng'an Rutai and BEPR -EBRHFERAZHERERARE
Xi‘an Civigas LPG and Deyang Civigas at the date of disposal EHPRAEEBHcREEFENT
were as follow:

RMB’000
AREFTT
Net assets disposed of: HEFEE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - HE RRE 7,687
Inventories FE 1,436
Trade receivables E 5 W s IE 1,636
Other receivables H b jE Y 5k 1E 2,047
Bank balances and cash RITHEB AR S 670
Trade and other payables g5 N H A kA (5,632)
Net assets BEFE 7,844
Non-controlling interests FEFE R = (204)
Other reserve released HEM#EEED 81)
Net assets disposed of HEFEE 7,559
Cash consideration HeKRE 11,004
Gain on disposal & s 3,445
Net cash inflow on disposal: HEELECHESRAFRE:
Consideration receivables (Note) FEU AR B FIE (MFE) 300
Cash consideration received BUIEERE 10,704
Bank balances and cash disposed of HERTERRIAS (670)
10,034
Note: Cash consideration of RMB300,000 was not yet received as at Mz : Bi 220193 A318 Wk E AR
31 March 2019. Such amount is subsequently received in April 300,000tz B eRE-Z2EHEER

2019. 20195F4 A 1=l -



On 10 November 2017, Guizhou Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Guizhou
Civigas”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered
equity transfer agreements with independent third parties,
pursuant to which Guizhou Civigas disposed the 60% equity
interest of Qiannan Civigas, the then wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, at an aggregate consideration of RMB3,000,000.
Qiannan Civigas is principally engaged in the sales and
distribution of cylinder gas. The completion took place on 10
November 2017, upon which assets and liabilities in relation to
Qiannan Civigas were derecognised. Qiannan Civigas became
an associate of the Group after completion, holding its 40%
equity interest. Loss on disposal of Qiannan Civigas amounted
to RMB13,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

On 3 January 2018, Hunan Civigas Gas Co., Ltd. (“Hunan
Civigas”) entered two equity transfer agreements with an
independent third party, pursuant to which Hunan Civigas
disposed its entire 60% equity interest in Shangrao City Civigas
Xinlong Energy Co., Ltd. (“Shangrao Civigas”) and Jiangxi
Civigas Xinlong Energy Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Civigas”) respectively,
at an aggregate consideration of RMB1,950,000. Shangrao
Civigas and Jiangxi Civigas are principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of cylinder gas. The completion took place on
3 January 2018, upon which assets and liabilities in relation
to Shangrao Civigas and Jiangxi Civigas were derecognised.
Loss on disposal amounted to RMB335,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2018.

On 20 March 2018, Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Civigas"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third party, pursuant
to which Beijing Civigas disposed its entire 51% equity interest
held in Zhongmou Xiancheng LPG Co., Ltd. (“Zhongmou
Xiancheng”), at a consideration of RMB3,734,000. Zhongmou
Xiancheng is principally engaged in the sales and distribution
of cylinder gas. The completion took place on 20 March 2018,
upon which assets and liabilities in relation to Zhongmou
Xiancheng were derecognised. Loss on disposal of Zhongmou
Xiancheng amounted to RMB2,996,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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The aggregate net assets of Shangrao Civigas, Jiangxi Civigas,
Qiannan Civigas and Zhongmou Xiancheng at the date of

disposal were as follow:

Net assets disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Bank balances and cash

Trade and other payables

Net assets
Non-controlling interests

Net assets disposed of

Cash consideration
Fair value of retained interests

Loss on disposal

Net cash inflow on disposal:
Cash consideration received (Note)
Bank balances and cash disposed of

Note: Cash consideration of RMB3,402,000 was not received as at
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31 March 2018. Such amount is subsequently received in April

2018.

PR OIAFR BEPRETEHRE
RHEEBRM@EEFENT:

RMB’000
ARETT

1,736
2,119

891
193
7,554
7,720
(2,015)

18,198
(4,161)

14,037

8,684
2,009

10,693

3,344

5,282
(7,720)

(2,438)

MisE: #iZ2018F3A31H M AKE AR E
3,402,000t 2 & RE-ZLBREER
201844 A Ug (@] -



On 20 September 2018, Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia Supply
Chain Management Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia") (as
the purchaser), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Chongging Grain Group Co., Ltd. ("Chongging
Grain Group") (as the seller) entered into the equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia agreed
to purchase from the Chongqing Grain Group the 80%
equity interests in Chongging Yubaijia at the consideration of
RMB14,814,000. Chongqging Yubaijia is principally engaged
in supermarket chain operations and other related businesses
in Chongging, the PRC. The acquisition is completed on 1
October 2018, on that date the control in Chongging Yubaijia
was passed to the Group.

Consideration transferred:

Cash e

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

20189208 It R REREEEE
BERAA ([tEHFRER]  ARQR)ZME
E2EWBAR) (EREH)EHEEER
SEERETIRAR([EERRER]) (1F
BERVEERSER-ERFRAER
AERNEEREREEEREEENARI280%
e Atz REAARY14,814,000T ' &=
EAABREERFEEEMNEBmEH
B R O AR - ZWEER2018
FI0AIB=ER EEABRZIEHEER
ZEBRTFAEER-

EEBRRE:

RMB’000
ARETT

14,814

REEEHEKBEERERBABENT

RMB'000

ARBEF T

Property, plant and equipment M BRE R& 11,967
Investment properties wEY 4,890
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BEAREFF ARMEE KR 2 Em T 469
Inventories FE 18,148
Trade and bills receivables B 5 MEEEWEIE 19,477
Other receivables H b jE W 5K 18 9,989
Bank balances and cash SRITEB MRS 2,124
Trade and other payables g5 NE A ES FRIE (20,515)
Contract liabilities BRAE (2,024)
Bank borrowings RITEE (43,000)

1,525



Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB100,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current year.

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amount of
trade and bills receivables and other receivables at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB19,477,000 and RMB9,989,000
respectively. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil.

U BE MR RE A A 58 A R #5100,0007T B 82
BREPMEG YERAEAFERRARY -

FRULEE B HA - & 5 A0 22 55 e W R IE F L b e
WHRIBZARBEUARBELNESES B AA
R #19,477,0007T & A £ #9,989,0007T °
KRB HBEF IgRE Z2ENRERE
ZEREMFTAT -

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WHEE ZEmE:

RMB'000
ARBFIT
Consideration transferred EERERE 14,814

Plus: Non-controlling interest (20% share of net e FEERER ((hERABREAEFEN
assets of Chongging Yubaijia) (note) 20% ) (H¥&E) 305
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B BB HEAEEFELANRE (1,525)
13,594

Note: The non-controlling interest in Chongging Yubaijia recognised
at the date of acquisition was measured by reference to the
respective proportionate shares of recognised amounts of net
assets of Chongqging Yubaijia and amounted to RMB305,000.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Chongging Yubaijia
because the cost of the combination included a control
premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the
combination effectively included amounts in relation to the
benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce of Chongging
Yubaijia. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be
deductible for tax purpose.
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Net cash outflow on acquisition of Chongqging Yubaijia:

WEEEBAARZASMTIFHE:

RMB’000

AREF T

Cash consideration paid BENREENRE 14,814
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired BB WEREMREEEIEER (2,124)
12,690

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
loss of RMB6,795,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Chongging Yubaijia. Revenue for the year ended
31 March 2019 includes RMB87,452,000 generated from
Chongging Yubaijia.

Had the acquisition of Chongqing Yubaijia been completed on
1 April 2018, total group revenue for the year ended 31 March
2019 would have been RMB2,005,995,000 and profit for the
year ended 31 March 2019 would have been RMB203,243,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purpose only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018,
nor is it intended to be projection of future results.

At 18 October 2018, Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia entered into
an equity transfer agreement with independent third parties,
pursuant to which Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia acquired 53.50%
equity interests in Chongging Qiaojiali at the consideration of
RMB5,350,000. Chongging Qiaojiali is principally engaged in
supply chain management in the PRC; wholesale and retail and
other related businesses. The transaction is completed on 18
October 2018, on that date the control in Chongging Qiaojiali
was passed to the Group.
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Consideration transferred:

Cash He

Assets acquired at the date of acquisition are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment M BB R
Inventories FE
Other receivables H 4th e U 5RI8

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB30,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current year.

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amount of
other receivables at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB6,403,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the

contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil.

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

Consideration transferred BERERE

EERRE:

RMB’000
ARETT

5,350

REEEHERBEENT

RMB’000
ARBETIT

1,656
1,941
6,403

10,000

WEEHBAK AN S5 ARKE300,000TERE
BEREPHME LERAFEER SR
4

RUBERH EMERREZ AR BN KA
AH& A ANREG6,403,0007T - AU B B
HEFTeREZEOREREZREMR
WEELEZEE:

RMB’000
AR®ETT

5,350

Plus: Non-controlling interest (46.5% share of net IR ER (HEERRAEEFEN

assets of Chongqing Qiaojiali) 46.5% )

4,650

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B BWERHAEEFEZAR (10,000)



Net cash outflow on acquisition of Chongqging Qiaojiali:

Cash consideration paid
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
loss of RMB2,278,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Chongqging Qiaojiali. Revenue for the year ended
31 March 2019 includes RMB18,321,000 generated from
Chongging Qiaojiali.

Had the acquisition of Chongging Qiaojiali been completed on
1 April 2018, total group revenue for the year ended 31 March
2019 would have been RMB1,955,731,000 and profit for the
year ended 31 March 2019 would have been RMB215,713,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purpose only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018,
nor is it intended to be projection of future results.

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of
its full-time employees (including directors), consultants, agents
and advisors of the Group. Also shares awards were granted
by the Group for remuneration to the Group’s directors or
employees of the Group.

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share
options and award shares are measured at their fair value.
These are indirectly determined by reference to the fair value
of share options and awarded shares granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).
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The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
full-time employees (including directors), consultants,
agents and advisors of the Group. The Share Option
Scheme is valid and effective until 8 September 2026.

As at 31 March 2019, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 694,495,413 (2018: 694,495,413), representing
approximately 7.77% (2018: 7.68%) of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2019. Without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the total
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any point in time, and the aggregate number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual
in any year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time.

No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant
an option to subscribe for the shares of the Company
granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the
"Offer”). The Share Option Scheme may be exercised
at any time for a period of ten years commencing from
the date of acceptance of the Offer, subject to the
conditions imposed by the board of the directors. The
exercise price of the option shares would be at a price
equal to the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the options; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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No share option was granted, exercised or outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

On 27 July 2016, the Board resolved to grant share
awards in respect of 208,000,000 shares (the “Award
Shares”), to the entitled grantees, who are directors and
employees of the Group by way of issue of 208,000,000
new shares approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the special general meeting held on 14 October 2016.
Details of the Award Shares are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 23 September 2016.

The Award Shares shall be vested and allotted and
issued to the grantees on 30 September 2017 (“Vesting
Period”). If a grantee resigns or be terminated his/her
employment during the Vesting Period, no shares will be
allotted and issued to the grantee. The grantee is not
entitled to receive dividend during the vesting period.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, share awards expense
of RMB13,223,000 has been recognised by the Group as
staff costs in profit or loss and the corresponding amount
has been credited to the share-based compensation
reserve. No liabilities were recognised as these were all
equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

On 30 September 2017, a total of 208,000,000 shares
of the Company were issued and allotted to the entitled
grantees pursuant to the terms of the Award Shares.
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The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The relevant PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute defined percentages, ranging from 12% to 25%,
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits in compliance with the applicable regulations of the
PRC.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under the rules and regulations of the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs or capped at HKD1,500
(2018: HKD1,500) per month per employee to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution
is matched by employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions under the respective schemes above.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
RMB17,200,000 (2018: RMB13,859,000) represents
contributions paid or payable to these schemes by the Group
for the year ended 31March 2019. No forfeited contribution is
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years
at 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRNEr & TS RR A F 0 AT EEE N -
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions SEEBABMALTRFRNET L NIRS:

with related parties during the year:

2018
RMB’000
AREF T
Transportation expenses to Yunnan Jiehua [/ &b Bt & A 8,833
Interest income from Yunnan Jiehua EEBREF WA 969
Purchase of cylinder gas from Southwest BEIAMRERERR
Panva 8,282
Sale of cylinder gas to Qiannan Civigas MEEFTRHEEEELR 571
Dividend declared to non-controlling MM B A RFEIERERT IR KR E
interests of subsidiaries 29,610
Purchase of natural gas from Shaanxi BREFEE RARIKR D B R A A
Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (Note 1) FERAR (M) 152,436
Purchase of gas from Xianyang Haihui BRI EEERER A FTERBAR
New Energy Co., Ltd. (Note 2) (HgE2) =
Sale of gas to Xianyang Haihui M EEERER A HERR
New Energy Co., Ltd. (Note 2) (HgE2) =
The above transactions were made on terms mutually agreed LA E22 5 TH4R & 75 10 78 2 T T
between both parties.
Notes: B 5
1. Shaanxi Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. is a connected person of 1. PREEE R AR BRAAFEAE A A A M
the Company by holding 40% equity interests in Xi'an Civigas BARAZTRMRRAERAR ([ARF
Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Civigas"), a subsidiary of the Company. R1)Z40%BAHEm BANRARZH@BEA
o
2. Xianyang Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd. is a connected person of 2. RFZEEFERARARFEALHRE
the Company by holding 49% equity interests in Xi‘an Civigas EHERERAR ([ALEE] - KAREZ
Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Xi’an Haihui"), a subsidiary of the M RaE]) 249%RARER - RARAIKE
Company. EALe
The directors of the Company considered they are the sole RRAREERABERASEE —HNEE
management personnel of the Group, and their remuneration ABE BERFAZHERMIFE10A B EE -
during the year is disclosed in note 10. The remuneration of the EE2FMBEFMEEeREBEANALTZ
directors is determined by the remuneration committee having FRARMIGHBLETE -

regard to the performance of individual and market trends.



The Group leased its investment properties, as set out in note
16 under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from 2 to 3 years at fixed rental. The terms
of the leases generally also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases.

APHEE16RTE AR BRBEEHE LB
B HBEEREYSE KRN REESF
HIR2E3F - MEBRR—RITEBRBLHR
RERE -

RBEHR  ARERBETAIRELLHE
HEAPAANZARZERSMT -

2018

RMB’000

AREFTT

Within one year —FR 505
In the second to fifth years, inclusive RE_ZFRF (BREEEMTE) 1,006
Over five years AFENE 79
1,590

Net property rental income earned during the year was
RMB1,803,000 (2018: RMB960,000) with minimal outgoings.
All of the properties held have committed tenants for the next
3 years (2018: 3 years). No contingent rent was arranged for
the above operating lease arrangements.

RAFERDMZUWERSFRABAR
#1,803,0007T (20184 : A R #960,000
L) HEEL R M BMERRRKIE
(2018F :3F )EAABMB P gt Laiig e
HETHEWELHERARS-



Certain office premises and warehouses of the Group were
leased under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties are negotiated for terms of 1 to 10 years (2018: 1
to 10 years). Rentals are fixed for the relevant lease term. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments

REEHERHE

AEEAMEETHAE

MENRE KENEHEEFHA1E10F
(2018F  1E10%F) - RNAEBEH ERAEA S
W NI EHAR  AEERE TR
HISERE 2 AR KBRS AERHIBFR

for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable wm
operating leases which fall due as follows:

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth years, inclusive RE_ZELF (BEEEMSE)
Over five years AFMNE

Capital and other expenditure contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:

Property, plant and equipment Y - B K& E
Prepaid lease payments B E

ERNERRES
HppA

2018
RMB’000
ARETT

3,170
721
271

4,162

MBEBERBEZERNR

2018
RMB’000
ARBTTT

59,660
2,051

61,711



The Group pledged certain assets to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings of the Group. Carrying amounts of the assets
pledged were as follows:

WE BE RRE
B EE-BREEMR

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets — exclusive rights of

operation of piped gas AR
Investment properties WEYE
Prepaid lease payments EANEe
Trade receivables B 5 FEWGIE

As at 31 August 2015, Beijing Civigas, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, together with the joint venture
partner entered into a guarantee agreement with a bank,
whereby Beijing Civigas and the joint venture partner have
agreed to provide a joint and several corporate guarantee in
favor of the bank for the loan of RMB100,000,000 granted
to Fujian An Ran (as borrower), a joint venture of the Group.
Details of this transaction are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 31 August 2015.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Fujian An Ran has
repaid the whole facility line while such facility line is revolving
in nature and could be drawn in future and up to 31 March
2019, Fujian An Ran has drawn RMB80,000,000 of the facility
line. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
value of the financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition after taking into consideration
the possibility of the default of Fujian An Ran. Accordingly,
no value has been recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

AREBEMRTEFE TEENREFAE
BvaTROIBE BEBEEZREAEN
T

2018
RMB’000
AR®ETT

146,014

1,939
5,293
5,167

158,413

201588318 I FFAR (AARMNE
EMBAR)EREGECERNE—HRT
BEIRFAR  BHIERAREAEECERE
HREZEMRTARTAEBESELERE
ZR (1EAEFRA) AR 100,000,000 E
RIELEBEALERER R D ZFEH
RANG HEA2015F8 8318 2 A e

EHZE2018F30310 BELADEERE
MEHEE MZmEREBERRES  &A
N BB E2019F3A310 BEL
SR IRHLA R #80,00,0007THI A E 58 ©
KAFEERE KEBRELRENZA
BEER  AEEMBERERZARBERY]
RIEREEE I A FIt ReR A T B RE
R ERE R (EE -



On 22 March 2019, Beijing Zhongmin Zhongfeng Information
Technology Company Limited (“Zhongmin Zhongfeng”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
an equity transfer agreement with certain transferors (the
“Transferors”, all of them are independent third parties
of the Group). Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement,
Zhongmin Zhongfeng conditionally agreed to acquire, and the
Transferors conditionally agreed to disposed of, an aggregate
of 73.50% equity interest in bt R KB E EBEFH KD FR
A 7] (Beijing Guangdian Interactive Technology Company
Limited) (“Guangdian Interactive”) at a total consideration
of RMB6,321,000. Guangdian Interactive is a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, the issued shares
of which are quoted on the over-the-counter trading platform
operated by the National Equities Exchange and Quotations
Co., Ltd.* ("NEEQ") (R HIF/NEERNHEERSKBEREE
A A]) (stock code: 871892.NEEQ). Guangdian Interactive is
principally engaged in the area of software development and
information technology consultancy in the PRC. The transaction
was completed on 23 April 2019. The Group is in the process
of estimating the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
of Guangdian Interactive with the assistance of an external
valuer. As such, the financial impacts are not disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.

12019438228 It R RAEE BB
ERAR ([FRAE%]) AAamEES
BB AR MmETEES ([#EH] 1
ABAEBEBYE =) RIEEE RS-
RIEREE E R Z P REBREGRERERK
EmEESBRERELEIL AT BHE
BERHAERAR ([X2hES)|) £73.50% 2
At BRERARE,321,0007T ©
A ANFPREEMKZZERAR]
HEEBTROREEPPDEERNDERZES
BREMTAR ([NEEQ ) EEHBINL 5T
& BB (RERE : 871892.NEEQ) ° H 2,
BB ZE Y E SR E BB
BB 2R H2019F4 238 K °
FESNEEERD Z B T ANE B EETE
EFHHPNEERABBEZARE Btk
P EWRRGRE T EREAEE -



N,

RARME R W BRI IREK B IE

Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of PN
the reporting period includes:

2018
RMB'000
AREF T
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment e ] 16
Deposit for acquisition of property, plant W% WERRE 2 ZE
and equipment -
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZRE 772,866
Amount due from subsidiaries JE UG B B A B) FRIA 57,215
830,097
Current assets mENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E S 19,800
Other receivables and prepayments H b e W SR I8 M TR AN 5RIE 504
Bank balances and cash IRITEHEBREIR S 9,149
29,453
Current liability mEAa R
Other payables H A FE T 50IE 2,391
Net current assets B A EFE 27,062
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTREEE 857,159
Capital and reserves IR R 5
Share capital (note 33) A& A (B 5E33) 570,574
Reserves (Note) bt () 286,585

Bk

Total equity HBrE R 857,159



Note: Mok -

The following table sets out the components of the reserves of the TREINARRIFBHEZ AR D RERAEFE R
Company and the movements thereof during the current and prior BAFE 2 E8-
years.

Deemed Share-based ~ Investments

Share  Contributed ~ contribution Capital compensation revaluation ~Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
URG
RIETE RER REEf

EttaE EHES i EARE 2HEEH W RAER Eh
RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMB00  RMBOOD  RMB0OO  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARBIT  ARRTz  ARETZ  ARETm  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR

At 1 April 2017 R201754718 944,616 104,932 26,628 1721 12,212 ) (865,878) 230,224
Profit for the year TERRT - - - - - - 4,609 4,609
Change in the fair value of AFS investments T HERE 2 DA EEE - - - - - 2 - 2
Redlassification adjustment of cumulative i ETRHER B R UREH

gain upon disposal of AFS investments  AEAREE - = = = - (15) - (19)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2EUALE - - - - - 7 4,609 4616

Fquity-settled share-based payments in -~ ERBIRAEBHNREEENRIA

relation to Award Shares BERA - = = = 13223 = = 13223
Issue of Award Shares (note 33) RORBRG (H333) 13,033 - - - (25,435) - = (12,40)
Subscription of new shares (note 33) REARG (WiE33) 50924 - - - - - - 50,924
At 31 March 2018 201834318 1,008,573 104,932 26,628 7 - - (861,269) 286,585

Loss and total comprehensive expense for  AEEBERZEX HEE
the year - - - - - - (13,297) (13,297)

Shares repurchased and cancelled ERERTERD (4,579) - - - - - - (4,579)

At 31 March 2019 R2019%34318 1,003,995 104,932 26,628 7721 - - (874,566) 268,710



Note: (Continued)

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal
value of the Company's shares issued and the value of net assets
of the underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company may not declare or pay
a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if there
are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or would
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;
(i) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31
March 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Place of Capital
incorporation/ contributed Group
Name of company establishment by the Group effective interest
HRL/
ARAR ATk AREEE AREERER
2018
tReR PRC 15$60,000,000 100%
(Beijing Civigas) HE 60,000,000% 7
mFRARREERAR PRC? RMB300,000,000 100%
(Sichuan Civigas Investment e A& %300,000,0007
(o, ltd)
hERE PRC? RMB152,222,200 100%
(zhongmin Tongji) e ARE15222,007C
REMRMSHRERAA PRC? RMB100,000,000 100%
(Tianjin Civigas Technology e A& %100,000,0007
(o, Ltd)
RITERRARERAT PRC? RMB10,000,000 100%
(Mian Zhu City Han WangNatural Bl AR 100,000,007
Gas Co,, Ltd)
RUHRERERAA PRC? RMB70,000,000 100%

(Mian Zhu Civigas Co, Ltd) e ARE70,000,0007

B eE: (#8)

BEHBEREARFEETRN EEED KEHR
BB AR 2 BEFEZZR - REBEFE1981
FRAVE (KB RAIEATERTARE
EMBHRERSRNREIIEL DK 1B RS
EHAEOARARIKMNE SRR EEDH
EH RRAREEZAEREGSRILIRER
B DETRARBRMEER Q-

2019 K2018%F3A31H AR Rz £ &

MEBARFBNAT:
Held Held
by the Company by the Company
directly indirectly Principal activities
HELIERER HELARERER TERB
218 218
100% - Investment holding

REER

- 100%  Investment holdings
REBR

- 100% ~ Investment holdings
REER

- 100% ~ Investment holding

RERR

- 100%  Provision of piped gas
kEERIR

- 100%  Provision of piped gas
REEBIRR



Name of company

AF%E

RIMERRRZEARREL

(Mian Zhu City Long Teng Gas
Installation Co., Ltd)

HRMEARAA
(Yan Ting Civigas Co., Ltd.)

ENEFERRERAA
(Bei Chuan County Civigas
(o, Ltd)

ERMRIRERAA
(Chongging Civigas Co., Ltd.)

ERMREATENAARLT
(Chongging Civigas Fugiang
Industrial Gas Co, Ltd)

EFNRAGRENARRAT
(Chongging Civigas Xiangyang
Compressed Gas Co., Ltd)

ETERRIRARAR
(Fu Ping Civigas Co., Ltd))

EZRR
("Xi'an Civigas")

EMEEBTRBRERRAD
(Guizhou Province Zhenfeng
County Ping'an Gas Co., Ltd.)

il

il

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HEL/
RIBY

PRCY
e

=
)

PRC*
G

PRC
A
PRC*
A
PRCH

;Fma

PRCF#
8

PRCH
EF @uw‘

PRC?#
;F wu

PRC*
G

Capital
contributed
by the Group

AEHEE

RMB15,000,000
AR%15,000,0007

RMB20,000,000
ABEE20,000,0007
RMB16,762,000
AEEE16,762,0007
RMB44,080,000
B E44,080,0007
RMB2,000,000

ARE2,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007

RVI310,000,000
ARH10,000,0007T

RMB62,080,000
AR 62,080,007

RMB20,000,000
AR#20,000,0007T

Group
effective interest

AEERERR

2018

100%

100%

100%

100%

60%

100%

Held
by the Company
directly

HALRERER

2018

Held
by the Company
indirectly

HALRERER

2018

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

51%

60%

51%

100%

Principal activities

TRRH

Installation of gas fuel
distribution facilties
ERMREERE

Provision of piped gas
fREENS

Provision of piped gas
REEBRA
Provision of piped gas
REEEIRR
Provision of piped gas

RESENR

Provision of piped gas

REEERS
Provision of piped gas
HEEEMR

Provision of piped gas
REEBRA

Provision of piped gas
fREENS



Name of company

AF%E

ExgE:
(Xi‘an Haihuip

HETR

(Hunan Civigas)

ARTRIAERAT
("BReE")

(Xupu Civigas Co., Ltd)
("Xupu Civigas")

2548

("Yunnan Civigas")

BEARAAARAA
(Baise Civigas Co,, Ltd.)

ERRRAARAT:
(Guangdong Civigas Co,, Ltd

REEGHRMSHERRAR
(Ji County Civigas Co., Ltd)

REREMRTRRERRARAT
(Tianjin Binhai New District Civigas
Co, Ltd)

REPREZRFARAT
(Tianjin Heng'an Civigas Co,, Ltd)

RENEERLNMRARAT
(Tianjin Yun Ze De Biotechnology
Ltd)

ALHRERERAT
(Hebei Civigas Co., Ltd.)

ARRRBAERAA
(Henan Civigas Co, Ltd)

EYLES
(Guizhou Civigas)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HhAL/
RI%E

PRC?
A

PRCH
EF uu

PROW
:F @M

PRC?
A

PC
Gl

PRCH
i

PC
Gl

e
A
PRC
Gl
PC
Gl
e
G

PC
Gl

PRC*
G

Capital
contributed
by the Group

KEHEE

RMB5,000,000
ARES,000,0007

RMB26,000,000
A& 26,000,007

RMB10,000,000
(2018: RMB1,000,000)
AEE10,000,0007

(20185
ARH#1,000,0007)

RMB66,260,000
AR 66,260,0007C

RMB10,000,000
AR 10,000,000

RMB12,353,000
ARE12,353,0001

RIB6, 640,000
AR 6,640,000

RVIB16,000,000
AR¥16,000,0007C
RMIB32,500,000
ARH32,500,000T
RMB3,010,000
ARH3,010,0007
RVIB13 925,483

ARH13925,48370

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007

RMB76,000,000
AFRH76,000,0007

Group
effective interest

AEERERR
2018

55%

28.05%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%-

100%

Held Held
by the Company by the Company
directly indirectly
HELFERER HERAREER
2018 2018
- 55%
- 28.05%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

Principal activities

TERH

Provision of piped gas
REEBIR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERDBREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

BERDHERMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERDHERMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERDBREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERDHERMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

BERAREZNA

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
RERDHEEMA

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
RERABEZNA

FMCG and food ingredients supply
RIMEENES

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
RERABEENA

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BRRMR



Name of company

AF%E

RIEDR
(Changshun Civigas)

ERMREE
(Chongging Civigas Lianhua)

ERRIARARERAR
(Chongging Xianlu Gas Co,, Ltd.)

Ehzl
(Heng'an Ruitai)®

BZRRRLR
(Xi'an Civigas LPG)?

B RARREN
ERAR

(Huaihua Civigas Petroleum Gas
Supply Co., Ltd )

EERR
(Deyang Civigas)®

ERREXR
(Chongging Yubaijia)

ERRREEAAR
BEHRERBRALAA
(Chongging Grain Group
Yubaijia Architectural Technology
Development Co,, Ltd. |

EETREE W /\L@BL
EREAR

(Chongging Keweuia Logistics
Distribution Co, Ltd.f

ERETERARAT
(Chongging Huiguan Trading
Co,, Ltd)

EREXA
(Chongging Qiaojiali

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HEL/
RIBY

PRCH
i

PRC
G

PRCH
:F nw

PRCH
;F uw

PRCH
A

PRC
e

PRC
Gl

PRC?*
:F @nn‘

PRC¥
L‘Th nw

PRCF
L‘Th nw

PRCF
:F nw

PRCH
:F @nw‘

Capital
contributed
by the Group

rEHEE

RMB5,000,000
ARES,000,0007

RMB25,700,000
AR 25,700,000

RMB300,000
AEB3000007

RMB34,000,000
ARH34,000,0007

RMB9,000,000
ARE9,000,0007

RMB26,000,000
ARH16,000,0007

RVB9,700,000
AR 9,700,007

RMB55,000,000
AR%55,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR 10,000,000

RMB1,789,390
AR1,7893901

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR 10,000,000

Group
effective interest

AEERERR

2018

60%

100%

90%

100%

100%

100%

Held
by the Company
directly

HALRERER

2018

Held

by the Company
indirectly

HALT

B&NE

2018

60%

100%

51%

90%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

TERH

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
RERDHEEMA

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HERMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HEXMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERDBREMR

FMCG and food ingredients supply
RITEENES

FMCG and food ingredients supply
RNEEAES

FMCG and food ingredients supply
RNEEAES

FMCG and food ingrediints supply
RIEAES

FMCG and food ingredients supply
RITEENES



##

#iH

H#iHH

HiHH#

Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC.
Sino-foreign joint equity enterprise registered in the PRC.

The Group obtained control through investment in non-
wholly-owned subsidiary, Hunan Civigas.

English translated names are for identification only.
Being deregistered during the year.

Being newly incorporated during the year.

Being disposed during the year.

Being acquired during the year.

Being acquired through the acquisition of Chongging Yubaijia
during the year.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the years and at the end of both years.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

# R BEMZIEBE RS-
o RRBEEMTIEELE-

e AREBEBEBRENF2EREHEBRRMN
i REUS G4

M X RTREHRB -

e RAREEBUBBRD

: RS ¥ RE M A AZ ©

° RAFEHE-

e R FZUE

¢ R F R miE B E R B s -
FARBEERNFETHE WBRRBERET
EAEHES-

LtRFmENB AR EEAEE B HEMAK
SR

ARBEERR ERMIZAREZHB
REHAEEZXESEEFEREAY
Z-MREEBHBRARZFE ARARAE
ERREFEERBRTTE-



The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:

Place of

incorporation Proportion of ownership

and principal interests and

place of voting rights held by
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests

ARRLEER FERERNEL
WEAREH ITERNY ERRERARREELA

2018

Hunan Civigas PRC 45%
HEHE hE
Xi'an Civigas PRC 49%
AZHR hE
Xupu Civigas PRC 71.95%
WAHR kT

TRINTEBEAFERBREZAKE
2EBEHBARFE:

Profit and total comprehensive

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

BREERES BUKEANBAA

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

income attributable to Accumulated
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FEREREER
EITLON 3 g FERER
2018 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT
6,329 16,036
8,389 78,978
7,154 25,703
5,983 59,812
28,455 180,529

BEERFERER 2 EAKEK B AR
ZHBERBEEEIIIT o N5 55 E R R
EREEARRREHEN S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REeMBERERME
For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HLLEE
49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY MNEBEEARFEZERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE #%:’f}éﬁﬁlﬁﬂﬁﬁaa
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 1B (@)
|NTERESTS (Continued)
(i) Hunan Civigas (i) #HMEHER
2019 2018
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBT AREF T
Current assets MENEE 65,752 37,267
Non-current assets ERBEE 40,051 34,664
Current liabilities mEaE (31,682) (36,295)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1.172) =
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEER AEIEERE
Company 40,122 19,600
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 32,827 16,036

256 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2018 - 2019 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HILLEE

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY A ERE RIFFEFRERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE FEEREEWE AT
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 &)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Hunan Civigas (Continued) (i) HMEHRE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
Bz HZE
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
IHEE HFE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBFR ARBTT

Revenue WA 160,785 122,158
Expenses X (126,532) (108,093)
Profit for the year ANF [ A 34,253 14,065

Profit and total comprehensive income ZAN/NEIE YWD

attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZE WA A% 18,839 7,736
Profit and total comprehensive income FEVEAR B 25 B 4G 2 08 I &2

attributable to the non-controlling EAEL N L

interests 15,414 6,329

Profit and total comprehensive income for 784 & % Fl| & 2 T Uk A 4258

the year 34,253 14,065
s
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {< F JE#2 P 25 = A% & - 18,000 .
.E
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & ¥ EA 2R R AFHE 21,233 13,057
Net cash inflow from investing activities & & EBEL 2R ERAFHE 8,408 3,082
Net cash outflow from financing activities BIE EBEL 2R & R FHE (4,500) (30,000)
Net cash outflow We L F5E 25,141 (13,861)

FRERERAF
2018 - 2019F 257



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 & B %5 30 R 0 o

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HLLEE

= N7 AY

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY MOBEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE #%:’f}éﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁaﬁ
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 1B (@)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Xi'an Civigas (ii) ARHFERE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Current assets mENEE 97,282 81,942
Non-current assets EMENEE 187,589 163,132
Current liabilities mEaE (111,807) (83,896)

Equity attributable to owners of the RAEER ANELERS
Company 88,263 82,200
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 84,801 78,978

258 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2018 - 2019 Annual Report




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HILLEE

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY A ERE RIFFEFRERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE FEEREEWE AT
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 &)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(ii) Xi'an Civigas (Continued) (i) AZHE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
Bz HZE
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
IHEE HFE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBFR ARBTT

Revenue WA 211,913 182,290
Expenses X (189,754) (165,169)
Profit for the year ANF [ A 22,159 17,121

Profit and total comprehensive income ZAN/NEIE YWD

attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZE WA A% 11,301 8,732
Profit and total comprehensive income FEVEAR B 25 B 4G 2 08 I &2

attributable to the non-controlling EAEL N L

interests 10,858 8,389

Profit and total comprehensive income for 784 & % Fl| & 2 T Uk A 4258

the year 22,159 17,121
ks
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {< F JE#2 P 25 = A% & 4,900 4,900 .
.E
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & ¥ EA 2R R AFHE 45,678 27,703
Net cash outflow to investing activities RERBELEZRSRNLEFHE (31,827) (12,086)
Net cash outflow to financing activities ~ EVEEENELEZIRE R T FE (9,100) (10,000)
Net cash inflow HE8MAFR 4,751 5,617

FRERERAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HLLEE

49.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY NEBEERFERER Z
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE #%:’f}éﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁaﬁ
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 1% =
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iii) Xupu Civigas (iii) BBEFE

2019 2018
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Current assets MBEE 24,304 21,350
Non-current assets EMENEE 16,402 17,170
Current liabilities mEaE (2,354) (2,797)

Equity attributable to owners of the RAEER ANELERS
Company 210,757 10,020
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 27,595 25,703
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
REMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2019 & Z201953A31HILLEE

49 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY A ERE RIFFEFRERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE FEEREEWE AT
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 &)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iii) Xupu Civigas (iii) BoOAHPE
Year ended Year ended
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
Bz HZE
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
IHEE HFE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBFR ARBTT

Revenue PN 52,675 47,626
Expenses X (40,047) (36,849)
Profit for the year ZANCSYERi 12,628 10,777

Profit and total comprehensive income ZAN/NEIE YWD

attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZE WA A% 3,542 3,023
Profit and total comprehensive income FEVEAR R 25 B 4G 2 08 I &2

attributable to the non-controlling 2HEA B

interests 9,086 7,754

Profit and total comprehensive income for 784 & % Fl| & 2 T Uk A 4258

the year 12,628 10,777
ks
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {< F JE#2 P 25 = A% & 13,670 7,195 .
.E
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & ¥ EA 2R R AFHE 12,462 12,387
Net cash inflow from investing activities & ESHELEZIRERAFE 119 65
Net cash outflow to financing activities ~ EVEEENELEZIRE R T FE (10,000) (10,000)
Net cash inflow HE8MAFR 2,581 2,452

FRERERAF
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RESULTS
Revenue

Profit (loss) before tax

Income tax expense

Profit (loss) for the year from
discontinued operation

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

ES |
L/ON

FREEAE N (BR)
S B R X
BERIEEEXR
ZAFEEEN (ER)

AFEREH (ER)

IR 2 AFE i A
(B8) :
ARBHEBA
IR

EERGER
BREMR
AERRE

BEFE
ARBHAANEEES
22l e o

Mg

2018
RMB'000

2017
RMB’000

ARBTT ARETRI

1,200,359

256,617
(26,706)

229,911

201,456
28,455

229,911

2,635,760
(427,685)

2,208,075

2,027,546
180,529

2,208,075

969,524

207,352
(32,284)

53,433

228,501

205,895
22,606

228,501

2,357,158
(531,045)

1,826,113

1,657,176
168,937

1,826,113

2016
RMB’'000
AREFTT
(restated)
(L=5)

951,504

(93,794)
(30,209)

(3,928)

(127,931)

(147,281)
19,350

(127,931)

2,065,786
(461,376)

1,604,410

1,439,422
164,988

1,604,410

2015
RMB’000
ARBFT

968,325

251,238
(27,418)

223,820

204,050
19,770

223,820

2,190,086
(457,326)

1,732,760

1,586,714
146,046

1,732,760



JETE N

ity Gas Pipeline Network

FMCG and Food Ingredients Supply
BRMHENE S

e Sales and Wholesales e Hypermarket, Community Supermarket
and Convenience Store Chain Operations

TERH 515 ERBEMMEMNEEHLE
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